Nassau County Shared Service®

Office of Purchasing
0]

staif Summary A-11-2023

Subject: 1AS Software Licenses & Support Date: March 1, 2023
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Purpose: To authorize and award a purchase order for the annual software licenses, support and
maintenance of the assessment IAS/ADAPT system.

Discussion: The Depariment of Shared Setvices, Office of Purchasing has determined that this is g sole
source procurement. Tyler Technologies, Inc. is proprietary owner/supplier of this software and is e SOl_e
vendor whe manufactures, sells and distibutes exclusively the 1AS Software. This is necessary 10 mc’,‘”@”
the current technology and is @ maintenance agresment for modulss related fo fax billing, coll@CToNs
delinguent tax, appeals management and EDMS Inferface. The period of this agreement runs from
Jainuary 1, 2023 o March 31, 2024,

Impact on Funding: The maximum amount authorized under this purchase order shail be Eight Hugwdred
Seventy-Five Thousand Four Hundred Fifty Dollars {$875,450) from general funds (ITGEN 1420/DE5A X

Recommendation: Depariment of Shared Services, Office of Purchasing recommends awarding ¢
purchase order to Tyler Technologies, Inc. as the sole source provider.
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RULES RESOLUTION -2023

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED
SERVICES TO AWARD AND EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN
THE COUNTY OF NASSAU ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE VARIOUS

NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES AND TYLER TECHNOILOGIES, INC.

WHEREAS, the Commissioner of Shared Services is representing to the
Rules Committee that the firm, Tyler Technologies, Inc., is a sole source provider
and meets all specifications for the product described in the said contract as
determined by the Commissioner of Shared Services; NOW, THEREFORE, be it

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature

authorizes the Commissioner of Shared Services to award and execute the said

Purchase Order with Tyler Technologies, Inc.



COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER — DEPARTMENTAL MEMO

TO: CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A- 1 1"2 023

FROM:  MELISSA GALLUCCI - COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
DATE: MARCH 1, 2023
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION- VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES.

THIS RESOLUTION IS RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
TO AUTHORIZE AN AWARD AND TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER IN THE AMOUNT OF
EIGHT HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS
($875,450.00) ON BEHALF OF THE VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES TO TYLER
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR TAS SOFTWARE LICENSES AND SUPPORT MAINTENANCE
RENEWAL.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED DOCUMENT ATTACHED HERETO IS FORWARDED FOR YOUR
REVIEW AND APPROVAL AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE

FOR INCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA.

MELISSA GALLUCCI
COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES

VB: gb
ENCL: (1) STAFF SUMMARY
(2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
(4) BID SUMMARY
(5) BID PROPOSAL

(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
(7) RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD
(8) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




BRUCE BLAKEMAN
NASSAU COUNTY EXECUTIVE

MELISSA GALLUCCI
COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES

OFFICE OF SHARED SERVICES

March 22, 2023

Subject: Adverse Information - MEMO
Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Staff Summary: A-11-2023

An online search found several news items regarding potential adverse information related io the
vendor’s goods and services. Attached is the vendor's response to the various articles

identified. Upon review Purchasing has determinad that none of the matters raised in the articles are
material with respect fo the proposaed contfract, The issues identified do not relate to services to be
procured through this contract, and all matters have been resclved amicably.

ONE WEST STREET - MINEOLA, NEW YORK 11501-4895
Telephone: 516-571-4200
Fax: 516-571-4263



Lubbock County, TX {Odyssey, 2021) link, link, link

Response: As of Friday, Oct. 29, 2021, the portal is again available to all registered attorneys to access
cases and documents. Some issues were also raised concerning the jail management process. These have
been corrected by Lubbock County as an internal matter.

Judge Parrish stated publicly these are not Tyler software issues. The transition from Lubbock County’s
legacy system to Tyler software required the conversion of data from more than 2.7 million court cases.
in total, more than 15 million documents were transferred. During this transfer process, Lubbock County
temporarily disabled some features such os the attorney portal. This was done to ensure the correct data
was transferred prior to bringing the system fully online. That portal is now online.

Throughout this project, Tyler’s case management software has functioned as designed. Each jurisdiction
we serve is unique in terms of function, software integration, data integrity, and management. Courts in
1,000 counties across 26 states successfully use the same system being implemented in Lubbock County.

Alameda County, CA (Odyssey, 2016) link

Response: Media reports that impugn Tyler and/or Odyssey in Alameda Co. are based on a variety of
misunderstandings and mischaracterizations. For example, Tyler was not responsible for the systems in
Alameduo Co. jails, or the integrations from Odyssey to Alameda Co. justice partners.

in 2016, Alamedua Co. went live with Odyssey in its criminal courts and remains an Odyssey client today.
In 2019, the Alameda County Probation Department was named a Tyler "Excellence Award Winner.”

Marion County, IN (Odyssey, 2014} link, link

Response: In 2019, a news article inaccurately linked Tyler Technologies to o lawsuit involving Marion
County, the city of Indianapolis and a third-party jail system or Offender Management System vendor.

Public case records clearly explain that this lawsuit is related to problems with the county sheriff's OMS
solution, which is not o Tyler product. Tyler is not, nor has it ever been, named in this lawsuit.

Shelby County, TN (Odyssey, 2017). link, link

Response: Odyssey case management solution is one of several software products used in Shelby
County’s Integrated Criminal Justice Information System (iCHIS). Several lawsuits were filed in Shelby
County involving the iCJIS and have been consolidated into a single lawsuit before a single judge. The
plaintiffs and all defendants (inciuding Shelby County and each vendor providing a software component
of the iClIS) agreed to a settlement of the lawsuit, with no admission of fault or liability from Tyler.

Tyler's decision to join with those other defendants in fully and completely settling the case was the
most cost-efficient way of ending the litigation. In December 2021, the settlement was approved, and
the case was dismissed and cannot be refiled (with prejudice).

Wichita Falls, TX {Odyssey, 2020-2021) link

The county judge is a strong advocate for Tyler and Odyssey, and a vocal supporter of the county’s
successful Odyssey implementation.



COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York State
Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b}, beginning April 1, 2018, the
period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this disclosure, to the campaign
committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign committees of any candidates for any of
the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Exacutive, the County Clerk, the Comptrolier, the District Attorney, or any

County Legislator?

YES [ ] NO [¥] If yes, 1o what campaign comimitice?.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Rob Kennedy-Jensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 02/27/2023 11:13:47 am Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Group General Counsel
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All gquestions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent (10%) or
greaier ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to answer any
guestion, make as many photecopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the guestionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPIETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN
THAT YOUR BID QR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIRERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Sherry Clark
Date of birth: 01/18/198G
Home address: 4908 Dunland Dr.
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Plano Territory: TX Code: 75083
Country: us
Business Address: 5101 Tennyson Plwy
' State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Plano Territory: TX Code: 75024
Country us
Telephone: {972) 713-3770
Other present address(es):
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Territory: Code: _
Country:
Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting businass and starting date of each (check alt applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of buard _ Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Parther
Vice President
(Other)
Type Other

Description Group General Counsel
Start Date  01/01/2016

3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [X] NO [ ] If Yes, provide details.

Page1of5 Rev. 3-2016



| Sherry Clark owns less than 10% interest in Tyier Technologies, inc.

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of contribution
made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the guestionnaire?
YES [ 1NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization other
than the one submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ ] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past 3 years
while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES [ ] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a result of
any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you need more space,
photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past {5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5 in which
you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts cancelled for
cause?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not limited to,
failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ ] NQ [X] If ves, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action pending
that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business’s ability to bid or propose on contract?
YES [ ] NO [X] 1f yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and carrective action taken.

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or been the
subject of involuntary bankruptey proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year period,
been in a state of bankruptey as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7 years ago and/or is any such
business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever initiated?

YES [ ] NO [X] If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to all questions check "Yes". If
you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the questionnaire.)
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10

11

12

13

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

b. [s there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?

YES [ ] NQ [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any gther ¢rime, an
element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the canduct of business?
& YES[]NO[X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
e In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?

YES [ NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related to activities performed
at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed in response to Question 57

YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response to
Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory agencies while
you were a principal owner or officer?

YES [ ] NOQ [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any cther affiliated business listed in response to Question 5 had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license heid?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable faderal, state or
local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
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YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and cerrective action taken,
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! | Sherry Clark | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfuily or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-respansible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, | Sherry Clark | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief: that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity. ‘

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERIMG THE SUBMITTING BUSIMNESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSCON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Sherry Clark SHERRY.CLARK@TYLERTECH.COM

Group General Counsel

Title

10/27/2022 12:22:50 pm

Date
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any Individuals who hold a ten percent (10%) or
greater ownarship interest in the proposer. Answers typewritien or printed in ink. If you need more space to answer any
guestion, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page{s) as necessary and attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THiS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY, FAILURE TC SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN

THAT YOUR BID QR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND [T WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Mark Hawkins
Date of birth: 07/23/1975
Home address: 2125 Stags Leap
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Celina Territary: TX Code: 75009
Country: Us
- Busiress Address: . 5101 Termyson Parkway - o
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Plang Territory: TX Code: 75024
Country us
Telephone: {972) 713-3770
Other present address(es):
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: ____ Territory: Code:
Country:
Telephone:
List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached
2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Cliirmman o Luerd .. shareholder L
Chief Exec. Officer ' Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President
{Other}
Type Other
Description  President Property & Recording Division
Start Date 02/18/2019
AN A
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [X] NO [ ] if Yes, provide details.
Page 1of 5 Rev. 3-2016



Mark Hawkins owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.47% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by insiders. Please
see attached document.

i File(s) uploaded: Helder Information 2022.JPG

4. Are there any cutstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of contribution
made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ 1 NO [X] if Yes, provide details.

5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization other
than the one submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ ] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

|

6. a5 any governmental entity awarded any cortracts tos pusiness or organization listed in Section 5 in the past 3 years
while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If Yas, provide detalls.

| |

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a result of
any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you need more space,
photacopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit arganizations listed in Section 5 in which
you have been a principal owner or cfficer:
a, Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explznation of the circurnstances and corrective action taken.

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts cancelled for
cause?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken. :
c. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to hid on a contract, including, but not limited to,

failure to meet pre-gualificaticn standards?
YES [} NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering inte any contract with it; and/oris any action pending
that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business’s ability to bid or propose on contract?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

8. Mave any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or been the
subject of involuntary bankruptey proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year period,
been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7 years ago and/or is any such
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business now the subject of any pending bankrupicy proceedings, whenever initiated?
YES [ NO [X] If 'Yes', pravide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to all questions check "Yes®, if
you heed mare space, photocopy the appropriate page and atiached it to the questionnaire.)

a. |5 there any felony charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
_ YEST]NO [X] !f yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime, an
element of which relates ta truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of businass?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

|

e. \n the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of 2 misdemeanor?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any adminstrative or statutory charges?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

10 In addition to the information provided in response to the previous guestions, in the past 5 years, have you been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
nvestigative agency and/or the subject i an mvestigation where such ivestigation was related to activities performed
at, for, or on behalf of tha submitting business entity and/or an affiliated husiness listed in response to Question 57
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and cerrective action taken.

11 In addition to the information pravided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response to
Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory agencies while
you were a principal owner or officer?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

12 Inthe past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5 had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license held?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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13 For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal, state or
local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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[, | Mark Hawkins i , hereby acknowledgs that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

[, | Mark Hawkins , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

iterns containad in this form; that [ supplied full and compiete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additicnal inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTICNNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT &ID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies

Name of submitting husiness

Electronically sighed and certified at the date and time indicated hy:
Mark Hawlkins MARK.HAWKINS@TYLERTECH.COM

President, Property & Recording Division

Title

02/28/2023 12:41:10 pmi

Date
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Business History Form

The contract shall he awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into consideration the
reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the County, offers the best value
to the County and who will best promote the public interest,

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The gquestionnaire shall
be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm, corporation or partnership
submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is “none” or “not-applicable.” No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date: 02/07/2023

s Rraposer’s Legs! Name: _Tyler Technologies, Inc.

2} Address of Place of Business: 5101 Tennyson Parkway

State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Plano Territory: X Code: 75024
Country:  US
3) Mailing Address (if different}:
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Territory: Code: L
Country:
Phone:
| Doas the busingss own or rant its facilities? 0 if ther, please provide dewdus:
4) Dun and Bradstreet number: 041089293
5) Federal 1.D. Number: 752303920
6) The proposer is a: Corporation (Describe)
7) Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
| YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, please provide details:
8) Does this business control one or more other businesses?
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YES [X] NO [ ] If yes, please provide details:

Tyler Technologies, Inc. has the following whelly owned subsidiaries:
. Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
. Tyler Technelogies Australia PTY LTD
. Tyler Federal, LLC
. Socrata UK Limited
. Harris Customer Programming, LLC
J Cavu Corporation
. MicroPact Philippines, Inc.
. NIC Inc.
. VendEngine, Inc.
9) Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?

YES [ ] NC [X] If yes, please provide details:

10 ﬁ'Has ine proposer ever had a ond orsurety canceled or forfeited, or a contrast with Nassau County or.any other
government entity terminated?
YES [X] NO [ ] If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond and reason for such
cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract).

| See attached file of terminations.

1 File(s) uploaded: Nassau County, NY Terminations for Disclasure Form 2023.docx

11) Has the proposer, during the past seven years, heen declared bankrupt?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liahilities and amount of assets

12)  Inthe past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/er officers and/or any affiliated business, been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency? And/or, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated business been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of an affiliated
husiness.

YES [ ] NG (X] It yes, provide details Tor each such investigation, an explanatian of the circumstances and corrective aciion
taken.

13} Inthe past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business been the
subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory
agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business been the subject of an
investigation by any governmeni agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory agencies, for
matters pertaining to that individual’s position at or relationship to an affiliated business.

YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

i4)  Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before or during
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such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that allegedly occurred during
the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?

YES [ ] NC [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

b) Any misdemeanor charge pending?

YES [ ] NO [X! If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

c) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other crime, an element of
which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

1

Lodly

d} In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?

YES [ | NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

|

e} In the past 5 years, been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yas, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and cerrective action
taken.

|

15) In the past {5} years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any sanction
imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professicnal license held?
YES [ 1 NO [X! If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,

L ek

1) for the past {5) tax years, has 4his business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable fedaral,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all

guestions checked ‘YES'. If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

-

17 Conflict of interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interast as outlined below. NOTE: If he conflicts exist, please exprassly state “No
conflict exists.”
{i} Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm empioyee has that may create a conflict of
interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on hehalf of Nassau County.

\ Mo conflict exists.

(i) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may create a
conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.
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! No conflict exists.

(iii) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of
interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

b) Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of interest
would not exist for your firm in the future.

‘ Please see attached Tyler Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

1 File{s) uploaded: Tyler Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 2023.pdf

A Include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer’s prefessional qualifications, demenstrating extensive
experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be identified.

H%‘if&-ycid previousty upicaded the below information under in the Document Yault? .
YES [X] NO []

Is the proposar an individual?
YES [ ] NO [X] Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i) Date of formation;

| 03/14/1990

ii) Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including shareholders,
members, general or limited partner. If none, explain.

mst of holders of Tyler stock available here: https://finance.yahoo.com/quote/TYL/holders?p=TYL

il Name, address and position af all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.

rSee attached list of Board of Directors and Corporate Officers.

b Filels) uploaded: Board of Directors and Corporate Officers February 2023.docx

iv) State of incorporation (if applicable);

| DE

V) The number of employees in the firm;

| 7227

vi} Annual revenue of firm;

| 1850204000

vii)  Summary of relevant accomplishments

| hitps://investors.tylertech.com/financials/annual-reports-and-proxy-statements/default.aspx

]
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1 File(s) uploaded: Tyler Technologies Accomplishments 2023.dacx

viii}  Copies of all state and loca! licenses and permits.

1. File(s) uptoaded: State of New York Business Filing 2023.pdf

B. Indicate number of years in business.
[ 33
C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer’s capacity and

reliability to perform these services.

l https://investors.tylertech.com/financials/annual-reports-and-proxy-statements/default.aspx

1 File(s) uploaded: Tyler Annual Report 2021.pdf

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar services or

who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer’s capability to perform this work.

Company Wayne County, NY

Contact Person Michzal Jankowski, County Clerk

Address 9 Pearl St, PO Box 608

City Lyons State/Province/Territory NY
Country us

Telephone (315) 946-7470

Fax #

E-Mail Address mjankowski@co.wayne.ny.us

Company City of Philadelphia

Contact Person James Leonard, Commissioner

Address 1400 lohn F. Kennedy Blvd

City Philadelphia State/Province/Territory PA
£ty s

relephone {215} 686-2261

Fax #

E-Mail Address jarnes.leonard @phila.gov

Company Lackawanna County

Contact Person Evie Rafalko McNulty, Recorder of Deeds

Address 123 Wyoming Avenue, Suite 218

City Scranton State/Province/Territory PA
Country us

Telephone (570) 963-6775

Fax #

E-Mail Address

Page 5 of 7
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l, | Robert Kennedy-Jensen | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

l, | Robert Kennedy-Jensen , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

itemns contained in this form; that | supplied full and complate answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that [ will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, INGADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Name of submitting business: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Rob Kennedy-Jensen ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.CCM

Group General Counsel

Title

02/27/2023

Date
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On average, Tyler Technologies adds eleven (11) new clients each week and has a ninety-eight percent
{98%] client retention rate.

Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division has in the past five (5) years had one (1) Appraisal & Tax
Division software client opt to terminate its relationship with Tyler Technologies for reasons other than
non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party

admitting liability. That client, St. Lucie County Clerk of Circuit Court, FL, terminated its agreement with
Tyler in 2021.

In the past five (5) years, five (5) New World Public Safety clients have opted to terminate their
relationship with Tyler for reasons other than non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was

mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party admitting liability. Those clients, and the year in which
the termination tock effect, are:

o 2016

o Great Falls, MT {remains an EnerGov & NWERP Customer)
o O'Fallon, IL (remains a Tyler Customer on other software)

o Clayton County, GA (remains a Brazos, e-Filing, Munis and A&T Client)
¢ Anthony, NM {remains an LGD Customer)

o Sacramento Regional Public Safety Communications Center, CA



Stanton, Kimberly

L A - __]
From: Kennedy-Jensen, Rob <Rob.Kennedy-Jensen@tylertech.com>
Sent: Friday, March 3, 2023 3:57 PM
To: Stanton, Kimberly; Stegemann, Tracey; Stanton, Nancy; Sears, Karrie
Cc: Barnett, Susan; Frishy, Kim
Subject: RE: Disclosure Forms - Tyler Technologies
Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

Thank you for your note, Kimberly. Unfortunately, the terms of any termination agrement we have are confidential.
can confirm that none of those terminations include an acknowledgement of fault by either party.

Rob Kennedy-Jensen
Group General Counsel

P: 800.772.2260 exi: 4588
www tylertech.com

From: Stanton, Kimberly <kstanton@nassaucountyny.gov>

Sent: Friday, March 3, 2023 3:45 PM

To: Stegemann, Tracey <tracey.stegemann@tylertech.com>; Stanton, Nancy <nstanton@nassaucountyny.gov>; Sears,
Karrie <Karrie Sears@tylertech.com>; Kennedy-Jensen, Rob <Rob.Kennedy-Jlensen@tylertech.com>

Cc: Barnett, Susan <SBarnettl@nassaucountyny.gov>; Frishy, Kim <Kim.Frisby@tylertech.com>

Subject: RE: Disclosure Forms - Tyler Technologies

Good Afternoon

Based on e terminafions listed on the attachment, please explain why these confracis ierminated?

Thank you.

Regards,

Shinte ly Danten

Nassau County Office of Purchasing

1 West Street

Minecla, NY 11501

Phone: 516-571-6679

Fax: 516-571-4263

Emait kstanton@nassquceuntyny.gdoy

kang 1sland, Mew York,

s Please consider the environment before printing this smai

1



Tyler Technologies' Property & Recording Division (formerly known as the Appraisal & Tax Division)
provides systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal
property and the recording of land and vital records. These activities include record keeping, mass
appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll generation, tax statement processing and
electronic state-level reporting. These systems are image and video-enabled to facilitate the storage of
and access to the many property-related and vital record documents and for the online storage of digital
photographs of properties for use in defending values in protest situations. Other related tax
applications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, including cities, counties, school tax
offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These systems support billing, collections, Tock box
operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various reporting requirements.

Tyler Technologies' Public Safety Division provides public safety software that is a fully unified and
comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/computer aided dispatch
(“CAD"), records management, mobile computing, corrections management, Web-based information
sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and
providing full functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient
dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s database.

Please also see attached 2021 Annual Report.



Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
of
Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tyler”) expects all officers, directors, and employees to exercise the
highest degree of professional business ethics in all actions they undertake on behalf of Tyler.
Accordingly, Tyler expects its officers, directors, and employees to act at all times in accordance
with the policies outlined herein. These policies apply to all officers, directors, and employees,
including, without limitation, Tyler’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer, and all persons performing similar functions.

Any employee who has questions regarding these policies should contact their human
resources representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer. An employee should
immediately report any violations of these policies to Tyler’s chief human resources officer. The
policies in this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be strictly enforced. Tyler will take
appropriate disciplinary action with respect to those involved in any violations of these policies,
including, where appropriate, dismissal. Tyler will not retaliate against an employee for
reporting violations. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is not intended to affect the
status of any employee or to enhance or diminish any employee’s contract rights or rights
under otherwise applicable law.

Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns

If any employee has any concerns about any accounting, auditing, internal accounting controls,
or related matter, they are encouraged to bring the matter to the attention of Tyler's audit
committee chairperson. The audit committee is composed of three (3) or more independent
members of Tyler’s board of directors and assists the board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibility to Tyler's stockholders, potential stockholders, the investment community, and
others relating to Tyler's financial statements, financial reporting, and processes. The audit
committee chairperson can be contacted in any of the following ways:

1, By phone at (866) 376-4128
2. By Internet at http://www.openboard.info/tyl

3. By mail at
Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Board of Directors, Audit Committee Chairperson
5101 Tennyson Parkway
Plano, TX 75024

Reports regarding accounting, auditing, or related matters will be kept strictly confidential. In
addition, the employee or other person raising the issue is under no obligation to reveal their
identity in connection with the reporting process. Please reference Tyler's Whistleblower
Policy for additional information, including how to maintain anonymity in reporting.

Tyler Technologies October 30, 2020 1



Introduction and Purpose
This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and promote the
following:

e Honest and ethical conduct, including ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of
interest between personal and professional relationships;

* Avoidance of conflicts of interest, including disclosure to the appropriate person
identified herein of any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could be
expected 1o give rise to such a conflict;

e Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that
Tyler files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Commission and in other
public communications by Tyler;

¢ Compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations;

* Prompt internal reporting to the appropriate person identified herein of any violations
of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

» Accountability for adherence to the policies contained in this Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics.

General Principles for Business Conduct

o Tyler and its employee shali comply with all applicable legal reguirements of any
federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business.

¢ The use of any Tyler assets for any unlawful or improper purpose is strictly
prohibited.

e No undisclosed fund or asset shall be established or maintained for any purpose.

No false or misleading entries shall be made for any reason in Tyler’s books, records, or other
financial documents, or in any materials prepared for or submitted to Tyler's accountants or
independent auditors, and no employee shall engage in any arrangement that results in such
prohibited act. In addition, all employees dealing with or providing information or
documentation to Tyler’s accountants or independent auditors must provide complete and
accurate information, and must immediately report any request, suggestion, or threat that they
do otherwise to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under
“Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Just as Tyler expects all employees to speak honestly to clients, potential clients, and vendors,
Tyler also expects all employees to display the same integrity in anything they write, whether
for internal or external use. Therefore, all internal records, memoranda, and other documents
must be accurate, complete, and truthful and must be maintained in that condition without any
alteration, falsification, omission, or other change that would mislead someone reviewing the
record about its original contents or meaning. Any employee who is asked or directed to
engage in such prohibited conduct should immediately report it to their human resources
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representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer, or, if it concerns questionable
accounting or auditing matters, to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined
above under “Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Retaliation against any employee as a result of their bringing forward any guestions, concerns,
or complaints about accounting or auditing matters, recording of information, record retention,
or any other matter concerning the honesty and integrity of Tyler's operations or financial
reporting is strictly prohibited. Similarly, retaliation is prohibited against any employee who
provides accurate information to any law enforcement agency about the commission of any
state or federal offense. Any employee who feels that they have been retaliated against or
threatened with retaliation for these reasons should immediately report it to Tyler’s chief
human resources officer, or, if it concerns questionable accounting or auditing matters, to the
chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under “Anonymous Reporting of
Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

No payment on behalf of Tyler shall be approved without adequate supporting documentation
or made with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for
any purpose other than as described by the documentation supporting the payment.

No Tyler confidential information shall be used or revealed within or outside of Tyler without
proper authorization and purpose.

The use of Tyler employees, materials, or equipment for personal purposes is strictly
prohibited, unless specifically authorized.

Compliance with established internal control procedures is required at all times.

Political Activities and Contributions

Tyler will not make any contribution to or for any political party, committee, or candidate for
any public office. Any employee requested by another employee to contribute Tyler funds to a
political party, committee, or candidate for public office should decline to do so and promptly
notify their human resources representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer of the
details of any such request.

Payments to Government Officials and Personnel

Tyler’s relationships with governmental agencies and their personnel in any federal, state,
local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business shall be conducted so that full
disclosure of the cenduct will not impugn or jeopardize Tyler's integrity or reputation.
Accordingly, payments to government personnel, inctuding gifts of substantial value or lavish
entertainment, is strictly prohibited, whether the payment is made from personal funds or
assets or those of Tyler, and whether made directly or indirectly through consultants, advisors,
suppliers, clients, or other third parties.
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Use of Agents and Others to Assist in Obtaining and Performing Contracts

From time to time, Tyler may elect to use consultants, distributors, representatives, and agents
to assist in obtaining or performing contracts. These representatives must be bona fide
professional individuals or organizations, they must render bona fide services, and their
compensation must be limited to a reasonable fee for their services. A representative may not
be employed by Tyler if they are connected directly or indirectly to the prospective client or to
an official or agent of a prospective client.

Conflicts of interest

Tyler expects the undivided loyalty of its employees in the conduct of business. it is important
that employees be free from any financial interests or other relationships that might conflict
with the best interests of Tyler. Accordingly, each employee shall avoid any investment or other
interest in any business that would conflict with the proper performance of their duties or
responsihilities for Tyler, or which might interfere with their independence of judgment with
respect to the transactions between Tyler and such other business.

While it is impossible to enumerate all situations in which possible conflicts might arise, the
following are some examples:

e To give or receive gifts of more than token value that are in any way connected with the
business relationship;

e To lend or borrow money or other assets from individuals or concerns that do business
with or compete against Tyler, except hanks and other financial institutions;

e To serve as an officer, director, employee, or consultant of, or receive any income from
any enterprise doing business with or competing against Tyler, or seeking to do so, or to
own an interest in or engage in the management of an organization providing services
or products to Tyler, or to which Tyler sells, or with which Tyler competes, except when
such interest (1) comprises publicly traded securities listed on a national securities
exchange, NASDAQ, or the OTC margin list and (2) is not in excess of 5% of the securities
of such company;

+ To accept compensation from outsiders for services for which the employee is being
paid by Tyler;

e To speculate or deal in materials, equipment, supplies, products, lands, leases, or
property purchased or sold by Tyler, or for which negotiations to purchase, acquire, or
sell are pending or may reasonably be anticipated, or to receive (other than from Tyler)
any compensation, bonus, or commission in connection with any transaction relating to
Tyler's business;

e To knowingly cause, directly or indirectly, Tyler to enter into a business transaction with
a close relative of a Tyler employee or business enterprise of such relative;

e To knowingly buy or sell for the employee’s own account or the account of a
relative of a Tyler employee any security or other interest which Tyler may be
considering buying or selling, or has decided to buy or sell, until Tyler’s decision has
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been completely executed and publicly announced; and/or

¢ To transmit any knowledge of any consideration or decisions of any information
that might be prejudicial to the interests of Tyler to any person, except as may be
necessary for the proper discharge of the employee’s responsibilities on behalf of
Tyler.

If an employee finds that they have, or are considering the assumption of, a financial interest or
outside relationship that might involve a conflict of interest, or if the employee has any doubt
as to the proper application of this policy, they should promptly make all facts known to Tyler’s
chief human resources officer and refrain from any exercise of responsibility in any manner
that might reasonably be considered to be affected by such adverse interest.

Protection of Confidential or Proprietary Information

Tyler’'s confidential and proprietary information is vital to its current operations and future
success. Each employee shall use reasonable care to protect or otherwise prevent the
unauthorized disclosure of such information. In no event shall confidential information be
disclosed or revealed within or outside Tyler without proper authorization or a permitted
purpose. If an employee is uncertain whether certain information should be treated as
confidential, the employee should presume that such information is confidential and not
disclose it without confirmation that there is proper authorization or a permitted purpose.

By way of example, confidential or proprietary information includes information relating to
Tyler’s business methods, business plans, research, development, inventions, databases,
systems, systems designs, technology, intellectual property, know-how, management, business
development, operations, products, services, pricing strategies, client sources, employee
records, terms and conditions of arrangements of any business or clients, client lists, methods
of competing, financial statements, financial projections, financing methods, and other
proprietary information.

Prohibition Against Insider Trading

Insider trading is the trading of Tyler stock while in possession of material “inside” or nonpublic
information. This includes the purchase or sale of Tyler stock on the open market through a
stockbroker of your choice or through an online brokerage account, the exercise of stock
options and corresponding sale of the underlying stock, the sale of stock acquired through
Tyler’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (following the applicable holding periods), or the short
sale of Tyler stock. The prohibition against trading other than during the trading window also
encompasses the fulfilment of “limit orders” placed with o broker, and the brokers with whom
any such limit order is placed must be so instructed at the time it is placed. The prohibition does
not, however, include the purchase of stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan pursuant
to previously authorized payroll deductions.

In addition to the prohibition against trading, it is also a violation of the federal securities laws
to disclose (or tip) material nonpublic information to another person who subsequently uses
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that information to their profit.

What is “material nonpublic information?”

In general, information is “material” if its disclosure to the public would affect an investor’s
decision to purchase or sell Tyler stock. It is difficult to describe all the types of material
nonpublic information a Tyler employee may possess that could cause problems with trading or
tipping others to trade Tyler stock. Some examples of material nonpublic information about
Tyler include information or knowledge about the following events:

» Tyler's quarterly or annual earnings or other important financial information;

e Changes in previously disclosed financial information, including earnings estimates;

e Tyler has suffered, or is about to suffer, extraordinary losses or costs;

+ Tyler has realized, or is about to realize, extraordinary earnings;

Tyler is making changes in previously disclosed financial information;

s Tyler has entered into, or is about to enter into, an important contract with a client, or
that such a contract has been terminated or is about to be terminated;

* A merger, acquisition, or takeover;

¢ Acquisition or sale of a company, a division, or a significant amount of assets;

e Tyler plans to declare stock splits, stock dividends, or cash dividends;

e Tyler becomes a party to major litigation;

e Tyler is making significant changes in management;

e Tyler plans to make significant changes in operations; and/or

e Tyler has achieved a milestone.

in most cases, employees should presume that information concerning any of these events s
material. If an employee has any questions about what information is material, or whether the
information has been disclosed to the public, they should contact Tyler’s chief legal officer.

General Trading Limitations
All employees, officers, and directors must comply with the following restrictions:

1. They may not buy ur sell Tyler stock during the period beginning on the first business
day after the end of each fiscal quarter through the close of trading on the second full
business day after release of the quarter’s operating results to the public. This blackout
period is intended to remove any appearance that you may have traded based on
material nonpublic information concerning the financial results.

2. If, during times other than the blackout period referred to above, they possess material
information {good or bad) that is unknown to the general public (in other words,
information that they have not read in the newspaper, Tyler's press releases, or annual
or quarterly reports, or seen publicly displayed on the bulletin boards around Tyler’s
facilities), then they are prohibited from buying or selling Tyler stock until after the close
of trading on the second full business day after such material information has been
released to the public.

3. They are prohibited from sharing material nonpublic information with others (friends,
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family, stockbrokers, strangers) that buy or sell our stock or recommending that they
trade or hold Tyler stock based on the material nonpublic information or at any time
when the employee, officer, or director possesses material nonpublic information.

4, They may not give material nonpublic information to others, even if they are not buying
or selling Tyler stock, without Tyler’s permission. In other words, they may not give this
information except where it is required in the performance of duties as an employee,
officer, or director of Tyler and they have permission to do so.

These restrictions also apply to family members and others living in the household of the
employee, officer, or director.

These general trading limitations are based upon U.S. securities laws. Compliance with these
general rules should mean compliance with applicable U.S. laws, as well as the regulations of
the New York Stock Exchange.

Property Rights

During and subsequent to employment by Tyler, an employee must disclose to Tyler all ideas,
concepts, inventions, improvements, and discoveries, including those related to software, and
any and all writings including those related to software, regardless of the media that are
conceived, made, or reduced to practice by the employee, provided that such ideas, concepts,
inventions, improvements, and discoveries arise from or relate to work done for or on behalf of
Tyler, relate to Tyler's business, involve the employee’s use of Tyler equipment, facilities, or
time, or arise out of any information received regarding Tyler's business. It is each employee’s
responsibility to fully disclose to Tyler as promptly as availabie all information known or
possessed by the employee concerning these property rights. Where appropriate, ideas or
questions should be directed to Tyler’s chief legal officer for patent, copyright, trademark, or
trade secret protection.

Employee Health and Safety

Creating and maintaining a safe environment for our employees is a priority at Tyler. Asa
company, Tyler makes every effort to comply with all applicabie health and safety laws,
enlisting the assistance of employees to help keep facilities free of hazardous conditions.
Employees should immediately report all work-related accidents or injuries as well as any
hazardous or unsafe conditions. In addition, Tyler will not tolerate any violent behavior in the
workplace.

Equal Employment and Non-Discrimination

Tyler believes it is important to have a diverse workforce and an inclusive workplace, and is
committed to encouraging diversity of background, culture, experiences, insights, and skills in
its workforce. In keeping with Tyler’s commitment to the personal dignity of employees, Tyler
supports each individual’s right to be treated with courtesy and respect.

Tyler is an equal opportunity / affirmative action employer and prohibits discrimination and
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promotes equality in its employment policies and practices. Management and supervisory
employees are responsible for making decisions affecting employees without regard to race,
religion, color, gender/sex, gender identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, marital
status, creed, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, age, disability, veteran’s status, and
any other status protected under local, state, or federal laws. This includes decisions regarding
all aspects of the employment relationship, including recruitment, selection, promotion and
transfers, performance appraisals, compensation, and termination.

These policies are implemented in compliance with applicable federal, state and local
nondiscrimination and affirmative action laws and regulations.

If an employee believes that they have been subjected to discrimination by employees, officers
or agents for Tyler, they should report the incident to their manager, their human resources
representative, or directly to their division president, who will investigate and attempt to
resolve the matter.

Anti-Harassment Policy

In order to promote a professional and productive work environment in which all employees
are treated with dignity, courtesy, and respect, Tyler has adopted an Anti-Harassment Policy
prohibiting all forms of harassment. Such policy is included in Tyler’s Employee Handbook and
has been distributed to all employees.

If at any time an employee feels that they have been subjected to or has observed harassment,
he or she should report the incident to any supervisor or manager. If the employee is not
comfortable taking the complaint to a supervisor or manager, they should contact their human
resources representative, their division president, or the chief human resources officer.
Employees may also make a complaint, anonymous or not, via Tyler’s Whistleblower Hotline
either online or by telephone.

Tyler also prohibits any adverse action or retaliation against an employee who makes a

comnlaint or otherwise participates in an investigation of discrimination or harassment. Tyler
will take disciplinary action against anyone who attempts to retaliate.
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Board of Directors

lohn 5. Marr, Jr.: 1 Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Glenn A. Carter: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Brenda A. Cline: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Piano TX 75024
Ronnie D Hawkins, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Planc TX 75024
Mary Landrieu: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Daniel M. Pope: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Dustin R. Womble: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Corporate Officers

John S. Marr Jr. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Executive Chairman of the Board

H. Lynn Moore Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Executive Officer, President

Brian K. Miller — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Samantha B. Crosby — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

Abigail Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Legal Officer, Secretary

Jason Durham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Flano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

Russell Gainford — 840 W. Long Lake Road, Troy, M| 48098
Senior Vice President, Cloud Strategy & Operations

Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Strategy Advisor

Jeff Green — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

Jayne Holland — 7701 College Blvd., Overland Park, KS 66210
Chief Privacy Officer, Deputy Chief Legal Officer

Kevin lwersen — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Information Officer

Jeff Puckett — 5101 Tennyso‘n Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Operating Officer

Kelly Shimansky — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Human Resources Officer
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¢ Jeremy Ward — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Information Security Officer

QOperational Leadership:

e Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plana, TX 75024
President, State & Federal Group

¢ Rusty Smith - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

s Dane Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
Group President, Public Administration Group

e Brian Combs - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Platform Solutions Division

»  Mark Hawkins — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439
President, Property & Recording Division

s Chris Hepburn — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Strategic Advisor, Public Administration Group

¢+ Sean Marlow — 116 S. River Road, Unit D1, Bedford, NH 03110
President, Municipal & Schools Division

s Brian McGrath - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Courts & Justice Division

s Elizabeth Proudfit - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Digital Solutions Division

e Chris Webster — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP & Civic Division

o Franklin Williams — 255 South King Street, Suite 1100, Seattle, WA 98104
President, Data & Insights Division



2/8/23, 11:80 AM Public Inquiry

Department of State

Division of Corporations

Entity Information

[ Reaburn to Results ] { Heturn 1o Ssarch

Entity Detalis -~
ENTITY NAME: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. DOS 1D: 3168959
FOREIGN LEGAL NAME: FICTITIOUS NAME:
ENTITY TYPE: FOREIGN BUSINESS CORPCORATION DURATION DATE/LATEST DATE OF DISSOLUTION:
SECTIONOF LAW: 1304 BCL - BUSINESS CORPORATION LAW ENTITY STATUS: ACTIVE
DATE OF INITIAL DOS FILING: 02/25/2005 REASON FOR STATUS:
EFFECTIVE DATE INITIAL FILING: 02/25/2005 INACTIVE DATE:
' FOREIGN FORMATION DATE: 11/13/1989 STATEMENT STATUS: CURRENT
COUNTY: ALBANY NEXT STATEMENT DUE DATE: 02/28/2023
JURISDICTION: DELAWARE, UNITED STATES NFP CATEGOCRY:
BNTITY DISPLAY

Jandce of Process on the Secretary of Siale as Agant

The Post Office address to which 't‘h‘e”Sécretary of State shall mail a copy of'é;{;b‘rocess against the corporation served upon the
Secretary of State by personal delivery:

Name: TYLER TECHNOLCGIES, INC.

| Address: 5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY, PLANC, TX, UNITED STATES, 75024

Electronic ‘S‘é'rvice of Process on the Seléi;éf'éry of State as agent: Not Permitted

Chvigf fwacutive Officer's Name and Address

Name: H. LYNN MOORE, JR.

: Address: 5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY, PLANO, TX, UNITED STATES, 75024

Principal Exacutive Office Address

Address: 5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY, PLANO, TX, UNITED STATES, 75024

: Registared Agent Name and Addrass

Name: CAPITGL SERVICES, INC.

: Address: 1218 GENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 100, ALBANY, NY, 12205

Entity Primary Location Name and Address

Name:

: | Address:

hitps:fapps.dos.ny.govipublicinguin/EntityDisplay



2/8/23, 11.50 AM

Farmoorphiag

_ ls The Entity A Farm Corporation: .NO
Stack information

Share Yajue Number 0F Shares

Publie Inquiry

Value Per Share

nitpsiffapps.dos.ny.gov/publicingulryEntityDispiay
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBY!ST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1, Name, address and telephone number of lobbyist{s)/lobbying organization. The term "lobbyist" means any and every person or
organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its
agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals,
development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements. The term "lobbyist” does not include
any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or
her official duties.

| No Lobbyist.

2. List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York State):

| Not applicable.

3. Name, address and telephone number of client(s) by whom, or on whose behalf, the lobbyist is retained, employed or
designated:

| Not applicable.

4. Describe lobbying activity conducted, or to be conducted, in Nassau County, and identify client(s) for each activity listed. See
the last page for a complete description of lobbying activities.

I Not applicable.

5. The name of persons, organizations or governmental entities before whom the lobbyist expects to lobby:

| Not applicable.

6. If such lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to a writien agreement of retainer or employment, you must attach a copy of
such document; and if agreement of retainer or employment is oral, attach a written statement of the substance thereof. If the
written agreement of retainer or employment does not contain a signed authorization from the client by whom you have been
authorized to lobby. separately attach such a written authorization from the client.

7. Has the lobbyist/lobbying organization or any of its corporate officers provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New
York State Election Law in (a} the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning April 1,
2018, the peried beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this disclosure, to the
campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign commitlees of any candidates for
any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney,
or any County Legislator?

Page1of3 Rev. 3-2016



YES { I NO 4] If ves, te what campaign commitiee? If none, you must so state:

{ understand that copies of this form will be sent to the Nassau County Department of Information Technology ("IT") to be posted
on the County's website.

| also understand that upon termination of retainer, employment or designation | must give written notice to the County Attorney
within thirty {30) days of termination.

VERIFICATION: The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they
are, to his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) te the campaign committees listed above were made freely
and without duress. threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in exchange for any benefit or remuneration.

Electronically-gighed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Rob Kenredy-lensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM|

Dated: 02/27/2023 11:14:03 am Vendor: Tyler Technolegies, Inc.

Title: Group General Counsel

Page 2 of 3 Rev, 3-2016



The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature, or any
member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or resolution; any
determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation or resolution, whether or
not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer or
employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract
specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for propoesals, or solicitation, award or administration of a
contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of
public monies; any determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies,
boards, commissions department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory
Committee, the Planning Commission with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to
County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for
proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected county official
or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of any interest in
real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with respect to a franchise,
concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and
effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any
determiliation of a board or commission; any determination regarding the calendaring ot scope of any legislature oversight
hearingf“'the issuance, repeal, medification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by @i elected
county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation,
including any determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or
regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been
formally proposed.

The term "lobbying" or "lobbying activities” does not include: Persons engaged in drafting legislation, rules, regulations or rates;
persons advising clients and rendering opinions on proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates, where such professional
services are not otherwise connected with legislative or executive action on such legislation or administrative action on such rules,
regulations or rates; newspapers and other periodicals and radio and television stations and owners and employees thereof,
provided that their activities in connection with proposed legistation, rules, regulations or rates are limited to the publication or
hroadcast of news items, editorials or other comment, or paid advertisements; persons who participate as witnesses. attorneys or
other representatives in public rule-making or rate-making proceedings of a County agency, with respect to ali participation by
such persons which is part of the public record thereof and all preparation by such persons for such participation; persons who
attempt to influence a County agency in an adjudicatory proceeding, as defined by § 102 of the New York State Administrative
Procedure Act.
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

CONSULTANT’S, CONTRACTOR’S AND VENDOR'S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Address: 5101 Tennyson Pkwy

City: Plano State/Province/Territory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country: us

2. Entity’s Vendor ldentification Number: 75-2303920

3. Type of Business: Public Corp (specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable body, &l
partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and officers of limited
liahility companies (attach additional sheets if necessary):

1 File(s) uploaded: Board of Directers and Corporate Officers February 2023.docx

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the shareholder is net an individual, list
the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the 10K in lieu of completing
this section.

If none, explain.

2 File(s) uploaded: Tyler Form 10-K.pdf, Tyler Form 10-K.pdf

6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered en line 1. above (if none, enter “None”), Attach
a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the performance of this contract. Such
disclosure shall he updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not previously disclosed that participate in the
performance of the coniract.

Performance will be through Tyler Technologies, In¢. Tyler Technologies, Inc. has the fellowing wholly owned subsidiaries:
. Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC

. Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC

. Tyler Technolagies Australia PTY LTD
. Socrata UK Limited

. Tyler Federal, L1.C

Page1of3



» Harris Custom Programming, LLC

. MicroPact Philippines, Inc.
. Cavu Corporation

. NIC Inc.

. NICUSA, Inc.

. VendEngine Inc.

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, enter “None.”
The term “lobbyist” means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or
promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees,
including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are
not limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements.
The term “lobbyist” does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of
New Yorl, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists invelved in this matter?
YES [ | NO [X]

{a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s}):

(b) Describe labbying activity of each lobbyist. See below for a complete description of lobbying activities.

(c) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York
State):

2. VERIEICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consuttant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a signatory of the
firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understeod the foregoing statements and they are, to his/her
knowledge, irue and accurate.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
RobertKennedy-lensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 02/27/2023 11:15:24 am

Title: Group General Counsel

Page 20of 3



The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature, or any
member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any loca! legisiation or resolution; any
determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation or resolution, whether or
not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer
or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of
contract specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving
the dishursement of public monies; any determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of
Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real
property subject to County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected
county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of
any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with respect
to a F-anchigle, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adaption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule
having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the
agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature
oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by
an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or
regulation, including any determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation,
rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has
been formally proposed.
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Board of Directors

s John S. Marr, Jr.: 1 Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

s H. Lynn Moore, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

s Glenn A, Carter: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

e Brenda A. Cline: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

s Ronnie D Hawkins, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
e  Mary Landrieu: 5101 Tennysan Parkway, Plano TX 75024

o Daniel M. Pope: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

¢ Dustin R. Womble: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Corporate Officers

s John S. Marr Ir. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Executive Chairman of the Board

e H.Lynn Moore Jr.— 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Executive Officer, President

¢ Brian K. Miller — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

s Samantha B. Crosby — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

s Abigail Diaz - One Tyier Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Legal Officer, Secretary

e Jason Durham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

» Russell Gainford — 840 W. Long Lake Road, Troy, M| 48098
Senior Vice President, Cloud Strategy & Operations

e Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Strategy Advisor

¢ Jeff Green — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

s Jayne Holland — 7701 College Blvd., Overland Park, KS 66210
Chief Privacy Officer, Deputy Chief Legal Officer

e Kevin lwersen — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Information Officer

o Jeff Puckett — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Operating Officer

o Kelly Shimansky — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Human Resources Officer



Jeremy Ward — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Information Security Officer

Operational Leadership:

Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, State & Federal Group

Rusty Smith - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

Dane Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414

Group President, Public Administration Group

Brian Combs - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Platform Solutions Division

Mark Hawkins — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439
President, Property & Recording Division

Chris Hepburn -~ One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04056
Strategic Advisor, Public Administration Group

Sean Marlow — 116 S. River Road, Unit D1, Bedford, NH 03110
President, Municipal & Schools Division

Brian McGrath - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Courts & Justice Division

Elizabeth Proudfit - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Digital Solutions Division

Chris Webster — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP & Civic Division

Franklin Wiltiams — 255 South King Street, Suite 1100, Seattle, WA 98104
President, Data & Insights Division



UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d} OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

TFor the Fiscal Year Enced December 31, 2022
GR
[ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission Tile Number 1-10485

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

{Exact nume of registrant a3 specified in ita charter)

Delmwvare 75-2303920
{State or otleer jnrisdiction of incorperation (LR.S. cmployer
or organization} identification no.)
5101 Tenayson Parkway
Mane, Texas 75024
{Address of principnl executive offices) (Zip codo)

Registrant’s telephone number, including avea code: (972) 713-3700

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12{b) of the Act:

Nume of ench exchange
Litle of each class ing symbul on which registered
COMMON STOCK, 30.0f PAR VALUE TYL New York Stock Exchange

Securitics registered pursunnt to Section 12(g) of the Act:

NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, ns defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  Yes O e X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act.  Yes [ Ne

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to bs filed by Ssction 13 or 15(d) of the Sscurities Exchangra Act of 1934 during the preeeding 12 monihs (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to file such veports), and {2} has been subject 1o such [iling requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes X m O

Tndlcate by check mark if disclosure of delinguent filer pursuant to Tiem 405 of Regulation $-K is not cantained herein, and will ot be centained, to the best of the regisirant’s knowledye, in definitive proxy or intormation statzments
incorparated by reference tn Part IT of the Forn 10-K or any amendment to the Form 10-K.  Yes O n X

Inclicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitied electronically and posted on tts corporare Welb sive, if any, cvery lnteractive Data file required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rude 403 of Regulation 8T during the
preceding 12 mouths {or for such shorter period tliat the registrant was tequired to submit md post such files). Yes o [

Tndicata by check murk whether the registrant is a large accslerated filer, an ngcelerated filer, a non-aceelerated filer, smaller vaporting company, or an emerging growth campony. See the definitions of “latgs noeelerated filer', “accelerated filer”,
"smaller reporting compay”, and "emerging grawth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated Filer

Non-aceelerated Filet (Do not cheek i’ smaller reporting company) O Smaller Reporting Company

Emetging Growth Company

1F an emerging growth campany, indicate by check mark i {he registrant las elected not to use the extended transition period For eomplying with any new or revised fiuancini aceounting standards provided
pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

O oo o

Indicate by check mark whellier the registran is a shell company {as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act)  Yes O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has flled o report on and attesiation to ts management's assessiment of the effectiveness of its intemal contrel over financial regoriing under Seciion 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act {15 US.C. 7262(k))
by the registered public accounting firm that prepared o issued its audit repart Yes X No O

The aggsresare market value of the voting stack held by nan-nffiliates of the regiswant was $13,686,594,900 based on the reported last sale price of common stock on June 30, 2022, which is the last business day of the registrant’s mast recently
completed second fiscH quarter,

The number of shares of common stock of the regisirant outstanding en Februavy 21, 2023 woe 41,819,280,
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Certain information required by Part 111 of this annual report is incorporated by reference from the tepistrant's definitive proxy statement for its aunvel mecling of stockhalders to be held on May 11,2023
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PARTI
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Inc, (“Tyler™) is a major provider of integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector. We partner with clients to make government more accessible to
the public, more respensive to the needs of citizens and more efficient in its operations, We have a broad line of software solutions and services to address the information technology (“IT") needs of
major areas of operations for cities, counties, schools and other government entities. We offer clients delivery of our seftware applications through software as a service (“SaaS") and on-premise
solutions. In recent years, substantially all of the Tyler’s products are sold through subscriptions delivered as SnaS. We provide professional IT services to our clients, including software and hardware
installation, data conversion, iraining and, at times, product medifications. In addition, we are the nation’s largest provider of outsourced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions. We also
provide continuing client support services to ensure product performance and reliability, which provides us with long-term client relationships and a signiticant base of recuning maintenance revenue,
We provide digital government services and payment solutions. In addition, we provide electronic document filing {“e-filing™) solutions, which simplify the filing and management of court documents.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state and local governiment market is one of the largest and most decentralized I'T markets in the country, consisting of all 50 states, approximalely 3,000 counties, 36,000 cities and towns and
12,900 school districts. This market is also comprised of approximately 38,000 special districts and other agencies, each with specialized delegated responsibilities and unique information management
requirements.

Traditionally, local government bodies and agencies performed state-mandated duties, including property assessment, record keeping, road maintenance, law enforcement, ndministration of election
and judicial Munctions, and the provision of weltare assistance. Today, a host of emerging and urgent issues are cenfronting local governments, each of which demands a service response, These areas
include criminal justice and corrections, administration and finance, public safety, health and human services, planning, repulatory and maintenance and records and document management. Transfers
of responsibility from the federal and state governments te county and municipal governments and agencies in these and other areas also place additional service and financial requirements on these
local government units. In addition, constituents of local governments are increasingly demanding improved service and betier access to information from public entities. As a result, local governments
recognize the increasing value of information management systems and services to, among cther things, improve revenue collection, provide increased access to information, and streamline delivery of
services 1o their constituents, Local government bodies are now recognizing that “e-povernment™ Is an additional respensibility for community development. From integrated tax systems to imtegrated
civil and criminal justice information systems, many counties and cities have benefited significantly from the implementation of jurisdiction-wide systems that allow different agencies or government
olfices to share data and provide a more comprehensive approach to infarmatien management. Many city and county governmental agencies also have unique individual information management
requirements, which must be tailored to the specific functions of each particular office.

Many local governiments also have difficulties atiracting and retaining the staff necessary to support their IT fimctions, As a result, they seck to establish long-terin relationships with reliable providers
of high quality IT products and services such as Tyler.

Although local governments often face budgetary constrainis in their operations, their primary revenue sources are usually property taxes, and to a lesser extent, wtility billings and other fees, which
historically tend to be relatively stable. In addition, the acquisition of new technology typically enables local governments {o operate more efficiently, more securely, and often provides a measurable
return or investment that justifies the purchase of software and related services.

Gartner, Inc., a leading information technology rescarch und advisory company, estimates that stale and local government appliication and vertical specifie software spending will grow frem 3278
billion in 2023 to 540.0 billion in 2026, The professional services and support segments of the market are expected to expand from $33.5 billion in 2023 to $41.9 bilfion in 2026, Application and
verlical specific seftware sales In the primary and secondary education segments of the market is expected to expand trom $3.4 billion in 2023 to 84,6 billion in 2026 while professional services and
support are expected to grow from $5.1 billion in 2023 to $6.1 billion in 2026. For the nationa! and international government markets, application and vertical specific software sales is expected to
expand from $42.2 billion in 2023 to $61.5 bilion in 2026 while professional services and support are expected to grow frem $65.6 billion in 2023 to $82.1 billion in 2026.




PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of products and services that addresses the infermatien technolopy needs of cities, cownties, states, schools, federal agencies, and other goverment
entities,

We design, develop, market and support 2 broad renge of sefiware sclutions to serve mission-critical “back-office™ funetions of the public sector. Many of our seftware applications include Internet-
aceesgible solutions that allew for read-time public access to o variety of information or that allew the public to transact business with governments online. Qur software solutions and services are
provided through seven business units, which focus on the following products:

+ financial management, education and planning, regulatory, and maintenance seftware solutions;

« financial management, numicipal courts, planming, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

+  courts and justice and public safety software solutions;

» data and insights golutions;

+  gappraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
= development platform solutions including case management and business process management; and

+  digital government and payments sclutions.

Each of our core software solutions eonsists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who aceuire software for use on premises, we generally license our selutions under standard perpetual
license agreements that provide the client with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nentransierable right to use the software. In some of the product areas. such as financial management and education and
preperty appraisal and tax, we offer muliiple solutions designed to meet the needs of different sized governments.

We also offer SaaS arrangements for clients who de not wish to maintain, vpdate and operate these systems or to make up-front capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. For
these clients, the software and client data are hosted at our data centers or at thivckparty lacations, and clients typically sign multi-year contracts for these subscription-based services,

A deseription of our suites of products and services follows:
Financiod Meanagemeni and Education

Cur Financial management and education solutions are enterprise resource planning systemy for the public sector, which integrate information across all facets of a client organization. Qur financial
management solutions include modular fund accounting systems that can be tailored to meet the needs of virtvally any government agency or not-for-profit entity. Cur financial management systems
include modules for general ledger, budget preparation, fized assets, requisitions, purchase orders, bid management, accounts payable, contract mmanagement, accounts receivable, investment
management, inventory control, project and grant acconting, work orders, job costing, GASDB reporting, payroll and human resources. All of cur financial management systems are intended to
conform to government auditing and financial reporting requirements and generally accepted accounting prineiples.

We sell utility billing systems that support the billing and collection of metered and non-meterad services, along with multiple billing cycles. Our Web-enabled utility billing solutions allow clients to
acceas information enline such as average consumption and transaction histery. Tn addition, our systems ean accept secured [nternet payments via credit cards and checks,

We also offer specialized products that automate numerous city and county functions, including municipal courts, parking tickets, equipment and project costing, animal licenses, business licenses,
permits and inspections, code enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, ambulanee billing, flect maintenance, and cemetery records management,

In addition to providing financial management systems to K«12 schools, we sell student information systems for K~12 schools, which manage such activities as scheduling, grades and attendance. We
also offer student transpartation solutions to manage schoel bus routing optimization, fleet management, field trips and other related finctions.

Tyler’s financial management and education solutions include Web components that enhance governments” service capabilities by facilitating online access to information for both employees and
citizens and enabling cniine transactions.

Courts and Justice

We ofter & complete, fully integrated suite of judicial solutiens designed to handle complex, multi-jurisdictional county or statewide implementations as well as single county systems. Our solutions
help eliminate duplicate data entry, promote more effective business procedures, and improve efficiency across the entire justice process,




Cur unified court case management system is designed to automate the tracking and management of information involved in all case types. including eriminal, traffic, civil, family, probate and juvenile
courts. It alse tracks the status of cases, processes fines and fees and generates the specialized judgment and sentencing documents, notices and forms required in the court process. Documents received
by the court can be scanned into the electronic case file and easily retrieved for viewing. Documents generated by the court can be electrenically signed and awtomatically attached (o the electronic case
file. Additional modules automate the management of court calendars, coordinate judges' sehedules and generate court dockets, Cur targeted courtroom technologies allow courts to rapidly review
calendars, cases and view decuments in the courtroom. Courts may also take advantage of our related jury management system. We alse offer a solution for online dispuls resolution that automales the
flow and resolution of common and historically time-consuming disputes including debt, landlord, tenant, small claims, child custody and other case fypes.

Qur court and law enforcement systems ailow the public to access, via the Internet, a variety of information, ineluding non-~confidential eriminal and civil court records, jail booking and release
information, bond and bondsmen information, and courf calendars and dockets, In addition, our systems allow cities and counties to accept payments for traffic and parking tickets over the Intetnet,
with a seamless and automatic interface to back-office justice and financial systems.

Qur prosecutor system enables state attorney offices to track and manage eriminal cases, inciuding detailed vietim information and private case notes. Investigative reperts and charging instrument
documents can be generated and stored for later viewing. Prosecutors can schedule and record the outcome of grand jury hearings. When integrated with the court system, prosecutors can view the
electronic case file and related documents, as well a3 manage witness lists and subpoenas needed for court hearings.

Our supervision system allows prestrial and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supervision officers can track centact schedules, risk/nzeds assessments and reassessments, detailed drug
test results, employment histories, compliance with conditions and payments of fees and restitution, Documents and forms, like pre-sentence investigations or revocation orders, can be generated and
stored for easy viewing. When integrated with the jail and court systems, supervision officers obtain easy access and quick notification of offenders that have court hearings scheduled, are arrested
locally, and have new wairants issued.

We also offer a court case management solution that automates and tracks alt aspects of municipal courts and offices. [t is a fully integrated, graphical application that provides effective case

management, document processing and cash/bond management. This system complies with all state reperting and conviction reports and includes electronic reporting and also integrates with certain of
our financial management solutions and public safely solutions.

Also our product solutions provide a suite of financial and communications applications ranging from deposit technelogies for commissary, ordering, and warchouse technology to a host of
informational, electronic communications, security, aceounting, and financial trist management components for correctional facilities.

Public Safiy

Qur public safety software is a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911 / computer aided dispatch (“CAD"), records management, mobile
computing, corrections management, Web-based information sharing and decision support. The medules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and providing full fanctionality between
medules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, elficient dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actienable information from an agency's database,

Qur 511/ CAD solutions provide real-time, critical response dispatch functions in either single- or multi-jurisdictional environments. When integrated with our recerds management software, a vital
link exists between dispatch and the most comprehensive records database available. Within seconds, the dispatch operator and the officer in the field can access eritical information, such as prior
incidents and cutstanding warrants, increasing officer knowledge and safety. The solutions offer strong geographic information systems integration to help dispatchers quickly locate and send the best
response during an emergency. Our 911 / CAD solutions dramatically improve performance, response time and unit safety.

Our records management solutions for law enforcentent and [fire track statistical, operational, investigative and management data for inquiry and reporting. The systems create an efflicient case
processing workflow and help solve crimes with an accessible dalabase that maintains central files on peaple, places, property, vehicles and criminal activily. Our public safety records management
solutlons enable easy access to information and simplify reporting.

Our mobile computing solutions for law enforcement and fire provide instant access to local, state, regional and federal databases via mobile devices, Officers and firefighters can experience the
benetits of obtuining criticel, real-time information in the tield, while saving time by preparing reports directly in their vehicles.




Our jail management systems document and managze information that meets the requirements of a modern jail facility, This includes the booking and housing of persens in custody, supervising
defendants on a pre-trinl release, maintaining offenders sentenced to local incarceration and! billing other agencies for housing inmates. Searching, reporting and tracking features are integrated,
allowing reliable, up-to~date access to current arrest and incarceration date, including digital mug shots. Our systems alse provide warrant checks for visilors or book=ins, inmate classification and risk
assessment, commissary, property and medical processing, automation of statistics, and state and federal reporting,

Our eivil processing solutions manage civil process needs from document receipt through service, payment process und final closeout. We also have a mobile electronic citation selution through which
law enforcement officers can casily enter citation information in a mubile devige, which is automatically uploaded into the court or public safety records management systems, rather than hand-writing
citations that must be re-entered into the systems.

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systens and sofiware that autamate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property, including record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest racking, appraisal and tax roll
generation, tax statement processing, and electronic state-leve! reporting, These systems are image and video-enabled (o facilitate the storage of and access to the many property-related documents and
for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for use in defending values in protest situations, Other related tax applications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, including
cities, cotmties, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These systems support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electrenic payments, and various
reporling requirements.

Plunning, Regulatory amd Maintenance

Qur planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions are designed for public sector agencies such as community development, planning, building, code enforcement, tax and revenues, public
waorks, transportation, land control, environmental, fire safety, storm water management, regulatory conlrels and engineering, These solutions help public sector agencies better manage their day-to-day
business functions while streamlining and automating the many aspects of their land management, permitting and planaing systems. Our mobile selytions extend automation fo the field and Web
aceess brings online services to citizens 24 hours a day, 365 days a vear.

Land and VFital Records Management

We also offer a number of specialized software applications designed to help lecal governments enhance and auipmate operations involving records and document management. These systems record,
scafitand index information for the many docurnents naintnined by local governments, such as deeds, mortgages, liens, UCC financing stalements and vital records (birth, deatlt and muriage
certificates). These applications include fully intcgrated imaging systems with bateh and scan processing capabilities and fully integrated receipting and cashiering systems, as vwell as Web-enabled
public access.

Our conteni management solutions allow state and local governments and school districts to capture, deliver, manage and archive electronic information. These solutions streamline the flow of digital
information throughout the organization to increase ¢lficiency by ransforming paper forms and decuments into ¢lectronic images that drive key business processes.

Dertor and Insights

Our data and insights solutions make existing government data discoverable, usable, and actionable for government workers and the people they serve. The data and insights solution includes a data-as-
a-serviee platform and cloud applications for open data and citizen engagement, exclusively for city, county, state, and federal government organizations. Our data and insights selutions allow
government to analyze. visualize, and securely share data actess multiple departments and programs. These solutions deliver deta-driven innevation and cost-savings by bringing together disparate
systems and leveraging the cloud to dramatically enhance the sffectivensss of govemment programs, 1o improve quality of life for residents, fo positively impact local economies, and to achieve
excellence in government operalions,

Platform Technologies

We offer 2 low-code application development platform solution for case management and business process management. Whether based on premises or in the eloud, its Data-First™ approach allows
the application ta be implemented immediately and configured continuoasly, enabling elients (o get to work quickly while keeping costs low. Qur lew code application platform allows government
agencies the ability to track, collaborate, and report on the data that drives activities forward.




Digital Government Services

We deliver user=friendly digital services that make it casier and more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with government providing valuable conveniences like applying for unemployment
insurance, submitting husiness filings, renewing licenses, accessing information and making secure payments without visiting e government office. Qur digital government services unit designs, builds,
and operates digital government services on an enterprise-wide basis on behalf of state and local governments desiring to provide access to government information and to complete secure
government-based transactions througl multiple digital channels. These digital government services consist of websites and applications that allow consumers, such as businesses and citizens, to
access government information, complete transactions and make electronic payments, We also provide payment processing services, software develepment and digital government services, other than
those services provided under state enterprise contracts, to federal agencies as well as state and local governments.

Revenuwes,

We derive our revenues From five primary sources:

«  Subseription-based services

+  Maintenance and suppori

= Professional services

+  Software licenses and royalties
= Appraisal services

Subscription=Based Serviges

Subscriptions revenue primarily consists of revenues derived from our SaaS arrangements. We are able to provide the majority of our software products through our Saa8 model, The clients who
choose this model typically do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or make up-trent capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. The contract terms for these
arrangements range from opne to ten years but are typically contracted for initial periods of thres to five years, The majority of our SaaS or hosting arrangements include additional professional services
a¢ well as maintenance and support services. In certain arrangements, the client may also acquire a license to the software.

Other sources of subscriptions revenue are derived from transaction-based fees primarily related to digital government services, ontine payment solutions, which are sometimes offered with the
fadkistance of third-party venders, and online disputs resolution solutions. We also provide clectronie decument filing solutions (“e-filing”) that simplify the filing and management of court related
docwnents for courts and law offices, E-filing revenue is derived from transaction fees and Hxed fee acrangements,

Maintenance and Suppert

Following the implementation of our software systems, we provide ongoing software suppert services to assist our clients in operating the systems and to petiodically update the software. Support is
provided to clients over the phone or via the Web through help desks staffed by our client support representatives. For mare complicated issues, our staff, with the clients' permission, can log on to

clients’ systems remotely, We maintain our clients” software largely through releases that contain improvements and incremental additions of features and functionality, along with updates necessary
bacause of legislative or regulatory changes.

Virtvally all of our software clients eontract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenue. We generally provide maintgnance and support for
our on-premises clients under annual, or in some cases, multi~year contracts, with a typical fee based on a percentage of the software product’s license fee. These fees can generally be increased on
renewal and may also increase as new license fees increase. Muaintenance and support fees are generally paid annually in advance. Most maintenance contracts automatcally renew unlesg the client or
"Tyler gives notice of termination prior to expiration, Similar support is provided to our Saa8 clients and is included in their subscription fees, which are classified as subscripticn-based revenue.

Professional Services

We provide a variety of professional services to olients who utilize our software products. Virtually ali of our clients contract with us for installation, training, and data conversion services in
connection with thelr implementation of Tyler’s softwate solutions. The complste implementation process for a typical system includes planning, design, data conversion, set-up and testing. Al the
culmination of the implementation progess, a data implementation team Is generally onsite at the client’s facility or available via remote videe conferencing to ensure the smooth go-live with the pew
systemn. Implementation fees are charged separately to clients on either a fixed-fes or hourly charge basis, depending on the contract.




Both in connection with the installation of new systems and on an ongeing basis, we provide extensive iraining services and programs related to our products and services. Training can be provided in
our training centers, onsite at clients’ locations, at meetings and conferences, or remetely. and can be customized to meet clients’ requirements. The vast majority of our clients contract with us for
{raining services, both to improve their employces’ proficiency and productivity and to fully wilize the functionality of our systems, Training services are generally billed on an howrly or daily basis,
along with travel and other expenses.

Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve “offsthe-shelf” software. We recognize the ravenue allocable to “off-the-shell™ software licenses and specified upgeades at a point in time when control of
the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider "off-the-shell software to be distinet when it can be added Lo an arrangement with minor
changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer fov the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or
inferrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that nvolve significant production, modification or customization of the sottware, or where professienal services are otherwise net considered distinet, we recognize revenug over
time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-towcomplefion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur
costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and oceasionally require us to revise tetal cost estimates. Ameunts recognized in revenue are caleulated
using the progress-lo-complelion measurement afler glving effect 10 any changes in eur cost estimates. Changes to tetal estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Hstimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees arc billed in accordance with the contrnct terms. Typically, & majority of the fee is duc when access to the software license is made available to the custemer and the remainder of
the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract, We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements. Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimatsd basis and adjusted if
needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typicully receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and billed on a quarterly basis in the quarter immediately
following the royalty reporting period and adjustments have not been significant.

Anpraisal Services

We are the nation’s largest provider of property appraisal cutsourcing services for local government taxing authoritics. These serviees include:

«  The physical inspection of commercial and residential properties
«  Data collection and processing

+  Sophisticated computer analyses for preparty valuation

*  Prepuration of tax rolls

«  Community education regarding the assessment process

»  Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local government taxing authorities normally reappraise properties from time to time to update values for tax assessment purposes and to maintain equity in the taxing process. In some jurisdictions,
law mandares reassessment cycles; in others, they are discretionary. While some taxing jurizdictions perform reappraisals in-house, many local governments cutsource this function because of its
cyclical nature and because of the speeialized knowledge and expertise requirements asseciated with it. Our appraisal services business unit has operated in this business since 1938

In some instances, we also provide property tax and / or appraisal software products in cennection with appraisal cutsourcing projects, while other clients may only engage us to provide appraisal
services, Appraisal outsourcing services are somewhal seasonal in pature to the extent that winter weather conditions reduce the productivity of data collection activities in connection with those
projects.

STRAIEGY
Qur objective is to grow our revenues and earnings crganically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions. The key components of our bustness sirategy are to;

»  Provide high quality, yalye—added products and services to our clients. We compete on the basis of, among other things, delivering to clients cur deep domain expertise in government
operations through the highest value products and services in the market. We believe we have achieved a reputation a3 a premium product and service provider to the government market.




Continue to expand our prochuct and service offerings. While we already have what we believe to be the broadest line of software products for local governments, we continually upgrade
our core software applications and expand our complementary produet and service offerings to respond to technological ndvancements and the changing needs of our clients, We regularty
add new products and services to our portfolio through internal product development as well as acquisitions. We believe that the addition of new features and applications enhances the
market appeal of our core products. We have also broadened our offerings of consulting and business process reengineering services.

Accelerate our move to the cloud We have offered maost of our core products in both an on-premises license model and a cloud-based subseription mode! for several years and have seen a
steady increase in the percentage of new software clients choosing our clond model in recent years. Beginning in late 2019, we moved our approach to sales from “¢loud-neutral” to
“cloud-first,” with an increasing preference to provide our solutions in the cloud. We are making significant investments in optimizing our proeducts te be deployed efficiently in the public
cloud and over o multi-year period are transitioning from hosting clients in Tyler’s proprietary datn centers o utilizing Amazon Web Services (“*AWS") for cloud hosting.

Expand our glient base, We seek to establish long-term relationships with new clients primarily through our sales and marketing efforts. While we currently have clients in all 50 states,
Canada, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom, Auswalia, and other {nternational locations, some of cur solutions have not fully achieved nationwide geographic penetration. We intead to
continve to expand into new geographic markets by adding sales staff and targeting marketing efforts by solutions in those areas. We also intend to continue te expand cur customer base
to include larger jurisdictions, While our traditional market focus has primarily been on small and mid-sized governments, our increased size and market presence, together with the
technological advances and improved scalability of cettain of our solutions, are allowing us to achieve incrensing success in sclling to larger clients. We also expect to expand our
presence in international markets by leveraging our leadership position in the United States through the disciplined pursuit of selected opportunities in other countries.

Expand our existing client relationships, Our existing customer base offers significant opportunities for additional sales of selutions and services that we currently offer, but that existing
clients do not fully utilize, Add-on sales to existing clients typically involve lower sales and marketing expense than sales to new clients. In particuiar, we believe that the acquisition of
NIC in April 2021 provides us with significant epportunities to sell Tyler software products inte NIC’s client base and to provide NIC’s payment services to Tyler's client buse.

Grow recurring revenues. We have a large recurring revenue base from maintenance and suppart and subscription-based services, which generated revenues of $1.5 billion, or 80% of total
revenues, in 2022 We have historically experienced very low customer turnover (appraximately 2% annually} and recurring revenues continue to grow as the installed custoimer base
increases. Subscription-based revenues have been our fastest growing revenue category over the past five years, increasing from $220.5 million in 2018 to §1.0 billion in 2022, We
monitor Annualized Recurring Revenve (“ARR”), which is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring revenues muliiplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billion as
of December 31, 2022, and 202 |, respectively, ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period due to an increase in subseriptions revenue resulting from an ongeing shift toward SaaS
arrangements.

Maximize economies of scale and take advantage of financial leverage in onr business, We seek to build and maintain a larger client base to create economies of scale, enabling us w
provide value=added products and services to our clients while expanding our aperating margins. In addition, we believe that we have a marketing and administrative infrastructure in
place that can be leveraged to accommodate significant long=term growth without proportionately increasing siles and marketing and general and adrministrative expenses.

Attract and retain highly qualified employees We believe that the depth and quality of our management and staff is one of our significant strengths, and that the ability to retain such
employees is crucial to our continued growth and success. We believe that our stable management team, financial strength and growth opportunities, as well as our leadership pesition in
the public sector market, enhance our atiractiveness as an employer for highly skilled employees.

Pursug slealegic acquisitions. We selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that provide us with one or more of the following:

= New products and services to complement our existing offerings
= Entry into new markets related to the public sector
= New clients and/or geographic expansion




+  Establish strategic alliances, We have a stategic collaboration ngreement with Amazen Web Services ("AWS") for cloud hosting services, which brings together Tyler, the nation's largest
software company exclusively Facused on the public sector, and AWS, the broadest and deepest cloud platform. Specifically, the agreement with AWS provides the framework for
development, training and collaboration in order to support next-generation applications that have the scalability, resiliency, and security AWS offers, AWS s assisting us in aceelerating
innovation and the development of strategic initiatives. These initiatives will bring the most advanced cloud-native services to Tyler clients, improving tire flow of information and
providing a better experience for state, local, and federal governments.

SALES, MARKETING AND CLIENTS

We market our produets and services primarily through direct snles and marketing personnel located throughout the United Stales. Other in-house sales stafl focus on add-on sales, professional services
and suppot. For certain products we also utilize 2 partner network for both sales and professional services, primarily in the state and federal markets.

Sales of new systems are typically genetated from referrals from other government offices or departments within a county or municipality, referrals from other local governments, relationships
established between sales representatives and county or local officials, contacts at trade shows, direct mailings, and direct contact from prospects already familiar with us, We are active in numerous
national, state, county, and local government associations and participate in annual meetings, trads shows, and educational events.

Clients consist primarily of federal, state, county-and municipal agencies, schoal districts and other local gavernment offices. In counties, clients include the anditor, treasuser, tax assessor/collector,
county clerk, district elerk, county and district court judges, probation officers, sheriff, and county appraiser. At municipal government sites, clients include directors from various depactments,
including adiministration, finance, utilities, public works, cede enforcement, [JC[SOmlCl purchasing, taxation, municipal court and police. At the state and federal levels, chients include Chief
Information Officers and agency heads. Contracts for software products and services are generally implemented over periods of three months to oue year, although seme complex implementations may
span multiple years, with annually renewing maintenance and support update agreements thereafler. Although either the client or we can terminate these agreements, historically almost all support and
maintenance agrecments are automatically renewed annvally, During 2022, approximately 25% of our revenue was attributable te engoing support 2nd maintenance agreements.

COMPETITION

We compete with numerous local, regional, and national firms that pravide or offer some or many of the same soluticns and services that we prowde Many of these competitors are smaller comparies
that may offer fess expensive solulions than ours. Many of these firms operate within a specilic geographic area and / or in a narrow producl or service niche. We also compete with national (irms,
some of which have greater financial and technical resources than we do, including Oracle Corporation, Infor, SAP AG, Worlday, Inc., CentralSquare Technologies, Thamson Reuters Corporation,
Motorola Solutions, Inc., Axon Enterprise, Inc., and Constellation Software, Ine. In nddition, we sometimes compete with consulting and systems integration firms, which develop custom systems,
primarily for larger governments. We also cecasionally compste with central internal information service departments of governments, which requires us to persuade the end-user department to
discontinue service by its own personnel and outsource the service to us,

We compete on a variety of factors, including price, service, name recognition, reputation, technological capabilities, and the ability to modify existing produsts and services (o accommaodate the
individual requiremetits of the clisnt. Our ability to offer an integrated system of applications for several offices or departments is ollen a competitive advantage. Governmental units often are required
to seek competitive proposals through a request for proposal process and some prospective clients use consultants te assist them with the proposal and vendor selection process.

SUPPLIERS

Substantially all of the computers, peripherals, printers, scanrers, operating system software, office antomation software, and other equipment necessary for the implementation and provision of our
software systems and services are presently available from several third-party sources. Hardware is purchased on original equipment manufacturer or distributor terms at discounts from retail. We have
not experienced any significant supply problems,

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2022, our revenue backlog was approximately $ 1.8 billion, compared to $1.80 billien at December 31, 2021, The backlog generally represents signed contracts under which the
revenue has not been recognized. Approximately $886 million, or 47%, of the backlog is expected to be recognized during 2023,




INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We regard certain features of our internal operations, software, and documentation as confidential and proprictary and rely on a combination of centractual restrictions, rade secret laws and other
Imeasures Lo protect our proprietary intellectual property. We senerally do not rely on patents. We believe that, due to the rapid rate of technological change in the computer software industry, trade
secrets and copyright protection are less significant than factors such as knowledge, 2bility and experience of our employees, frequent product enhancements, and timeliness and quality of support
services. We typically license our software products under non-exclusive license agreements, which are generally non-transferable and have a perpetual teom.

HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES
Huinan Capital

Qur experienced, collaborative team is one of the most signilicant conlributors (o our success in empawering the public sector to create smarter, safer, and stronger communities, Our slfectiveness in
attracting and developing talented team members, mary of whom spend the majority of their careers at Tyler serving our public sector clients, demonstrates our commitment to providing a welcoming
and safe workplace, with a culture, benefits, and opportunities for our team members to continually grow and develop their careers within Tyler.

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximatety 7,200 team members. Approximately 335 of these team members are located in Cannda and the Philippines; the remainder work remotely in the U.3.
or are based in one of our neazly 80 U5, offices. No Tyler employees are represented by unions, We believe our efforts in managing and supporting our workforce are effective, as evidenced by current
levels of applicants, team member tenure, and high levels of engagement reported through continuous survey feedback from Tyler teamn members. Before we returned to effice in Jannary, the vast
majority of team members werked remotely. Afrer the return, 39% of team members became either partially or fully office based.

Our team continues to work collaboratively with and for our clients and partners across multiple work arrangements: fully office-based, fully remote and e blended approach of office-based and remote
wark, which we refer to as flex-work, Regardless of where team members work, we do so together to develop for. sell te, implement and support our public sector clients.

At the end of 2022, Tyler's U.S. warkforce was 63% male and 37% ferale, and women represented 42% of Tyler's leadership. Our workforce was comprised as follows: 71% White, 7% Asian, 4%
Hispanic or Lating, 5% Black or African American, and 13% Other. For our leadership, the breakdown was 93% White, 5% Asian, 2% Hispanic or Latino. We define leadership as positions which are
one or two levels removed from our CEO with management responsibility. Race and gender reporting are based on information provided by team members. Voluntary workforce turnover (rolling 12-
month attrition) was 10% as of December 31, 2022, a decrease from 2021 turnover of 12.5%. The average tenure of our team members continues to be approximately seven years and approximately
27% of our employees have been employed by Tyler for more than len yeurs. The most frequent factor cited by team members leaving Tylar in 2022 was career epportunities with compensation also
cited 03 a factor, Job offer cotmpensation levels for roles in the tech sector continued to inerease in 2022 at levels we have not experienced in well over a decade.

Invesiments in Talent

We are committed to providing Tyler team members with career growth opportunities and the training and resources necessary to continually strengthen their skills. Our talent assessment and
development programs provide managers and employees with the resources needed to achieve career goals, build management skills and lead their teaims.

For example, in 2022

» 974 Tyler team members participated in close to 11,000 hours of AWS cloud certification training. There were 352 AWS accredilations and 228 cerlificalions completed, as we continus to
invest in developing cloud skills across the Tyler workforee.

+ Apain this year, over 200 Tyler managers participated in our 9-month Tyler Manager Develepment program which inciudes more than 50 hours of interactive, experiential learning, focused on
developing skills managers need to lead a high performing team, plus multiple leadership assessments, including 360-degres feedback, and a dedicated mentor to support their development.
To date, 42% of our management leads have participated in the program.

+  Division Presidents and Corporate Function Executives conducted annual leadership assessment and talent reviews with their R leaders and leadership teams to plan for succession and
tdentity development priorities within their teams.

»  Our TylerU onling training platform was utilized by over 8,100 team members who completed almost 35,000 hours of Tyler-sponsored AWS, management and compliance training to support
continuous learning, professional training and development,
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Oversight and Management

Our Human Resources team 1s tasked with leading and supporting our organization in managing employmernt-related maticrs, ineluding recruiting and hiring, onboarding and training, compensation
planning, talent management and developnient. Our executive team is tesponsible for periodically reviewing team member programs and initiatives, including healthcare and other benefils, as well as
pwr management development and succession planning practices and our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (“DEL) efforts. Management periodically reports to the Board and its committess human
capital measures and results that guide how we attract, retain and develop a workforce to enable our business strategies.

Healrit & Safety

We invest in the well-being of Tyler tean members and their families. We provide a range of offerings in support of mental and emotional, financial, and physical health and wellness not only for our
team members, but alsa for the Family members who depend on them. The prolonged stressors of the COVID-19 pandemic continued in 2022, and we extended the new benefits intreduced in 2020,
including enhanced mental health ond telehealth benetits and full coverage for COVID illness and vaccinations.

Diversity and Inclusion

We believe that 2 diverse workforce is critical to our success, and we continue to monitor and improve the application of our hiring, retention, compensation and advancement processes for women and
underrepresented populations across our workforee, ineluding our team members of color, veterans and members of our LGBTQ community. Our networks ol support, made up of local diversity,
equity, and inclusion committees and employee rescurces groups, serve to enhance our inclusive and diverse culture.

INTERNET WEBSITE AND AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, current and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, pursnant to the Securities Exchange Act. You may
read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC aintains an Internet site that containg reports, proxy and other
information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of this site is http:/fwww.sec.gov,

We also maintain a website at www.tylertech,con. We make available fres of charge through this site our Annwal Report on Form 19-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Forms 4 and 3, Current
Reperts on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports fled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(2) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable atter we electronically file such
material with, or [urnish it to the SEC. In addition, copies of our ancual report will be made availuble, free of charge, upon written request.

Our *Code of Bustness Conduct and Ethics™ is also available on our website. We intend to satisty the disclosure requirements regarding amendinents to, or waivers from, a pravision of eur Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on cur website,

TTEM LA, RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our comman stock invelves a high degree of risk. Investors evaluating our compeny should carefully consider the factors described below and all other information contained in this
Annual Report. Any of the following factors coutd materially harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Additional factors and uncertaintics not curvently known to us or that we
currently consider immaterial could also harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and related Notes and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Annual Report. We may make forward=looking statements from time to time, both written and
oral. We undertake o obligation to revise or publicly relsase the results of any revisions to these forward-{ooling statements. Owr actual results may differ materially from those projected in any such
forward-looking statements due to & number of factors, including those set forth below and esewhere in this Annual Report,

Risks Associnted with Our Business, Including Our Software Products
Ciyber-aitacks and security vilnerabilities con disrupt our business ond harm owr competitive position.

Threats to [T security can take a variety of forms. Individuals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated erganizations including state-sponsored organizations, may ke steps that pese threats to our
clients and our IT. They may, for example, develop and deploy malicious software to attack sur products and services and/or gain access to our networks and data centers or act in a coordlinated manner
(o launch distributed denial of service or other coordinated atiacks. Cyber threats are constantly evolving, thereby increasing the difficulty of detecting and successfully defending against them. Cyber
threats can have cascading impacts that unfold with increasing speed across our infernal networks and systems and those of our partaers and clicnts. Breaches of our network or data security could
disrupt the security of our internal systems and business applications, impair our ability to provide services to our




clients and protect the privacy of their data, result in produst development delays, compromise confidential or technical business information harming our competitive position, result in theft or misuse
of eur intel'sctual property or other assets, require us to allocate more resources to improve technologies, or otherwise adversely affect our business. Our business policies and internal security contrels
may not keep pace with these evolving threats. Despite the astwork and applicatian security, internal contral measures, and physical security procedures we employ te safeguard our systems, we may
still be vulnerable to a security breach, intrusion, or loss or theft of confidential client data, transaction data, or propristary company informatien, which may harm our business, reputation and Fature
financial results. The lost revenue and containment, remediation, investigation, legal and other costs could be significant and may exceed our insurance policy limits or may not be covered by wnsurance
alail Further, we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions and litigation that could result in financial judgmenls or the payment of settlerment amounts and disputes with insurance carriers
conceriling coverage.

In September 2020, we filed 2 Current Report on Form 8-K. reporting a security incident (the "Incident") involving ransomware disrupting access to spme of our internai IT systems and telephone
systems, We promptly notified our elients of the Incident and provided timely updates ta our clients through direct communications and updates to our website. There is no evidence that the
environments where we host client applications were affected, and our hosting services to those clients werg not interrupted. There was alse no evidence of malicious activity on client networks
associated with the [neident., We contained the Incident and recovered from it, resuming normal operations with our clients. We deployed supplemental remediation efforts as necessary and cooperated
with law enforcement’s investigation,

Although we completed our investigation into the Incident and believe we contained and recovered from the Incident, we are subject to risk and uncertaintics as a result of the Incident. Thers can be no
assurance s to what the ongoing impact of the Incident will be, if any. We maintain cybersecurity insurance coverage in an amount that we believe is adequate.

Disclosure of personally identifiable information andor other sensitive client data could result in liability and harm our reputation.

We store and process increasingly large amounts of personally identifiable information and other confidential information of our clients. The continued occurrence of high-profile data breaches
provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hostile to information security, Despite our efforts to improve security controls, it is possible our security controls over personal data, our
training of employees on data security, and other practices we follow may not prevent the impraper disclosure of sensitive client data that we store and manage. Disclosure of persenally identifiable
information anc/or other sensitive client data could result in lability and harm our reputation,

We depend on third parties with whom we enguge or colluborate for certain prejects, deliverables, andior financial transaction processes, If these parties foif to satisfy their abligations 1o us or we are
nnable 1o mainiain these relarionships, our operating results and business prospects could be adversely affected,

To satisty eur obligations under client contracts, we often engage third parties to provide certain deliverables or fulfill certain requirements. We may also use third parties to ensure that our services and
solutions integrate with the software, systems, or infrastructure requirements of other vendors and service providers. Our ability to serve our clients and deliver our solutions in a timely manner
depends on our ability to retain and maintain relationships with third-party vendors and service providers and the ability of these third parties to meet their obligaticns in a timely manner, as well a3 on
our effective oversight of their performance. If any third party fails to petform on a timely basis the agreed-upon services, our ability to [ulfill our obligatinns may be jeopardized. Third-party
performance deficiencies could result in breaches of our obligations with respect to, or the termination for default of, ane or more of our client contracts. A breach or termination for defanlt could
expose us to liabifity for damages and have an adverse effect ot our business prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to compete for fiture contracts and
orders. A slobal economic stowdown, the COVID-19 pundemic, or similar circumnsiances could also adversely affict the businesses of our third-party providers, hindering their ability to provide the
services on which we rely. Our agreements with thitd parties typically ars non-exctusive and do not prohibit them from werking with our competitors, If we are unsuccessful in establishing or
maintaining our relationships with these third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaited and our business, operating results or finaneial condition
could be adversely affected.

In addition, we may act as subcontractor to & third-party prime centractor to secure new projects, Subcontracting arrangements where we ate not the prime contracter pose unique risks to us because we
muy not have control over the customer relatianship, and our ability to generate revenues under such subcontracts may depend on the prime contractor, its performance and relationship with the
customet, and its relationship with us, Wa could suffer losses in the event a prime contiact under which we serve as 2 subcentractor is terminated, whether for nog-perfosmance by the prime contractor
or otherwise. Upon a termination of the prime contract. our subcontract would similarly terminate, and the resulting contraci loss could have an adverse effect an our business prospects, results of
operations, cash flows, and financial condition and our ability to compete for future contracts and orders.




We rely on third-purty providers—inchaling Amazon Web Serviees—for hasting services ond other tectmology-related services needed 1o defiver cericin of our clowd solwtions. Any disruption in the
services provided by such third-party providers could adversely affect our business and subject vs fo Habilic:

A material portion of our business s provided through soltware hosting services, which are sometimes hosted from and use computing infrastructure provided by third parties, including Amazen Web
Services. These hosting services depend on the uninterrupted operaticn of data centers and the ability to protect computer equipment and informaftion stored in these data centers against damage that
may be caused by natural disaster, fire, power loss, telecommunications or Internet failure, acts of terrorisni, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses, and other similar damaging events. If any of our
data centers were 1o become ineperable for an extended period, we might be unable to fulfill our contractual commitments, Although we take what we believe to be reasonable precautions against such
OCCLITENGES, We can give no assurance that damaging events such as these will not result in a prolonged interruption of our services, which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revenues, and
damage to our busimess.

Third-party hosting service providers have no abligation to renew their agreements with us on cemmercially reasonable terms or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially
rensonable terms, we may be required to transition to a new provider and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so. In addition, such service
providers could decide to close their facilities or change or suspend their service offerings without adequate notice to us, Moreover, any financial difficulties, such as bankruptcy, faced by such service
providers may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to predict. Because we cannot easily switch third-party hosting service providers, any disruption with
respect to our current providers would impact our operations and our business could be adversely impacted, Problems faced by our hosting service providers could adversely affect the experience of

our customers, For example, Amazon Web Services has expericneed significant service outages in the past and may do so again in the future. In addition, the ongoing COVID-19 panderic has
disrupted and may continue to disrupt the supply chain of hardware needed to maintain these third-party systems or to run our business.

Material portions of our business require the Iafernet infrasiruciure to be reliable.

Part of our future success continues to depend on the vse of the Internet as a means te aceess public information and perform transactions electronically, including, for example, electrenic filing of

court decuments, This in part requires ongoing maintenance of the Internet infrastructure, especially to prevent interruptions in service, as well as additional develepment of that indrastructure. This
requires a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, security, and timely development of complementary products for providing reliable Internet access and services. IT this
infrastructure fails to be sufficiently developed or be adequately maintained, our business would be harmed because users may not be able to access our government portals.

e emplay third-party licensed software and soffware components for use in or with our solutions, und the inability fo maintain these licenses or the presence of errors or securily vulnerabilifies in the
sofhware wa Hicense could limit the fumetionality of our products ard result in increaved costs or rediced service levels, which would adversely affect our business,

We incorporate and include third-party seftware into and with certain of our produets and selutions. We also use third-party software and tools in certain areas of the development process for our
solytions, We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software and development tools in the future. In addition, there can be no assurance that these third parties will continue to
make their software or tools available to us on acceptable terms, or at all, not make their products available to our competitors on more favorable terms, invest the appropriate levels of resources in
their produsts and services to maintain and enhance the capabilities of their software, or remain in business. Any impairment in our relationship with these third parties or our ability to license or
otherwise use their software or toels could have a materiat adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition. Although we believe that there are commercially
regsonable alternatives to the third-party software and tocls we currently license, this may not always be the case, or they may be difficult, time-consuming, or costly to replace. In addition, although
we maintain & supplier security evaluation process, if the third-party software or toals we use has or have ervars, seewity vulnerabilities, or etherwise malfunctions, the functionality of cur selutions
may be negatively impacted, our customers may experience reduced service levels, and our business may suffer.




Certuin of vur solntions utilize open source sofiware, and any faiture o comply with the ferms of one or more of these apen source licenses could adversely uffect owr hisiness.

Certain of our solutions include software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses
could be constried in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our selutions. It is pessible under the terms of certain epen source licenses, if we combine
our proprietary software with open source soflware in a certain manner, that we could be required to release the seurce code of our proprigtary software and make our proprictary software available
under open sowrce licenses. [n the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source license, we could be required to publicly relense the affected portions of
our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our solutions, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our solutions, each of which could reduce or eliminate the value of our solufions. In addition to
risks related to license requirements, use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally de not provide warranties or
centrols on the erigin of the software, Many of the risks associated with the use of open source software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect our business.

We run the visk of errors or defects with aew producty or eifhancelents (o existing products.

Qur software products are eomplex and may contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. Any such defects could result in a loss of
revenues of delay market acceptance. Our license agreements typically centain provisions designed to liniit our exposure to potential liability. Hlowever, it is possible we may not always successtully
negotiate such provisions in our client contracts or the limitation of liability provisions may net be effective due to existing or future federal, state, or local laws, ordinances, or judicial decisions.
Althougl we maintain errors and omissiens and general linbility insurance, and we try to structure contracts to limit lizbility, we cannot assure you that a suceesstul claim could not be made ar would
net have a material adverse effect on our future operating results,

We nust timedy respond to teclmeological changes fo be competitive,

The market For our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in software technology, changes in <lient requirements, and frequent new prochict introductions and
enhancemeats. The intreduction of products embedying new technelogies and the emergence of new industry standards can render existing products obsolete and unmarketable. As a result, our tuture
success will depend, in part, upon our ability to enhance existing products and develop and introduce new products that keep pace with technological developments, satisty increasingly sophisticated
cliznt requirements, and achieve market acceptance. We cannot assure you that we will successfully identify new product opportunities and develop and bring new praducts to market in a timely and
cost-effective manuer, The products, capabilities, ot technelogies developed by others could also render our products or technelogies ebselete or nencompetitive. Qur business may be adversely
affected if we are unable to develop or acquire new software products or develop enhancements to existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, or if such new products or enhancements do
not achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable (o protect owr proprietary rights.

Many of our product and service offerings incorporate proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights, We rely on a combination of contracts, copyrights, and
trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our technology. We cannot be certain that we have taken all appropriate steps fo deter misappropriation of our intellectual property.
There has also been an apparent evolution in the legal standards and regulations courts and the U.S. patent office may apply in [averably evaluating software patent rights. We are not curreatly
involved in any material intellectual property litigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation in the future to protect our propristary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual
property rights, We cannot essure you that third parties will not assert infringement or misappropriation claims against us with respect to current or future proclucts. Any claims or litigation, with or
without merit, could be time-consuming, costly, and a diversion to management. Any such claims and litigation could also cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing
arrangements, Such royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptabie to us, if at all, Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights
could have a material adverse effect an our business, regardless of the final oulcome of such litigation,

Clients may elect lo lerminate our mointenence contracls and manage operations internally,

Tt is possible that our clients may elect to not renew maintenance confracts for our software, trying instead to maintain and operate the software themselves using their perpetual license rights
{excluding software applications that we provide on a hesied or eloud basis). Alternatively, clients may elect to drop maintenance on certain modules that they uttimately decide net to use, This could
adversely affect our revenues and profits. Additionally, they may inadvertently allow our intellectval property or other information to fall into the hands of third parties, including our competitors,
which could adversely affect our business.
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Risks Asseciated with Selling Preducts and Services into the Public Sector Murkeiplace
Selling products and servicey into the public sector pases unique challenges.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from sales of software and services to state, county, and city governments, other feceral or municipal agencies, and other public eniities. We expect that sales
to public sector clients will continue fo account for substantially all of our revenues in the future. We tace many risks and challenges associated with contracting with governmental entities, including:

«  Resource limitations caused by budgetary constraints, which may provide for a termination of executed contracts due to a lack of future funding

= Long and complex sales cycles

+  Contract payments at times being subject to achieving implementation milesiones, and we may have differences with clients as to whether milestones have been achieved
«  Pulitical resistance to the concept of contracting with third parties to provide IT solutions

= Legislative changes affecting a local government’s authority to contract with third parties

= Varying bid procedures and internal processes for bid aceeptance

+  Various other political factors, including changes in governmental administrations and personnel

Each of these risks is outside our control, If we fuil to adequately adapt to these risks and uncertninties, our financial performance ceuld be adversely affected,
COVID-19 may adversely affect our business and resulls of operations.

We extpect that the continued global presence of COVID=19 may negatively impact our business and financial results in fiscal year 2023. As the virus continues to persist, increased infection rates
(generally or as the result of new strains of the virug) may result in government suthorities returning to stricter measures to contain the virus, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, and
business limitations and shutdowns. While we are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 will continue to have on our results from eperations. financial condition, liquidity and
cash flows due te numerous uncertainties, including the duration and severity of the pandemic and containment measures and associated compliance, the pandemic may negatively impact our revenues
and other financial resulis.

Because an increasing portion of our revenues are recurring, the effect of COVID-19 on our results of eperations may alse not be fully reflected for some time. We may see some more immediate
impact on our business should there be new delays in government procurement processes and uncertainty around public sector budgets, or new delays in implementations caused by travel restrictions,
closed offices, or clients shifting Tocus to more pressing issues.

Appraisal and software implementations projects may be delayed if clients put projects en hold or slow projects by extending go-live dates. While we have the ability to deliver most of our
professional services remotely, some of our professional services, including appraisal assessments, are more effective when performed on-site, and eertain clients may continue to insist on on-site
services in any event. In addition, our delivery of sotne professional services requires the availability of client personnel. There may be a negative impact on our revenues it we are unable to deliver
these services. Also, we expect software licenses and subscriptions revenues to be negatively affected if there are delays in procurement processes. Some clieats could request changes to payment
terms, negatively impacting the timing of collections of accounts receivables in future perieds. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 80% of our total revenues and earnings are relatively
predictable as a result of our subscription and maintenance revenue, which is recurring in naturs; thus the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic may not be fully reflected in our results of operations and
overall financial performance vatil future periods.

We have histerically evaluated goodwill for impainnent annually as of October 1, or more frequently if impairment indicators arose. Subsequent to our annual goodsyill impairment analysis, we
monitor for any events or changes In circumstances, such ag significant adverse changes in business climate or eperating results, changes in management’s business strategy, an inability ta successfully
introduce new products in the marketplace, an inability to successfully achieve internal forecasts er significant declines in eur stock price, which may represent an indicator of impairment. The
accurrence of any of these events, which couk! be caused or impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, may require us to record future goodwill impairment charges.

A prolonged economic slowdown could hurm our operations,
A prolenged economie slowdown or recession could reduce demand for our sefiware products and services, Governments may face financial pressures that could in turn affect our growth rate and

profitability in the future. There is no assurance that government spending levels will be unaffected by declining or stagnant general cconemic conditiens, and if budget shortfalls eceur, they may
negatively impact government [T spending and could adversely affect our business.
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The open bidding process creaies wacertainly in predicting future confrac! awards.

Many governmental agencies purchase products and services through an epen bidding process. Generally, & governmental entity will publish an established list of requirements requesting potential
vendars to propese solutions for the established requirements. To respond successlully to these requests for proposals, we mwst accurately estimate our cost structure for servicing a proposed contract,
the time required to establish operations for the praposed client, and the likely terms of any other third-party proposals submitted. We cannot guarantee that we will win any bids in the future through
the request for proposal process, or that any winning bids will ultimately result in contracts on favorable terms. Our failure to secure contracts through the open bidding process, or to secure such
contracts on favorable terms, may adversely affect our revenues and gross margins.

We force significant competition from other veidors and potential new entrants inle our markets.

We believe we are a leading provider of integrated solutions for the public sector. Jlowever, we face competition from a varisty of software vendors that offer products and services similar to these
offered by us, as well as from compauies offering to develop custom software. We compete based on & number of factors, including:

«  The attractiveness of our “evergreen” business model

+  The breadth, depth, and quality of our product and service offerings

+  The ability to modify our offerings (o accommodate particular clients’ needs
+  Technological inngvation

+  Name recogaition, reputation and references

+  Price

«  Qur financial strength and stability

Our market is highly fragmented with a lasge number of competitors that vary in size, product platform, and product scape, Our competitors include consulting firms. publicly held companiss that
focus on selected segments of the public sector market, and a significant number of smaller, privately held sempanies. Certain competitors huve greater iechnical, marketing, and financial resources
thian we do. We cannot assure you that such competitors will not develop products or offer services that are superiar to our products or services or that achieve greater market aceeptance.

We alse compets with internal, centralized IT departments of governmental entities, which requires us to persuade the end-user to stop.the intemal service and outsource to us. In addition, our clients
and prospective clients could eleet to provide information management services internally through new or existing departments, which could reduce the market for our services.

We could face additional competition as other established and smerging companies enter the publie sector software market and new products and technologies are infroduced. Increased competition
could result in pricing pressure, fewer client orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share. Current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective clients. It is possible that new competitors or alliances may
emerge and rapidly gain significant market share, We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successtully against current and future competitars, and the failure to do so would have a
material adverse elfect upon our business.

Fixed-price contracts may affect our profits.
Some of our coniracts are structured on a fixed-price basis, which can lead to varicus risks, including:

+  The failure to accurately estimate the resourees and time required for an engagement
+  The tailure to effectively manage our clients’ expectations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed fee
+  The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engugements within budget

If we do not adequately assess and manage these and other risks, we may be subject to cost overruns and penalties, which may harm our finaneial performancs.
Chongey in the insurance muarkels may ffect our business.

Soime of our clients, primarily those for our properly appraisal services, require that we secure perfarmance bonds before they will select us as their vendor, Tn addition, we have in the past been
required ta provide letters of credit as seeurity for the issuance of a performance bond. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure such performance bonds in the future on terms that are
favorable te us, i€ at all. Our inability to obtain performance bonds on Favorable tenns or at all could impact our future ability to win some contract awards, particularly large properly appraisal services
contracts, which could negatively impact revenues. In addition, the geveral insurance markets may experience volatility andior restrictive coverage trends, which may lead to future increases in our
general and administeative expense and negatively impact our operating results,
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Rishs Releted to Our Indebtedness

Servicing our indebiedness requires o significant amount of cash. We may not have sfficient cash flow from owr business to puy o indebiedness, and we may not otherwise bave the ability (o raise
the funds nevessary te settle for cash conversions of the Cotvertible Senior Notes or o repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes upon a fundamental change, or to repuay our indebiedness obligation:
nder cur 2021 Credit Agreemen, each of which could adversely affect aur business and resulls of uperations.

As of December 31, 2022, we had oulstanding an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of our Convertible Senfor Notes and $395 million under our 2021 Credit Agreement. In April 2021, we
entered into the 2021 Credit Agreement with significantly increased borrowing capacity of up 1o $1.4 billion and an the closing of the acquisition of NIC on April 21, 2021, we borrowed Initial loans in
the aggregate principal amount of $1.15 billion. The 2021 Cradit Agreement also has an option (o incrense the amount available ap to an addilional $500 million subject 1o our leverage and other
factors. The proceeds from the issuancs of cur Convertible Senior Notes and from loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement were used as sources of funding for the acquisition of NIC, Our indebtedness
may increase our vulnerability to any generally adverse economic and industry conditions, and we and our subsidiaries may, subject to the limitations in the terms of our existing and future
indebtedness, inew additional debt, secure existing or future debt or recapitalize our debt. If we incur additional indebtedness, the risks related to our business would increase and our ability to service
or repay our indebtedness may be adversely impacted.

Puisuant to their terms, holders may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at their option prior to the scheduled maturities of their Convertible Senior Notes under certain circumstances. Upon
conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect (o deliver solely shares of our commeon stock Lo settle such conversion {other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any [ractional share), we
will be obligated to make cash payments. In addition, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase their Convertible Senior Notes upon the oceurrence of a
fundamental change (as defined in the [ndenture, dated as of March 9, 2021, between the Company and U.S. Banlk National Association, as irustee (the “Trustes™ {the “Tnclenture™), at a repurchase
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Although it is our intention, and we currenily expect to have the
ability, to settle the Cenvertible Senior Notes in cash, there is a risk that we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of
Convertible Senior Notes surrendered or Convertible Senior Notes being converted, In addition, our ability © make payments may be limited by law, by regulatory authority, ot by agreements
governing our future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchuse Convertible Senior Notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the Indenture or to pay any cash payable on future conversions of
the Convertible Senior Notes as required by the Indenture would constitute a defauit under the Indenture. A default under the Indenture or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default
undler agreenients governing our other existing or future indebtedness. If the repayment of other indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have
sufficient funds to repay the other indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes or make cash payments upen conversions thereof.

Our-ability to make scheduled payments of the principal and interest on our indebtedness when due or to make payments upon conversion or repurchase demands with respect to our Convertible Senior
Notes, or to refinance our indebtedness as we may need or desire, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive, and other factors beyond our control. Qur
business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient ta satisty our abligations under our existing indebtedness, and any future indebtedness we may ineur, and to
make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as reducing or delaying investments or capital
expenditures, selling assets, refinancing, or obtaining additional equity capital cn terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability fo refinance existing or future indebtedness will depend on
the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on
our existing or future indebtedness and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition,

Covenani resirictiony under our indebiedness may limit our ability to operate ow business and muy adversely affect owr financial condition, results of operations, and earnings per share.

The Tndenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreement do, and our future indebtedness agreements may, contain covenants that may restriet our ability to finance [uture
operations or capital needs or ta engage in other business activitics, Subject to customary carve-puts, thresholds and baskets. the 2021 Credit Agreement {and the Indenturc by means of a crosg-default)
restricts, absent consent of the agent and lenders under the 2021 Credit Agreement, our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to, among other things:

» Incur additional indebtednass,

»  Permit licns oo our assets,

+  Make certain investments, acquisitions and dispositiens,
+ Make certain specified fundamental changes, and

+  Make certain restricted payments.




In addition, the 2621 Credit Agreement (and the Indenture by means of a cross-default) contains other customary affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default. The 2021 Credit Agreement
is unsecured but requires us te maintain certain financial ratios regarding our total leverage and interest coverage and other financial conditions in addition to the restrictions described above. Events
beyvond our control, including changes in general sconomic and business conditions, may result in a bieach of any of these covenants and result in a defautt under the 2021 Credit Agreement that may,
in turn, result in a defaolt under the Indenture. If an event of default under the 2021 Credit Agreement oceurs, the lenders could terminate all commitmenis to lend and elect o declare all amounts
outstanding thereunder, together with acerued interest, fo be immediately due and payable. If we were unable to pay such amounts, the lenders could proceed against the guarantees by our direct and
indirect material domestic subsidiaries. Should the lenders proceed against the guarantees, we cannot give assurance that we would have sufficient asse(s to pay amounts due on the 2021 Credit
Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes,

Varinble rate indebiedness subjects the Company to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligutions to increase significaitly.

Our borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement are, and are expected to continue to be, at variable rates of interest and expose Tyler to interest rate risk. If interest rates continue to incrense, our debt
serviee obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income would decrease. Revolving credit facility loans and Term
A-1 Loans under the 2021 Credit Agresment bear interest at a per annum rate equal to, at our option, either (1) the administrative agent’s prime commercial lending rats (subject to certain higher rate
determinations) {the “Base Rate™} plus a margin of 0,125% te 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subjeet te approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%.
Our Term A2 Loans bear interest, at our oplion, at a per annum rate of either (1} the Base Rato plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2} the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-
month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to 1.5%, The margin in each case is based upon our total net leverage ratio, as determined puusvant 1o the 2021 Credit Agreement. Based on the debt under
the 2021 Credit Agreement, the ageregate principal outstanding balance as of December 31, 2022 is $395.0 million, and each quarter point change in interest rafes wouild result in a $1.0 million change
in annual interest expense.

LTBOR, the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected to transition to a new standard rate, the Secured Overmnight Financing Rate
(“SOFR"), which will incorporate certain ovemight repo market data collected from multiple data sets. Tn January 2023, we amended our 2021 Credil Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rats
with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact on cur operations.

The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Senior Notes, if triggered, mey adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations,

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the notes is triggered, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will be entitied fo convert the Convertible Senior Notes at any time during speetficd
periods at their option. If onie or more holders elect to convert thetr Convertible Senior Notes, uless we elect fo satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares of cur common siock
{other than paving cash in lisu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required to settle a portion or all of our conversion obligation through the payment aof cash, which could adversely affect
our liquidity, In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert thelr Convertible Senior Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding
principal of the notes as a current rather than long~term liability, which would result in a material reduction ¢f our nef working capital.

Transcctions relating te our Convertible Senior Notes may affect the value of owr common steck,

Our Convertible Senior Notes may become convertible in the future at the option of their holders under certain eircumstances. If holders of our Convertible Senior Netes elect to convert their notes, we
may settle our conversion obligation by delivering to them a significant number of shares of our common stock, which would cause dilution to our existing shareholders,




Risks Associnted with Qur Periodic Results and Stock Price
Fhictuations in quartcrly revennes could adversely impact our operating resulls and stock price.
Our revenues ane opsrating results are difficult to pradict and may fluctuate substantially from quarter to quarter for a variety of reasons, including:

«  'The size of license transactions can vary significantly

+  Clients may unexpectedly postpone or cancel procurement processes due to changes in strategic priorities, project objectives, budget, or personnel

«  Client purchasing processes vary significantly and a client's internal approval, expenditure authorization, and contract negotiation proeesses can be difficolt and time consuming o
complete, even afier selection of a vendor

+  The number, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new software product announcements by us and our competitors may affect purchase decisions

»  We may have to defer revenues under our revenue recognition pelicies and GAAP

+  Clients may elect subscription-based arrangements, which result in lower software license revenues in the initial year as compared te traditional, on-premise software license
arrangements, but generate higher recurring revenues over the term of the contract

In each fiscal quarter, our expense levels, operating costs, and hiring plans are based to some extent on projections of future revenues and are relatively fixed. If our actual revenues fall below
expectations, we could experience a reduction in operating results. Also, if' actual revenues or sarnings for any given quarter fall below sxpectations, it may lead to & decline in our stock price.

Increwses i investment fn rescarch and development could decregse overall marging.

An important element of our corporate strategy is to continue fo dedicats a significant amount of resources to research and development and related product and service opportunities both through
internal investments and the acquisition of intellectual property from companies that we have acquired. We believe that we must continue to dedicate a signiticant amount of resources to our ressarch
and development efforts to maintain our competitive position, and research and development expense could adversely affect operating margins.

Qur stock price may be volutile,
The market price of our common stock may be volatile. Examples of factors that may significantly impact our stock price include:

+  Actual or anteipated flucruations in our operating results

= Annguncements of technological innovations, new products, or new contracts by us or our competitors
= Developments with respect to patents, copyrights, or other proprietary rights

+  Conditiens and trends in the software and other technology industiies

= Changes in financial estimates by securities analysts

+  General market conditions and other factors

In addition, the stock market bas from time fo time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affecied the market prices of techmolegy company stocks and may in the
future adversely affect the market price of our stock, Sometimes, securities class action litigation is tiled following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company's securities. We
cannot assure you that similar litigation will not ecour in the future with respect to us. Such litigation could result in substantial cests and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which
could have a material adverse efect npon our tinancial performance.

Our financial outlook may not be realized,

From time to time, in press releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or other forward-looking statements regarding our results, including estimated revenues or earnings. Any forecast of our
future performance reflects various assumptions. These asswmptions are subject to significant uncertainties, and as a matter of course, any number of them may prove 1o be incorrect, Further, the
achizvement of any Ferecast depends on numerous risks and other factors {including these described in this discussion), many of which are beyonel our control. As a result, we cannot be certain that our
petformance will be consistent with any management forecasts or that the variation (ror such forecasts will not be material and adverse. Current and potential stockholders are cantioned not fo base
their entire analysis of our business and prospects upon isolated predictions. but instead nre encournged to utilize our entire publicly available mix of historical and forward-looking information, as well
as other available information regarding s, our products and services, and the soliware indlustry when evaluating our prospective results of operations.
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Risks Associated with Our Growth Strategy nnd Other General Corporate Risks
We muy experience difficidties in executing owr gegquisition sprategy:

A material portion of our historical growth has resulted from strategic acquisitions. Although our focus is on organic internal growth, we will continue te identify and pursue sliategic acquisitions with
suitable candidates. These transactions involve significant challenges and risks, including risks that u fransuction dees not advance our business strategy; that we do not achieve the expected return on
our iwvestment; that we have ditficulty integrating business systems and technolegy; that we have difficully retaining or integrating new employees; that the transactions distract management from our
other businesses; that we acquire unforeseen liabilities; and other unanticipated events. Qur future success will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate future acquisitions into our
operations. 1t may take longer than expected to realize the fuli benefits of these transactions, such as increased revenue, enhanced elficiencies, or incrensed market share, or the benefits may be
ultimately less than we expected. Although we conduct due diligence reviews of potential acquisition candidates, we may not identify all material liabilities or risks related to acquisition candlidates.
There can be no assurance that any such strategic acquisitions will be accomplished on favorable terms oi will result in profitable operations.

Cur failure to properfy manage growth could adversely affect our business,

We continue fo expand our operations by pursuing existing and potential market opportunities. This growth places significant demands on management and operational resources. In erder to manage

growth effectively, we must implement and improve our operational systems, progedures, and controls on a timely basis. If we fail to implement these systems, our business may be materially
adversely affected.

We niey be unable to hire, integrate, and retain guadifled personnel.

Our continued success will depend upon the availability and performancs of our key management, sales, marketing, client support, and product development personnel. The loss of key management or
technical personnel could adversely affect us. We believe that ouwr continued suecess will depend in large part upen our ability to attract, intsgrate, and retain such personnel, We have at times
experienced and continue to experience challenges [n recruiting qualified personnel. Competition tor qualified software development, sales, and other personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you
that we will be suceessful in attracting and retaining such personnel. In addition, competitive job markets may increase our costs relating to compensation packages due to higher salary expectarions
and pressures.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporaie governgnce mey result in addifional expenses.

Changing laws. reguiations, and stancards relating to corporate governance, comphance, and public disciosure can create uncertainty for public campanies. The costs required to comply with such
evolving laws across the various states and at the Federal level are difficult to predict and/or harmonize. To maintain high standards of corporate governance, compliance, and public disclosure, we
intend to invest all reasonably necessary resources fo comply with evolving standards, This investment may result in an unforeseen increase in general and administrative expense and a diversion of
management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities, which may harm our eperating results,

We do nof Joresee puving dividends on our conunon siock.

We have not declared nor paid a cash dividend since we entered the business of providing software solutions and services to the public sector in 1998, We intend to retain earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business. We do not amicipate paying any cash dividends on eur commen stock in the foreseeable future.

Provisions it owr certifivate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delevare law could deter takeover ailtempts,

Our board of directors may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and may determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including voting and conversion rights, of these
preferred shares, These determinations may be made without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders of our common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely
atfected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of prefemed stock may make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire a majerity of our
ocuwtstanding voling stock. T addition, some provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and the Delaware General Corperation Law could also delay, prevent, or make more difficult a
merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving us.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Mot applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

We occupy a total of approximately 1.3 million square feet of office space, of which approximately 746,000 square feet is in various office facilities we own. We own or lease offices for our major
operations in the states of Arkansas, Arizona, California, Colorade, Connecticut, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Massachusetts, Maine, Michigan, Missouri, Montana, North Carolina, New York,
Ohio, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, Washington, Washington D.C., Wisconsin, Ontario and British Columbiz, Canada and the Philippines.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

During the first quarter 2022, the Company received a notice of termination for convenience for professional services under a contractual arrangement with a state client. Upon receipt of the
lermination notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of approximately $15 million in connection with the termination
[or convenience. As of December 31, the total exposure in our (inancial statements included the remaining balance of net billed accounts receivable for licenses and services rendered under the contract
of approximately $12 million,

The client was unresponsive to company outreach for several months. On August 23, 2022, the Company filed a lawsuit to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable contractual
arrangement. The client has not filed responsive pleadings and no other significant activity has occurred in the lawsuit. Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance
with the terms of our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenience, af this time the matter remains unresolved, We are unable to estimate the
probability of a favarable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, if any, related to this matter. We can previde no assurances that we will not incur
additionsl costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contract.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS,

Not applicable.
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PARTII
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND [SSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our sommon stock is traded on the New York Stock Lixchange under the symbol “TYL™. At December 3 1, 2022, we had approximately 1,065 stockholders of recard. Mest of our steckholders hold
their shares in street name; therefore, there are substantially more than 1,063 beneficial owners of our common stock.

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2022 or 202 . Our bunk credit agreement contains restrietions on the payment of cash dividends. We intend to retain earnings for use in the operation and
expansion of our business and do not unticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable luture.

The following table summarizes certain information refated to our stock incentive plan, restricted stock units and our employee stock purchase plan. There are no warrants or rights related to our squity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2022.

Number of securities remaining available

Number of securities to for
be issued npon exercise fature issuance under
of outstanding options, warrants, purchase squity compensation
rights Weighted average plans (exelnding securities reflected in
and vesting of restricted stock units ns of exercise price of outstanding oplicns inittal column

December 3 1, 2022 and unvested restricted stock units

as of December 31, 2022)

Pln Catepory

Equity compensation plans a

aved by security sha_rehoh_ler_s:: . ) . )

£:901B Tncentive Stock Plat. 1 * .| 2076 S g T T T T as 531

__ Employee Stock Purchase Plan. _ ) L 11,092 L 274,05 376,343

Eeuity compensation I.J]_ﬂ_l.l.s not approved by sécurizy sharebolders S s BRI ORI s P L
2,089,333 3§ 26364 1,830,874

As of December 31, 2022, we had authorization to repurchase up to approximately 2.3 million additional shares of Tyler common stock. During 2022, we purchased no shares of our commen stock.

A suymmary of the repurchase activity during 2022,is as follows:

Additiony]l number of shares Myximum number of shares that
Total number of shares authorized that may be may be repurchased under
Period repurchased repurchased Average price paid per share cwrrent authorization

.2:344,200

Thres ionths:ended Marcli 33 ;-

2,344,200

The repurchase program, which was approved by aur board of directors, was announced in Octaber 2002, and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2019, There is no expiration date
specilied for the authorization, and we intend tw repurchase stock under the program from time te time.

As of February 22, 2023, we had remaining authovization to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of our common stock.




Performance Graph
The following Performance Grapl and related frmetion shail not he decmed “soliciting material” or lo be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be
incorparated by reference inte any futtre filing under the Secupities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchunge dct of 1934, each as amended, except fo the extent thut we specifically incorporate it by
reference info such filing

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the Srandard and Poor’s 600 Information Technology [ndex
agsuming a $100 investment made on December 31,2017, Each of the three measures of cumulative total return assumes reinvestiment of dividends. The stock performance showa on the grapl: below

is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

$450

$375

$0 1 T T 3
12731417 1231718 12/31419 1231120 12731728 1231122
e Tyler Tevhuologies, Tne.  ——#@— $&P 500 Stock Index -~ S&P 608 Information Technology Index
Company./ Index . 12/31/17 12/31/18 12131119 12/31/20 12/31/21 ) 12/31/22
Tyler Teclsiologies, It TR el TGOS e v BAGES L A0 IR B
&P 500 Stock Index 125.72 19158 156,88
""" i 206:09 160,00

SR ]hfgi‘n{aﬁon'féclm(ﬁ_logy_ln_:lc.\_c _‘ s 127,12 :

ITEM 6.

This section lus been eliminated as a result of adopting the November 19, 2020, amendment to Item 301 of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes ineluded in [tem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Fora
comparison of our Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2029, and our Cash Flow discussion for the year ended Decemnber 2021, see "Part 11, Lism 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operatiens” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2021, as filed with the SEC on February 23, 2022.

CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This docurnent coniains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that ave not histerical in
nature and typically address future or anticipated events, trends, expectations or beliefs with respect to our financial condition, results of operations or business. Forward-looking statements often
conlain words such as “believes.” “expects,” “anticipates,” “foresees,” “forecasts,” “estimates,” “plans,” “intends,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “‘projects,” “might,” “could” or other similar
words or phrages. Similarly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlook, objectives, plans, intentions or goals 2lso are forward-looking statements. We believe there is a reasonable basis for
our forward-leoking statements, but they are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results could differ materially from the expectations and beliefs reflected in the forward-looking
statements. We presently consider the follewing to be among the intportant factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expeciations and beliefs: (1) the continuing effects of the
COVID-19 pandemmic, including its potential effects on the ecenomic environment, our customers and our operations, as well as any changes to federal, state or Tocal government laws, regulations or
orders in comnection with the pandemic; (2) changes in the budgets or regulatory environments of eur clients, primarily local and state governments, that could negatively impact information
technology spending; (3} disrption to eur business and harm to our competitive position resulting from cyber-attucks and security vulnerabilities; (4} our abikity to protect client information from
security breaches and provide uninterrupted operations of data centers; (5} our ability to achieve growth or operational synergies through the infegration of acquired businesses, while avoiding
unanticipated costs and disruptions to existing operations; (6) material portions of our business require the internet infrastructure to be adequately maintained; (7) our ability to achieve our financial
forecasts due to various fuctors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in transuction size, fewer transactions, delays in delivery of new products or releases or a decline in our renewal rates
for service agreements; (8) general economic, political and market conditions, including inflation and changes in interest rates; (9} technelogical and market risks asseciated with the developinent of
new products or services or of new versions of existing or acquired products or services: (10) competition in the industry in which we conduct business and the impact of competition on pricing, client
retention and pressure for new products or services; { 11} the ability to atiract and retain qualified personnel and dealing with the loss or retirement of key members of management or other key
personnel; and {12) costs of compliance and auy failure to comply with government and stock exchange regulations. A detailed discussion of these factors and other risks that affect our business are
deseribed in Ttem 1A, “Risk Factors™, We expressly disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements

"o " ” o "

OVERVIEW
General

We provide integrated information management solutions end services for the public sector, We develop and market a broad line of software products and services to address the IT needs of publie
sector entities. We provide subscription-based services such as software as a service {“SaaS”), transaction-based fees primarily relaied to digital government services and online payment processing,
and electronic document filing solutions {“e-filing”}, which simplify the filing and management of court related documents. Tn addition, we provide professional IT services to our clients, including
software aid hardware installation, data conversion, training, and for certain clients, product modifications, elong with continuing maintenance and suppert for clients using our systems. Additionally,
we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

We provide our software systems and related professional services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on the [ollowing products:

+  financial management, education and planning, regulatery, and maintgnance software solutions,

«  financial management, municipal courts, plarning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

«  couris and justice and public safety software solutions,

< data and insights solutions;

+  gppraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services:
»  development platform solutions ineluding case management and business process management; ancd

+  digital government and payments solutions.




In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segnient Reporting, we report our results in two reportable segments. The Enterprise Soflware {“ES™) reporiable segment provides public sector entities with software
systems and serviges to meet their information technology and mutomation needs for mission-critical “back-office” functions such as: financial management and education; planning, regulatery and
maintenance; cowrts and justice; public safety; datn and insights; appraisal and tax soltware sclutions; land and vital recards management software solutions; and property appraisal setvices. The
Platform Technologies (“PT*"} reportable segment provides public sector entities with software solutions to perform transaction processing, streamline data processing, and improve operations and
workflows such as digital government and payments solutions mxl development platform solutions.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We define segrment operating income for our business units as income
before non-cash antortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Segment operating incotne includes intercompany transactions. The majority of
intercompany transactions relate to contracts involving more than one unit and arc valued based on the contractual arrangement. Corparate scgment operating loss primarily consists of compensation
costs For the executive management team, certain shared services staff, and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also includes revenues and
expenses related to & company-wide user confersnce.

As of January 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software solutions, Jand and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal service business unit, which was previously reported in
the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved to the ES reportable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was previously reported in the NIC reportable
segmen:, and development platform solutions maved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way n which management makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the
growth and profitability of the Company, As a result of the changes in our reportable segments, the former A&T and NIC reportable segments are no longer considered separate segiments. Prior period
amounts for the ES and PT reportable sepments have been adfusied to reflect the segment change. See Note 17, "Sepment and Related Information,” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
for additional information.

Certain ameunts tor previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation, We have elected to present amortization of software development, previously included in the cost
of revenues sollware licenses and royalties ling item, In a separate category line item on the consolidated statements of inceme for all reporting periods presented. Previously disclosed as selling,
general and administrative expense is now disclosed i separate line ftems: sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expsnse on the consolidated statements of income for all
reporting periods presented,

Recent Acquisitions
2022

Oa October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financizl Solutions, LLC, a principal provicer of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class cerd issuance and digital disbursement capabilities.
The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51,2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of commen stock, and $500,000 related to
working capital holdbacks, subject to certain posi-clesing adjustments.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDirect). a leading provider of wechnology selutions for campground and outdoor recreation management. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

2021

On Septernber 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Infarmation Systems, Inc. {(dba Amx). Arx is a cloud-based platform which creates accessible technology to enable a modern-day
police Force that is fully transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource io the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was approximately $12.8 million.

On Seplember 1, 2021, we acguired VendEngine, Inc (VendEngine), a clowd-based seftware provider focused on financial technology for the corrections market. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.6 million paid in cash, and approximately $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, a leading dipiml government solutions and payment company that primarily serves federal and state government agencies. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billien, cansisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $ 1.9 millien of purchase consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock

awards.

On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions, Glass Arc, Inc. {dba ReadySub) and DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), for the combined purchase price of $12. 1 million,




2022 Operating Rexulix

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues increased 16% compared to the prior periad, Excluding the 2022 impact of recent acquisitions', total revenues increased 4% compared
to prior peried, Revenues from acquisitions contributed 12.4% of growth [or the twelve months ended December 31, 2022,

Subscriptions revesue grew 29.0% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, due to an ongoing shift toward a cloud-based, sottware as a service business madel, as well as the inclusion of
transaction-based revenue from NIC's digital government and payments processing businesses. Excluding the 2022 Impact of recent acquisitions, subscriptions revenue increased 6.3% for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2022,

The majority of our revenuss are comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues. Annualized recurring revenues ("ARR") is calculated based
on quarter-io-date end total recurring revenues multiplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billicn and $1.39 billion as of Decemnber 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior
period, due to an increase in subscriptions revenue due to an ongoing shift toward Saa$S arrangements.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues include COVID-related subscriptions revenue of $10.8 million from NIC's Tour Health offering and professional services revenue of
$40.2 millien from pandemic unemployment and Virginia rent relief offerings. These programs all ended in 2022 and we do not expect to generate COVID-related subscriptions revenue and
professional services revenue in future periods.

We monitor and analyze several key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating performance. These indicators include the fellowing:

Revenues - We derive our revenues from [ive primary sources: subscription-based arrangemenis; maintenance; professional services; sale of software licenses and royslties; and appraisal services.
Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources and comprised approximately 80% of our revenues in 2022, The number of new SaaS clients and the mumber of existing
clients who cenvert from our traditional software arrangements to our Saa8 model are a significant driver of our revenue growth, together with new software license sales and maintenance rate
increases, We monitor ARR which is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring revenues multiplied by four. As of December 3 1, 2022, ARR was $1.50 billion. In addition, we also
monitor our custemer base and turnover, which historically is very low. During 2022, based on cur number of customers, turnover was approximately 2%.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins — Our primary cost component {s personnel expenses in connection with providing software Implementation, subscription-based services, maintenance and
support, and appraisal services to our clients, We can improve gross margins by controliing headeount and related costs and by expanding our revenue base, especially from those products and

. gervices that producs incremental reverue with minimal incremental cost, such as software licenses and royalties, subscription-based services, and maintenance and suppert. Cur appraisal projects
arc-cyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short-term basis to coincide with the life of a project. As of December 3 1, 2022, our total emplayee count included in cost of
reyenues increased to 5,021 from 4,746 at December 11, 2021, including 56 employees wha joined us through acquisitions completed since December 31, 2021

Sales and Marketing (*S&M) Expense — The primery components of S&M expense includs sales personnel salarfes and share-based compensation expense, sales commissfons, travel-related
expenses, advertising and marketing materials, and aliocated depreciation, facilities, and IT support. Sales commissions fypically fluctuate with revenues and share-based compensation expense
generally increases based increased level of awards issues during the period and es the tarket price of our stock increases. Other administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than
[EVENUES.

General and Administrative (“G&A’) Expense — The primary components of G&A expense include persennel salaries and share-based compensation expense for general corporate functions,
including senior management, tinance, accounting, legal, human resources and corporate development, third parly professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, allocation of depreciation,
facilities and IT support costs, acquisiticn=related expenses and other administrative expenses. Share-bused compensation expense generally increases as the market price of our stock increases,
Other administralive expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than revenuss,

Liquickty and Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flows is nef income, Uses of cash include acquisitions, capital investments in property and equipment and discretionary purchases of
treasury stock. Our working capital needs are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant components of cash outflows being payment of personnef expenses offset by cash inflows
representing collection of accounts receivable and cash receipts from clients in advance of revenue being earned. In recent years,

! Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.
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we have also received significant amounts of cash from employees exercising stock options and contributing to our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Balance Sheet — Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and deferred revenue balances are important indicators of our business,
Outloak

The local government software market continues to be active with sales activity trending at or near pre-pandemic levels in most sectors of our business, and our backlog at December 31, 2022 reached
$1.89 billion, a 5% Increase from the prier period. We expect to continue to achieve solid growth in revenues and earnings. With our strong financial pesition and cash flow, we plan to continue to
make significant investments in product development and accelerating our move to the cloud to better position us to continue fo expand our addressable market and strengthen our competitive position
over the long term. The expenses associated with the cloud transition are expected to pressure operating margins in 2023 and 2024.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
acoepted in the United States (“GAAP™). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and expenses during the reperting peried, and related disclosure of contingencies. The Notes to the Finaocial Statements
included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements, Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions
inelucle the application of the progress toward cempletion methods of revenue recognition, estimated standalone selling price ("SSP") for distinet performance obligations, the fair value amount and
estimated useful lives of intangible assets, determination of share-based compensation expense and allowance for losses and sales adjustments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we belisve to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for maling judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
nat readily apparent from other sources, Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies require signiticant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. We eam revenues from sottware licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, professionsl services, post-contract customer suppert (“PCS™ or “maintenance™), hardware, and
appraisal services. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those
products or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

«  Identification of the contract, or contracts, with & customer

+  Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

+  Determination of the transactien price

+  Allocation of the transaction price to the performances obligations in the contract
= Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Our software arrangements with cusiomers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses and Saa8 arrangements, installation, training, and censulting to software
modification and customization to meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. Fer these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately when they are distinet.
We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinct or should be accounted For as one performance obligation. Arrangements that include professional services, such as training or
installation, are evaluated to determine whether the customer ean benefit from the services either on their own or together with other resources readily available to the customer and whether the
services are separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Many of our software arrangements invelve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to "effrthe~shelf”
software licenses and specified upgrades at & point in time when conirel of the seftware icense transters to the cusfomer, unless the software is not consicerad distinet. We consider otf-the-shelf
software to be digtinet when it can be added to an arrangement with miner changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon instatlation, and remaining
services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated (o he product’s functionality.
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For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over
time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor heurs incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which scours as we incur
cosls on our contracis. These afrangements are aften implemented over an extended period aud occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenus are calculated
using the progress-to-completion mensurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Fstimaied logses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that 2 less {s apparent. When professional services are distinet, the fee allocable to the service element
is recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed & & time and malerial or milestones basis.

Subseription-based services consist of revenues derived from SaaS arrangements, transaction and payment processing, electrenic filing transactions, and digital government services, Revenue from
subscription-based services is generally recognized over time on a ratable basis ever the contract term, beginning on the date that our service is made available to the custemer. For SaaS artangements,
we evaluate whether the customer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting peticd without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly
maintain the software e the customer’s hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party to host the software. We allocate contract value to each performance abligation of the
arrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize Sga$ ariangements ratably aver the terms of the arrangements, which range from one to ten years,
but are typically for periads of three to five years. For professional services associated with certain Saa$ arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinet, and we recognize the
revenue ratably over the remaining contractual period once we have provided the customer access to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred
revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

For transaction and payments revenue and e-filing transaction fees, we have the right to charge the customer an amount that directly corresponds with the value to the customer of our performanee 1o
date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services over time based on the amount billable te the customer in accordanee with the 'as inveiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-35-18. In some
cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual peried Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However,
in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in cur estimates, additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be
estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis, We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market
conditians and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographies, and the number and types of users within our contracis. We use a range of amounts to
estimate SSP when we sell each of the praducts and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services,
In instances whers SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach. Revenue is
recognized net of allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to govermnental autherities,

We maintain zllowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss is incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic governmental entities, we
rarely incur a credit loss resulting from the inability of a client to make required payments, Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales
adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to, managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or errors in new versions or
enhancements of our software products. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of $14,8 million and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022, and Decentber 31, 2021, respectively, does not
include provisions for credit losses. As of January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financic! Inshiments - Credit Losses, and primarily evaluated cur historicat experience with credit losses related
to trade and other receivables. Becavse we rarely experience credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit losses.

In connection with certain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting of costs and estimated profit in excess of billings as of the balance sheet date.
Many of the contracts which give rise to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet date are subject to billings in the subsequent accounting period. We review unbilled receivables and related
contract provisions te ensure we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to billing the customer and that we have objective evidence which allows us to recognize such revenue. In addition, we have a
sizable amount of defrred revenue, which represents billings in excess of revenue earned. The majority of this lability consists of subscriptions and maintenance billings for which payments are made
in adyance and the revenue is ratably earned over the subscription or maintenance billing period, generally one year. We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we recelve a deposit
and the conditions in which to record revenue for the service or product have not been met. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred revenue to ensure our
accounting remains appropriate.




Business Conmtbinetions. Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective tair values.
The determination of fair value requires the use of signiticant estimates and assumptions, and in makiyg these determinations, management uses all available information,

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets ncquired in & business combination, management estimates the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted market prices, the
carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash Mows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions made in performing these valurtions
include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions believed to be consistent with those used by principal market
participants,

Dus to the specialized nature of these calewlations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating our assumptions as well as appropriately measuring the Tair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain new information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the closing date. [F actual results are muterially diiferent than the assumnptions we used to determine fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed through a
business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assets, it is possible that adjusiments to the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact
en our financial position and results of operations.

Intungible dsyets and Goodwill. Our business sequisitions typically result in the creation of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, and these balances affect the amount and timing of Muturs
period amortization expense, as well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an impairment charge. The cost of acquired companies is allecated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets
based on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated to goodwill. Accordingly, we have a significant balance of acquisition date intangible assets, including saftware, customer related intangibles,
trade name, leases and goodwill, These intangible assets (other than goodwill) ate amortized ever their estimated useful lives. We currently have no intangible assets with indefinite lives other than
goodwill,

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or mere frequently whenever events or changes in eircumstances indicate its earrying value may not be recoverablie. We begin with the qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its canying value before applying the quantitative assessment described below. When testing goodwill for
impairment quantitatively, we first compare the air value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. IF the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized, The fair values caleulated in our impairment tests are determined using discounted cash flow models involving several assumptions {Level 3 inputs). The
assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain, We evaluate the reasonablensss of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by comparing the fotal of the fair value of all of our
reporting vnits to our tolal market eapitalization.

During the fourth quarter, as part of our annual impainment test as of October !, we petforined qualitative assessments for the reporting units containing the recently acquired data and insights, digital
government and payments salutions, and deveiopment platform solutions, and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. Approximately $1.7 billion, or 70%, of total goedwall
as of December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting units, which os a result of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant exeess fair values over carrying values. We performed qualitative
assessments for the remaining reporting units in which we detesmined that it not more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value, therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative
impairment test. Qur annual goodwill impairment analysis did net result {n an impairment charge, During 2022, we have recorded no impairment to goodwill as no triggering events or change in
circumstances indicating a4 potential impairment has occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair valus of sur reporting units invalves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we
believe Lo be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty, Changes in market cenditions or other facters outside of our control, such as the COVID-19 pandemic,
could cause us to change key assumptions and our judgment about a reperting unit's prospects. Similarly, in a specitic period, a reporting unit could significantly wnderperform relative to its historical
or projected future operating results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reporting wnits, and a consequent future impairment charge.
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All intangible assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carying amount of an asset may 1ot be recoverable.
Recoverability of otler intangible assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount to estimated undiscounted future cash flows. The assessment of recoverability or of the estimated useful life
for amortization purposes will be affected if the timing or the amount of estimated tuture eperating cash flows is not achieved. Such indicators may include, among others: a significant decline in
expected future cash flows: a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market capitalization; a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, unanticipated compelition;
and reductions {n growth rates. In addition, products, capabilities, or techrologies developed by others may render cur software products obsolete or non-competitive. Any adverse change in these
factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or other imangible assets. During 2022, we did not identify any triggering svents that would indicate that the carrying amount
of pur intangible assets may not be recoverable.

Recent adoption of new accounting pronoucemenis

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - Accownting for Cantract Asvets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Custonters (ASC 803) (*ASU 2021-08™). ASU 2021-08 requires an
acquirer /n a business combination to recognize and measire contruct agsets and contract labilities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606.
Under this "Topic 606 approach," the acquirer applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This is a departure from the current requirement to measure contract agsets and contract
lighilities at fair valus. ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities in annual and interim perieds starting after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. An entity that early
adopts should apply the amendments 1) refrospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the fiscal year that ineludes the interim period of
carly application and (2) prospectively to ail business combinations that occur on er after the date of initial application. We early adopted as of January 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2021408 resulted
in no adjustments ta the fair value of the deferred revenue balances assumed in cur 2022 acquisitions. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Recent dceonnting Guidance not yet Adopted

There were no new not yet adopted accounting pronouncements currently issued that would atfect the Company or have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations
in fsture perfods.
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ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,

Pereentage of Total Revenues
Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Revenaes: . | R : N . RO ; ] IR : R "
Subseriptions 54.7% 493 % 214 %
" : Maintenance 255 .00 LT MUURL R T o n il A1e

: Prufcu:.mnal services

. oo By B2 o ed
Snﬂ\va]ehcensesmdmy‘litxe:, L T L L e B T U FA U PP TN R TPRA: 2 S B I 6.5
Appraisal services 19 L7 1.9
“Hardware and othier ;"o B G s Crorna T L . P e T i8 B T IR T B B R LG
Total revenues . L . ) ) 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost ol raveiues. | e e, . A B e

Subscriptioi o
i :Soﬂwar: licenses, myalue il Aisoctization of acqmrecl software’
Amortization of sui‘twme developmenl
L Apprals'll serviges o
Hardware anl other
Snles and markering expense: -
General and administeative expense
‘Research and development ¢xpense
Amnrtlzunon cf custouer a.m:l trada nam

Dpemmu, mmme
Iuteresl expense

Iucome befme income mxes
Inc i g a\' prowsmn (henef’t)

Net income

2022 Compired (o 2021
2YE, 2y
Recent Acguisitions

QOn Cetober 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutiens, LLC (Rapid), a provider of reliable, scalabie, and secure payments with best-in=class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilities.
Cn February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc, (US eDirect), a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and eutdoor recreation management. On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC,
Inc., a feading digital government solutions and payment company that serves federal, state and loeal povernment agencies, US eDirect and Rapid are operated 28 a part of the digital government and

payment selutions business unit {alse known as the NIC division) and the results of NIC, US eDirect, and Rapid from their respective dates of acquisition, are included with the operating results of the
PT segment.
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The following table details revenues for the NIC division for the peried from acquisition through December 31, 2022 and 2021, which are presented in our consolidated statements of income from the

date of acquisition and included in the operating results of the PT reportable segment (in thousands),

2022 2021
Revenues: . . . . T . :
Subseriptions ) 3 470,904 § 344,692
- Maintenance . BlO 560
Professional services o 50,006 23,665
Saftware licenses and royalties . . = i
. Appraisal servicss - —
‘Hatdware and other R R . L o L —= . .=
Total revenues $ 521,720 % 368,917
Subscripiions.
The following table sets forth a comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31 (8 in thousands):
Changa
_ 2022 2021 s
ES. o e T e e L R $ 326,373 G 23078 S i lOL2eS L L E S e
PT _ _ o o L 485,981 359,357 126,624 5
[ Total subscriptions revemug: -~ LT T s I 1,012,304 § DI T84A35 - §- 0 2278690 .29 %
Less: Revenie f’rorp.r.ec:e.n_'t:.z_fcfr'[.l:;i:si.ﬁc.n:ls;_.3:" ) R . PR D T :(ij'g‘363:: N
Total subscriptions revenue excluding acquisitions £ 833,941 § 784,435 § 49,506 6%

Subscriptions revenue consists of revenue derived from our SazS arrungsments and transaction=based fees prinarily related to digital government services and payment pracessing. We also provide
electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”} that simplify the fling and management of court related docwinents for courts and law offices, E-filing revenue is derived from transaction fees and

fixed fee arrangements,

Subscriptions revenue grew 29% compared to 2021, primarily due to the inclusicn of transaction-based revenues from NIC including Rapid and US eDirect from the respective dates of acquisition.
Excluding the incremental imypact of recent acquisitions, subscriptions revenue increased 6%. New SaaS clients as well as existing clients who converted to our Saa8 model provided the majority of the
subscriptions revenue increase. [n 2022, we added 609 new SaaS clients and 336 existing clients elected 1o convert to our Saa$ model. Our mix of new software cantracts in 2022 was approximately
23% perpetunl software license arrangements and approximately 77% subscription-based arrangements compared to total new client mix in 2021 of npproximately 33% perpetual software license

arrangements and approximately 67% subscription-based arrangements,

Total subseripticns reverue derived from transaction-based fees was $600.8 million and $454.8 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, The increase of §146.0
million or 32% is atiributable to inclusion of the NIC division, including Rapid and US eDirect transaction-based revenues from the respective dates of acquisttion, Transaction-based revenue from the
NIC division was $470.9 million and $344.7 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Excluding NIC, transaction-based fees contribuied $19.8 million to the

inerease in subscriptions revenue due to the increased volumes of enline payments and e-fling services in 2022,

% Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.
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Maintenuce.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended December 31 (8 in thousands).

Change
2022 2021 & Y%
ES - - . oL T . 3 5 MA43 8 - 4395898 4534 - 1%
PT _ . i 24,312 34,698 (10.386) (30)
i - Tétal maintenance révere T 5 468455 S . ATABT S . (5.832) - (%
Less: Revenue from recent aoquisifions ¥« 2 L i e n T I T et 689 o — o ggey P
Total maintenance revenue excluding nequisitions $ 467,766 & 474287 § {6,521} ()%

We provide maintenance and support services for our software products and certain third-party software. Maintenance revenue decreased 1% campared to the prior period. Meintenance revenue
declined mainly due to atirition related to 2 legacy case management solution and clients converting from on-premises license arrangements to SaaS, partiaily offset by annual maintenance rate
increases and maintenance associated with new software license sales

Amnualized Recurring Revenyes

Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recutring revenue sources, Annualized recurring revenues ("ARR") is calculated based on quarter-end total recurring revenues multiplied by four, ARR
was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billion as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR [nereased 8% compared to the prior period due to an increase in subscriptions revenue resulting from an
ongoing shifl toward 8aa$ arrangements.

Professional services.

Thad!lewing table sets Torth.a comparizon of our professional services revenue for the years ended December 31 (5 in thousands):

Change

‘L gss Reverfue from fegentaeqn

‘Total professional services revenue excluding acqu 8 226,044 § 8

Professional services revenue primarily consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our software, converting client data, training client personnel, cusfom development
activities and consulting. New cliznts who purchase our proprictary software licenses or subscriptions generally also contract with us to provide the related protessional services. Existing clients also
periodically purchase additicnal training, consulting and munor programming services.

Professional services revenue increased 16% compared lo the prior year, primarily due to the inclusion of revenues from recent acquisitions from the date of acquisition. Excluding the incremental
impact of recent acquisitions, professional services revenue increased 8%. The increase in professional services revenue is primarily atiributed to higher revenues generated by the continued COVID
pandemic-related rent relief services and the return of billable travel revenue as onsite services have increased since 2021, The increases are partially offset by mors clients selecting our cloud soluticns
instead of our on-premises license arrangements which typically require more professicnal services.
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Soffware ficensei oid rovaltios,

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software ligenses and royalties revenue for the years ended December 31 (8 in thousands):

Change
2022 3021 § Yo
ES J A N - o T 55158 . 5 6636 S . . . (LL658)" L A%
PT S o 4,048 7,636 (3,388) ()
. Total scftware liceases and royalties revenite S ' RN R % :.59.406 .8 Coen L 74452 % T (15046 s o (20)0%
Less: Reverne fiom fecent acquisitions 1w 5 SRR T T L Ee B e T I A
Total soflware licenses and royalties revenue excluding acquisitions 5 59406 § 74452 § {15,044) (2%

Software licenses and royalties revenue decreased 20% compared to the prior period, The decline is primarily attributed to the shift in the mix of new soflware contracts toward more subscription-
based agreements compared to the prior period.

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from quarter to quarter and year to year, we expect the decline in software license revenues
will accelerate as we conlinue to shilt cur mode! away from perpetual licenses to SaaS. Subscription-based arrangements resull in lower software license revenue in the initial year as compared to
perpetual software license arrangements but generate higher overall revenuve aver the term of the centract,

Apprecisal services,
The following table sets farth & comparison of aur appraisal services revenus for the years ended December 31 (3 in thousands )

Change

2022

L3H50808

34508,

;Les Ry i

Total appraisal services revenne excluding acquisitions 34,508 § 27,788 § 6,720 24 %

In 2022, appraisal services revenus grew 24% compared to the prior period primarily due to relaxed travel restrictions allowing for the ramp-up of appraisal services for several new revaluation
contracts which started in recent quarters. The appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in various states.

Cost of revenues apd gross narging

The following table sets forth a comparisen of the key components of our cost of revenues for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change

2022 2021
il D538 08 BR N L ity SH
6,083
56,3070
52,192
25,988
23,674
e ] 0B6 I

sctiptions; mainteaance, and‘professional serviées
licenses and royalties
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The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended December 31:

) 2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, waintenance, and professional services . . B . . 447 % - . 456 % : 0.9%
Software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software _ _ [£X)] 30.9 (39.9)
Appraisal services . U o e : . : ; B 1305 Lo 314 s
Hardware and other 270 41.0 (14.0)
Qverall gross magin B R L : R S A2d% T T 4e% R 3

Gross margin peroentage by revenue type, excluding the incrementul impact of recent acquisitions %, for the years ended December 31:

. 2021 ) Change
Suliseiiptions, mainfenance, and professional services : e i 02%
Soflware licenses, royalties, sofiware development, and acquired software (23.8)
Kppiisil services e L R AN ~E409).
Hardware and other o {13.1}
Overalkgross margin- /7150 T T R R e T R0

Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services. Cost of subscriptions, maintenance and professional services primarily consists of personne! costs related to installation of our software,
cotversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities and various other services such as custom client development, on-~going operation of Saa8, digital government, and other
transaction-based services such as e-filing, Other costs included are intecchange fees required to process creditdebit card nansactions and bank fees to process automated clearinghouse transactions
related to pur payments business, In 2022, the subscriptions, maintenance and professional services gross margin declined 0.9% compared te the pricr period primarily due to several factors, including
lower maintenance revenue resulting from attrition related to a legacy case managemient soluiion; a post-COVID return of low-margin revenues such as billable travel; higher personnel costs related to
inflation, as well as costs related to onboarding new protessional services employees who are not yet billable; and higher hosting costs related to our accelerated shift to the cloud. Our implementation
and support staff grew by 225 employees since December 31, 2021, as we increased hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business. Excluding
the incremental impact fiom recent acquisitions of $7¢ million, gross margin was 43.8% in 2022,  slight increase of 0.2% which is attributable to an Increase in Saa$ arangements and the deeline in
low margin COVID-related transaction-based revenues compared to the prior period.

Sofiware licenses, royalties, soffware developrent, and ucquired sofiware. Amortization expense for acquired software comprises the majority of costs of seftware licenses, royalties, software
development, and acquired software. We do not have any dircet costs associated with royalties. The gross margin for software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software was
negative 9.0% in 2022 and 30,9% in 2021, Excluding the impact of amortization cxpense of acquired software, the margin was 78.8% in 2032 and 92.1% in 2021, The decline in software licenses,
rayaltis, software development, and acquired software gross margin compared fo the prier period is due to lower revenue from software licenses,

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 1.9% of total revenues, The appraisal services gross margin decrease of 0.9% compared to 2021 is primarily due to higher
personnel costs related to inflation, as well as increased low margin biliable travel revenue. The appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in
various states,

Overall gross mergin, Our 2022 blended gross margin decreased 2.2% compared to 2021, principally due to the inclusion of NIC's tevenues {including lower margin COVID relaied revenues), which
historically have lower margins than Tyler’s software-related revenues. Exeluding the incremental impact from recent acquisitions of $60 millio, overall gross margin was 43.8% in 2022, The
decrease of 0.8% in overall gross margin compared o the prior period is due 1o lower revenue from software licenses and maintenance, higher hosting costs relaled to our accelerated shift to the cloud,
and higher personmel eosts. Bxcluding employess from recent acquisitions, our implementation and support, and appraisal staff grew by 219 employees since December 31, 2021, as we increased
hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business.

16




Sefes cmd murketing expepsg

Sales and Marketing expense {“3&M”) consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits, travel, share-based compensation expense, commissions and related overhead costs for sales and marketing
employees, as well as professional fees, trade show activities, advertising costs and other marketing costs, The following table sets forth a comparison of our S&M expenses for the years ended
December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
_ o ) ) 2022 2021 $ %
Saies and marketing expense L T R PO IR 135,743 -8 18624 8 IR 7 b oo L 14%

S&M as o pereentage of revenue was 7.3% in 2022 compared to 7.4% in 2021. S&M expense increased approximately 14% compared to the prior period, primarily due to the nclusion of recent
acquisitions’ $&M expense. Excluding the incremental impact of S&M expense from recent acquisitions of $5.6 mitlion, S&M increased 10% compared to the prior period. Higher S&M expense is
due to higher bonus and commission expense relating to improved operating results, increase in road show and user conference expenses, increase in travel-related expenses, and higher sales and
marketing personnel costs from incrensed employse headcount,

General and adminisfrotive expense

General and administrative (“G&A™) expense consists primarily of personnel salavies and sharesbased compensation expense for general corporate functions, including senior management, finance,
accounting, legal, human resources and corporate development, third party professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, allocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs, acquisition-
related expenses and other acministrative expenses. The following table sets forth a comparison of our G&A expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Lhange
2022 2021 3 %
G ()

Cropéral and administfative expense

G&Aas a percentage of revenue was 14.4% in 2022 compared to 17.1% in 2027, G&A expense decreased approximately 2% compared fo the prior petiod. The decrease in G&a is primarity attributed
to lovver transaction costs related to recent acquisitions and lower share-based compensation expense. G&eA includes $2.0 million of transaction expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2022
compared to $23.5 million of transaction expense related to acquisitions completed in 202 1. During 2022, stock compensation expense declined $5.5 million compared to 2021, generally dueto a
lower fair value of each share-based award resulting from the decline in our stock price. The deereases are offset by inclusion of G&A expense from acquisitions of $21.5 million, higher bonus expense
due to improved operating results, increases in amortization of sofware development for internal use, increases in travel-related expenses and other administrative costs, and higher personnel cosis
from increased employee headcount. In 2022, G&A expense also included $2.8 million related to lease restructuring and other asset write-offs.

Reseqreh and development experise

Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries, employes benefits and related overhead costs assoclated with new product development. The fellowing table sets forth & comparison
of our research and development expense for the years ended December 31 {$ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 5 %

Research and development expense consists mainly of costs associated with development of new products and technologies froim which we do nof currently generate significant revenue

Research and development expense as a percent of total revenue was 5.7% in 2022 compared to 5.9% in 2021. Ressarch and development expense increased 13% in 2022 compared (o the prior period,
mainly due to a number of new Tvler product development initiatives across our product suites, including increased {nvestments in research and development at recently acquired businesses,
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Amortization of other intaugibles

Other intangibles are comprised of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired that are allocated to acquired software and cusiomer related, trade name, and leases
acquired intangibles, The remaining excess purchase price is allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amortization, Amortization expense related to acquired software is included with cost of
revenuss while amortization expense of customer and trace name intangibles is recorded as eperating expense. The estimated useful lives of other intangibles range from one to 25 years. The following
table sets forth o comparison of our amertization of other intangibles far the years ended December 31 (3 in thousands):

Change
o 2022 2021 3 %
Ainiortization of otlier intangibles. © -1 - SO e . s R e 61363 - 0 iy 4849 0 F - 16514 R 37 %

Amortization of other intangibles increased due to the impaet of intangibles added with several acquisitions completed in 2022 and 2021

Estimated apnual amortization expense relating Lo customer related, trade name, and acquired lense intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the amartization expense is recorded as cost of
revenues, for the next five years and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

2023
2024

2025 5
2026

2027
Thereafter

Interest EXPEASE

The following table sets forth a comparison of our interest expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands);

Change

‘nferedtenpehise .

Interest expense is comprised of interest expense and non-usage and other fees asseciated with our borrowings, The change in interest expense compared to the prior period is attributable to an increase
in amortization expense retated to debt issuance costs, resulting from our accelerated repayment of the term loans, coupled with an increase in interest rates compared to the prior period.

Oiher_income,_net

The fotlowing table sets forth a comparisen of our ather income, net for the years ended December 31 {$ in thousands):

Change

el ricame, riet

Other income, net, is primarily comprised of interest income from invested cash, The change in other income, net, compared to the prior period is due to increased interest income generated from
invested cash as a result of higher interest rates in 2022 compared to 2021,
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Ipcime, fox provigion

The follvwing table sets forth a comparison of our income tx prevision for the yeass ended December 31 {$ in thousands}:

Change
) _ 2022 2021 3 Y%
Incorne tax provision (benefity ) . R 3 . 3,353 § - a (241 % 25830, o {L,043)%

Effective income taxrafe. =" .. BRI U I I 124% 70T L61%

The increase in the income tax provision and the effective income tax rate in 2022 compared to the prior period is principally driven by a decrease (n excess tax benefits from share-based cempensation
and an incregse in liabilities for uncertain tax positions, offset by an increase in reseatch tax credit benefits. The share-based exercise and vesting activity in 2022 generated $7.8 million of excess tax
benefits, while exercise and vesting activity in 2021 generated $47.7 mitlion of excess tax benefits The tax benefits related Lo research tax credits totated $31.3 million in 2022 compared to $5.0
million In 2021, as a result of completing a multiyear research and develepment tax credit study during 2022,

The effective income tax rates for the petiods presented were different from the statutory United States federal income tax rate of 21% primarily due to excess tax benefits from share-based
compensation and the tax benefits of research fax credits, offset by an increase in lisbilitics for uncertnin tax positians, state income taxes, and non-deductibie business expenses. Excluding the impact
of the excess tax benefits, uncertain tax positions and research credits, our income tax provision and effective tax rate in 2022 would have been $54.1 million and 28.8%, respectively, and in 2021,
would have been $50.6 million and 31.8%, respectively.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

As of December 31, 2072, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173 9 miltion compared to $309.% million at December 31, 2021, We also had $35 5 million invested in investment grade corporate

bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2022, compared to $58.7 million at December 31, 2021. These investments have varying maturity dates through 2027 and are

held as available-for-sale. As of December 31, 2022, we had $395.0 million outstanding berrowings under our 2021 Credit Agreement and one outstanding letter of credit tetaling $1.5 million in faver
_w0Fa client contract. We balieve our cash on hand, cash from eperating activities, availability under our revolving line of credit, and access to the credit markets provide us with sufficient flexibility to
et our long-term finaneial needs.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

56.035)
1,424,730
@Sy s

L 172
EEIT0041

Financing activitics

NETEase in cash and cush equivalents

Met cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures, Other potential capital resources include cash on hand, public
and private issuances of debt or equily securiiies, and bank borrowings. It is possible that our ability to access the capital and credit markets in the future may be limited by economic conditions or
other Factors, We currently believe that our cash on hond, cash provided by operating activities, and available credit are sulficient to fund our working capital requirements, capital expenditures, incoms
tax obligations, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve months.

In 2022, operating activities provided cash of $381.5 million compared to $371.8 million in 2021, Operating activities that provided cash were primarily comnprised of net income of $164.2 million,
non-cash depreciation and amortization charges of $159.1 million, non~cash share-based compensation expense of $103.0 million and non-cash amerlizalion of operating lease right-of-use assets of
$13.0 million, Working capital, excluding cash, decreased approximately $60.6 million mainly due to timing of paymenis to and receipts from owr government partners, timing of payments of payroll
related taxes and vendor invoices, and deferred taxes associated with tax research credits and stock option activity during the period. Thess decreases were olfset by the timing of tax payments, prepaid
expenses, and increase in deferred revenue during the period. In general, changes in deferred revenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing of our majntenance renewal billings. Our renewal
dates ocour throughout the year, but our largest renewal billing cycles ocour inn the second and fourth quarters. Subscription renswals are billed throughout the year.
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Days sales outstanding (DS0) in accounts receivable were 115 days at December 3 1, 2022, compared to 108 days at December 31, 2021, SO is calculated based on quarter-end accounts receivable
divided by the quotient of ennualized quarterly revenues divided by 360 days. The increase in DSO compared to December 31, 2021, is attributed te slower payments from certain large clients and
timing of receipts from our government partmers.

Investing activities used cash of $172.5 million in 2022 compared to $2.1 billion in 2021. On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financiel Selutions, LLC, for the total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $2.2 million, of approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of commen stock, and $500,000 related to warking capital holdbacks, subject to cestain
post-closing adjustments. On May 3 1, 2022, we complefed the acquisition of Quatred, LLC for the total cash price of approximately $337,000. On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Ine, for
the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 miliion, of approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118 8 million paid in cash and approximately 4.1 million related to indemnity holdbacks.
During 2022, we also paid approximately $1.9 million in indemnity and working capital holdbacks related to acquisitions completed in late 2021, In addition, approximately $27.6 million of seftware
development costs were capitalized. Approximately $22.5 million was invested in property and equipment, including $+4.5 million velated 1o real estate. The remaining additions were for computer
equipment and furniture and fixtures in suppert of growth, particularly with respect to data centers supperting growth in our eloud-based offerings.

Investing activities used cash of $2.1 billion in 2021, We invested $77.5 million and recelved $131.4 million in proceeds from investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed
securities with malurity dates ranging from 2022 through 2027. On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions with the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $12.1 million paid in cash. On
April 21, 2021, we completed the acquisition of NIC for the total purchase price of $2.0 billicn, net of cash acquired of 833 1.8 million, including cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase
considcration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards, On September 1. 2021, we acquired VendEngine for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, of
approximately $83.8 million consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash and approximately $5.4 millien related to indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain pest-closing adjustments, On September 9, 2021,
we acquired all of the equity interest of Arx for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.3 million was paid in cash and approximately §500,000 was
acerued for indemnity holdbacks. Approximately $33.9 million was invested in property and equipment, including $12.8 million related to real estate, In addition, approximately $21.7 million of
software development was eapitalized in 202 1. The remaining additions were for computer equipment and furniture and fixtures in support of internal growth, with the majority associated with our
data centers supporting growth in our cloud-based offerings. These expenditures were Tunded from cash generated from aperations.

Financing activities used cash of $344.2 million in 2022 compared to cash provided of $1.4 billion in 2021, primarily attributable to repayment of $360.0 million of term debt, partially offset by
payments received from stock option exercises, net of withheld shares for taxes wpon equity award and employee stock purchase plan activity.

Financing aetivities provided cash of $1.4 billion in 2021, Financing activities in 2021 were primarily comprised of proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit
Agreement. Oy March 9, 2021, we issued $600,0 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $391 4
million, fet ofinftial purchasers’ discounts of $§6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2,6 millien. On April 21, 2021, in consiection with the completion of the NIC acquisition, the Company, a3
borrower, entered into a new 2021 Credit Agreement with various lenders consisting of an unsecured revolving credit facility of up to $500,0 million and unsecured ferm loans totaling $900.0 million.
The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 202 | Credit Agreement were $1, 1 billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 million of commiiment
fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility, During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we repaid $250.0 million of the unsecured revolving credit facility
and $145.0 million of the term debt. The remainder of the financing activities was comprised of receipts of $109.9 million from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plar activity, We
also purchased approximately 33,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million,

In February 2019, aur board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 1.5 million shares of our common stock. The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors,
was originally announced in October 2002 and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2019. As of February 22, 2023, we have authorization from eur board of directors to tepurchase up to
2.3 million additional shares of our common stock, Our share repurchase program allows us fo repurchase shares at our discration, Market conditions influence the timing of the buybacks and the
number of shares repurchased, as weli as the volume of employes stock option exercises. Share repurchases are generally funded using our existing cash balances and borrowings undes our credit
facility and may occur through open market purchases and trangactions structured through investment banking institutions, privately negotiated transactions and/or other mechanisms. There s ne
expiration date speeified for the authorization and we intend lo repurchase stock under the plan from time to time.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had $600 million in outstanding principal for the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026, Under our 2021 Credit Agreement, we had $395 million in owtstandling principal for
\he Term Loans, no cutsianding borrowings under the 2021 Revolying Credit Facility, and an available borrowing capacity of $500 million a5 of December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, we had
one cutstanding letter of credit totaling $1.5 million. The letter of credit, which gunrantees our performancs under o client contract, renews automatically annually unless cancsled in writing and
expires in the third quarter of 2026, For the twelve mon(hs ended December 31, 2022, we repaid $360 million of the Term Loans under 2021 Credit Agreement.

We paid interest of $21.3 million in 2022, $17.7 million in 2021, including $6.4 millien refated to the senior unseeured bridge foan facility commitment fes in 2021, and $610,000 in 2020. 3ee Mote 6,
“Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements for discussions of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credir Agreement,

We paid income laxes, nel of refunds received, of $38.5 million in 2622, $2.2 million in 2021, and 3.3 million in 2020. Tn 2022, stock option exercise activily generated net tax benefiis of $7.8 millien
and reduced tax payments accordingly, as compared to $47.7 mitlion and $60.2 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA™ eliminates the option to currently dedust research and develepment expenses and requires taxpayers to
capitalize and amortize them over [ive years for research activities performed in the United States and 15 years for research activities performed outside the United States pursvant to IRC Section 174,
Although Congress is censidering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortization requirement, it is not certain that this provision will be repealed or otherwise modified. 1 the
requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase our U3 federal and state cash tax payments and reduce cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years.

We anticipate that 2023 capital spending will be between $68 million and $70 million, including approximately 516 million related fo real estate and approximately $37 millicn of software
development, We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist of computer equipment and software for infrastructure replacements and expansion. We also expect cash tax payments to
be higher as a result of IRC Section 174. Capital spending and cash tax payments are expected to be funded from existing cash balances and cash flows from operations.

From time to time we engage in discussions with petential acquisition candidates. Int order to pursue such opportunities, which could require significant commitments of capital, we may be required to
incur debt or to issue additional potentially dilutive securities in the future. No nssurance can be given as to our future acquisition epportunities and how such opporiunities will be financed.

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as fransportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements and they expire trom ene to 12
years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to six years.

Our estimated future obligations consist of debt, uncertain tax positions, leases, and purchase commitments as of December 31, 2022, Refer te Note 6, "Debr,” Note 10, “Income Tax,” Note 14,
“Leases,” and Mote 16, “Commitment and Contingencies,” to the consolidared {inancial statements lor related discussions.

CAPITALIZATION

At December 31, 2022, our capitalization consisted of $987.4 million of cutstanding debt and $2.6 billion of shareholders’ equity.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLCSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may atfect us due to adverse changes in financial marlket prices and interest rates.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $395.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our 2021 Credit Agreement and available borrowing capacity under the 2021 Credit Agreement was $500.0 million,

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facitity and the Term Loan A-| bear interest, at the Coapany’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Administrative Agent’s prime commercial lending
rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate™) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0,75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, ar, subject to approval by all lenders, twelvesmonth LIBOR rate plus
a margin of 1,125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears inlerest, at the Company’s oplion, at & per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% lo 0.5% or (2} the one-, three-, six-, or,
subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus 4 marpin of 0.875% to 1.5%. )

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the effective interest rate for our borrowings was 3.79%, Based on the aggregate outstanding principal balance under the 2021 Credit Apreement
as of December 31, 2022, of $395.0 million, each quarter point change i injerest rates would result in & $1.0 million change in annual interest expense.
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In January 2023, we amencled our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR referenve rate with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropristely adjusted to
equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact on our operations.

ITEM 8, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
The reports of our independent registered public accounting firm and our financial statements, related noies, and supplementary data ave included as pert of this Annual Report beginning on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS CN ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Eveduation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e} of the Securities Exchange Acf) designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by
us in the reparts we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. These include controls and
procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures, Management, with the participation of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procadures as of December 31, 2022, Based on this evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2022,

Memagement’s Report on Infertted Clomrol Gver Financiol Reporting

Tyler’s managemend is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective intemal control over financial reporting a3 defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15¢0). Tyler's internal contrel over
finaneial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Tyler's management and beard of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

. -Begause of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reperting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined 1o be effective can provide only
reasonable assurance with respect o financial statement preparation and presentation.

Managemsnt assessed the effectiveness of Tyler's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. Tn making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comumission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Based on our assessment, we concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, Tyler’s internal
control aver financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Tyler’s luternal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Brnst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also audited Tyler’s financial
staternents, Frnst & Young's attestation report on Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting appears on page F=1 hereof.

Changes in Internad Conirol over Financiol Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2022, thers were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially atfect, cur internal contral aver financial reporting,

ITEM SB. OTHER INFORMATION.

Noune.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.

None.
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PART T

See the information under the fallowing captions in Tyler’s definitive Proxy Statement, which is incerporated herein by reference. Only those sections of the Proxy Statement that specifically address

the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporatien by reference does not include the Comnpensation Discussion and Analysis, the Compensation Committee Report or the Audit
Committes Report, which are included in the Proxy Statement.

Headings in Proxy Statement

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, “Tyler Management” and “Corporate Governance Principles and Board Malters”

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION, “Executive Compensation™

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR "Executive Compensation” and
TNDEPENDENCE. “Lertain Relationships and Related Transactions™

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required under this item may be found under the section captioned “Proposals For Consideration — Propasal Two — Ratifieation of Our Independent Auditors for Fiscal Year 2022" in our Proxy Statement
- when filed.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

@

The following decuments are filed as part of this Annual Report:

48]

(2)

&)

The financial siatements arc tiled as part of this Annual Report.

Reports of Indepengdent Registered Public Accounting Fine (PCAQOB TD: 42)
Consolidated Statements of [ncowe for the years ended December 3], 3022, 2021, and 2020

nselidated Statenients of prehensive income for the years end r 31,2022 2021, and 2030
Congolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the vears ended December 3], 2022 2001 and 2020
Consolidated '§t'1temenls gf§ mg holders' Equity for the years ended Degember 31,2022, 2021, and 2020

23 to Consolidated F i nienis

Financial statement schedu]es:

There are no finmneial statement sehedules filed as part of this Annual Report, since the required mformation is included in the financial statements, including the netes thereto, or the
circumstances requiring inclusion of such schedules are not present.

Exhibits
Certain of the exhibits (o (his Anmual Report are hereby incorporated by reference, as specified:
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Exhthit

Description

Number

31 Restated Certificate of Incorparation of Tyler Tliree, as amended through ay 14, 1990, and Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (liled as Exbibit 3.1 to our Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1990, and mcurpomted by reference herein).

32 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation (fited as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K, dated February 19, 1998, and incorporated by reference herein).

33 Amended and Resiated By-Laws of Tyler Technologies Inc. dated February, |, 2022 (fled gs Exhibit 3.1 10 our Form 8-K dated Febiuary 7, 2022 angd incorporated by reference herein).

34 Certificate of Amendment dated Mav, 19,1999 1o the Restated Certificate of [neorporation (fled as Exhibit 3.4 o our Foun 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, and incorporated by reference
herein),

4.1 Specinen of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4. | to our registration statement no. 33-33505 and incorporated by reference herein),

42 lnrcl Amenchnent to the Credit Agreement dated Tamuary 27, 2023, among Tyler Techuologies, Inc. and Wells Farge Baok, N. A _as Administrative Agent and other lenders pairy heveto (filed as Exhibit

3 o onr Formy 10=h, dpted February 22, 2023, and incorponated yw)_

4.3 redltA regnent dafed April 21, 2031, ameng Tyler Teghnolopies, Tne. and Wells Fargo Bank, N, A. os Administrative Aggntand other lenders party heveto (filed as Exhibit o oy Form 8-K
dated Apil 21, 2021 _and incorparated by refeleuce herein),

44 Agreement and Plan of Mereer, dated ngmﬁy_‘? 2021 by apd gunong Tyler Technologies, Inc,, Topas Acquisition, Tne,, md NIC, Ing,(filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Form 8<K, dated February 10, 2021,
ang incorporated by reference herein),

a3 Indenture, dated as of Magch 9, 2021, between Tyler Technolagiss, 1.3, Banle National Association, s trustee, relating to the 0,25% ¢ onvertible Senior Notes due 2026, {filed ag Exhibit 11 fo
i Farm 8~K dated March 8 gng and jncorporated by reference herein,),

puas Emplovee Stock Purchase Plap (filed as Fxhibit 19,1 1o owr registralion sttement 333-182318 dated June 23, 2012 and incerporated by refarence herein),

102

Emplovinent and Ngn-(‘on petition Agreement befween Tyler Techuolopies, Ine. and John 8. Marr fr, effentive Februgry 26, 20183 (filed as Exhibit 10,1 to our Fopn 8«5 dated March 9, 2018 and
incory porﬂted by, refarence hereiu),
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LExhibit

Descripticn

Numirer
103 Employment and Non-Competition Agreement betyeen Tyler Teclwelogies, Ine. aud Briun K. Miller effective February 26, 2018 {fled a5 Exhibir 10.3 to our Form 8K dated March §, 2018 and
incorporaled by reference herein).
104 Enployment and Nou- ("ompemlon Agreement between Tyler Technologies. Ine, and H, Lynn Moore, Jr effective Februnry, 26,2018 {filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Foon 8-K daled March 9, 2018 and
mncorporated by referenge hergin
105 Apgreentent and plan of nmrgm;y and amang, Txler Technolopios, Ine. TMP Subsidiary, lue., MP Hotding Parent, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.7 1o our Form 10-X dated February 20. 2019 and incorpornted
by reference herein},
0.8 Tyler Technelogies, Inc. 2018 Stock Optivn Plan effective as of May 9, 2018 (filed as Appendix Ao the registruur's Proxy Statement, flad with the Commission oy March 28, 201 rporated by
reference herein).
#21, Subsidiaries of Tyler Technelopjes, Tne
)5 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
#3101 Rule 13a-14(n Certifiention by Principal Executive {fficer.{a) Certificution by Principal Execitive Officer
#3012 Rule {3a=id(a) Certification by Principal Financial Officer.
5321 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.
*01.INS Inline XBRI Tnstance Docwment - the Instance Decunient doss not appear in the interactive data e because its XBRL tagy, including Cover Page XBRL tugs, are embedded within the Inline XBRL
Document.
*101.5CH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Decument,
*10LCAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Caloulation Linkbase Document,
*10L.LAB Inline XBRL Extension Labels Linkbase Docuniant,
*101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
*1G1.PRE Tnline XBRL Taxeuomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document,
104

Cover Page Interactive Data File {formatted a3 Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit L01).

— Filed herewith.

A ropfof each exhibit may be obtained at a price of 15 cenis per page, with 2 $10.6¢ minimum crder, by-witing Invester ielations, 5101 Tennyson Parleway, Plano, Texas 75024,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchenge Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this repori to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized,

TYLER TECIINOLOGIES. INC.
Date; February 22, 2023 By s/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report
below.

Date: February 22, 2023 By: /sf John 8. Marr, Jr.
Jahn 5. Marr, Jr.
Txecutive Chawrman of the Board
Director

Date: February 22, 2023 By: /st . Lynn Moore, Jt.
I, Ly Moore, Ji.
Pregident and Chiet Execuitive Officer
{principal executive officer)

Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s Brion K, Miller
Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Tinancial Officer
{principal financial officer)

Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s Jason P. Durhnm
Jason P. Durham
Chief Accounting Officer
{principal accounting officer)

Date: Februaty 22, 2023 By. fsf Glenn A. Carter
Glenn A, Carier
Director

Date: Febroary 22, 2023 By: Is/ Brenla A. Cling
Brenda A, Cline
Director

Date: February 22, 2023 By: Js/ Rannie D, Flawkins, Ir.

Rannie D. Hawkins, Ir.
Director

Date; February 22, 2023 By: /8¢ Mary Tandrieu
Mary Lantlisy
Director

Date; February 22, 2023 By: 3/ Taniel M. Pope
Dinniel M. Pope
Diractar

Date: February 23, 2023 By fst Dustin R, Womble
Dustin R. Womble
Director
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Report of Tndependent Registered Public Aceounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Tnc.
Opinien on the Finaneisl Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tyler Tochnologies, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of ingome,
comprehensive income, shareholders” equity and cash Flows for ench of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the releted notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financiat statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at Deeember 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the thres years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepred accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of lhe Public Company Accounting Qversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reperting as of
December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and
our report dated February 22, 2023, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Compeny in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the appliceble rules and regllations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB,

We conducted our audits in aceordance with the standards of the PCAQOR, Those standards require that we pian and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material niisstatement, whether due to error or Fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financinl statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks, Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the fingnciak
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant sstimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising From the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required fo be communicated to the audit
commitise and that; (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially ehallenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication
of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the eritical andit matter below, providing
a separate opinion on the eritical audit matter or on the aceount or disclosure to which it relates.




Deseription of
the Merrer

How We Addressed the
Marter inn Our Auclit

s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Goodwill impairment tests

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s goodwill balance of $2.5 billion was attributable to multiple reporting units. As disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever evenls or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may
not be recoverable. The Company begins with a qualitative assessment of whetlier it is more likely than not that a reporiing unit's fair valus is less than 1is carrying
value before applying a quantitative assessment, During the fourth quacter of 2022, the Company performed a quantitative assessment for goodwill associated with
reporting units comprised of more recestly acquired businesses, which do not have significant excess fair values over carrying values.

Auditing management’s quantitative analyses for goodwill impaitment was complex and highly judgmental due to the sipnificant judgement required to determine
the fuir value of these reporting units. In particular, the Compuny’s fair value estimates for these reporting units were sensitive to significant assumptiens, such as
weighted average cost of capital and revenue growth rates which are forward looking and affested by expectations about future market or economic conditions.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s review process for quantitative goodwill
impairment nssessments, including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described above.

To test the estimated fair value of the applicabie reporting units, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies and testing
the significant assumptions discussed above and the underlying data used by the Company in its analyses, We evaluated management’s forecasted revenue to
identify, understand and evaluate changes as compared to historical results and performed sensitivity analyses of signilicant asswnptions to evaluate the changes in
the tair value of the reporting units that would result from changes in the assumptions, We also involved internal valuation specialists to assist in evaluating
menagement’s methodalogies and significant assumptions applied in developing the fair value estimates.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1966,

Dallas. Texas

February 22, 2023
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Report of Tadependent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Sharehelders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technolegies, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologics, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criterin established in Internal Centrol-Integrated Framework issued by the
Comnittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framewoik)} {the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Tyler Technologies, Inc. {the Company) maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on the COSO eriteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States) {PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of
December 21, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three yeurs in the period ended December 31, 2022, and
the related nates and our report dated February 22, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining offective internal contrel over financial reporting and for ifs assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal confrol over financial
reporting based on our audit, We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S, federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standazds of the PCAQB. Those standards requive that we plan and perforni the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether sffective internal
control over [inancial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Cur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion,

Definition ang Limitations of Internal Control Over ¥inancia) Reporting

A company’s internal centrol over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasenable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repotting and the preparation of finaneial statements for
external purposes in aceardance with generally accepled accounting principles. A company’s intemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in rensonable defail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally aceepted accounting prineiples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being macle only
in accordance with anthorizations of management and directors of the company, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contrel over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, prejections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk thal conirols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of comgpliance with the palicies or procedures may deferiorate.

fsf ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Dallas, Texas

February 22, 2023




Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Conselidated Statements of Incoms

For the years ended December 31,

{In thousands, except per share amounts)

2022 2021 2020
Revenuss: _ ) : . . . . R
Subseriptions $ LU12,304  § 784435 % 350,648
Maintenance. . o : A : S ’ CUr T assdss 474287 b 467,513
Professional services 243,117 209,391 186,409
Software licenses.and inyaitiesf TR o o ; . T oo o I Sl T T 59406 R A2 o )
Aporaisal services 34,508 27,788
- Hargwareand ather... -+t i DT Rl e L T e ST R g T e T
) 1,850,204 1,592,287

Total revenues

- :Subsctiptions, ‘maintenance and profsssional ééﬁiées“ SR AL I i - B T ; . 953,897 . TLUFOGASET R L 510,508
Softvara licenses and royaltics 6,083 3,552 3,339
Amartization of soffware devalopment ©; | - 0 I TR C T T e gy T T g .

. Amartization of acquired software 52,192 e 501 .
Appraisal services : e R P PRI R R S x 1 S R - X1 3 5948
Hardware and other 23,674 12,946 12,401

e “ B T o LT 066,341 LT - 382,643 v sl BLSL

< Total Gost of reventies :

783,863 R oAby

s
267,324

b T 8B AG6
271,955 161,085
BN e
44,849 21,662

Saley Bt Wkt ex s
General and administraiive expense

Rese tevelopnientexpense
Amortization of other intangibles

Opernting income 180,733 172,9i6'

(1,013)
23,129
175,042
L8
194,820

Lithier income, et

158,081
AR
T6L458 5

fore income taxes

Diluted

See accompanying rotes.




Tyler Technologies, Ine.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive [ncome
For the years ended December 31,

{In thousands}

Net income
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Sccurilies avaitable-for-sale and trensferred seguriliés;
Change in net unrealized holdm[, losses on availuble for sale securities during (e penud
Reclassxﬂcauou adjustment of unrealized | lnsses on securities tansfesred Foet held-to-maturity ..

Reclassification adjustment for net loss on snle ot .w-ulable for sale securities, mclu(lcd inzet mcome
- Other: cnmprehenszvc loss, net offax

Comprehensive income

See accompanying notes,
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2022 2021

2020

©o 164240 § © 0 l6h438

(£50) T2

79 —

e RS S

154,820

s - e

.163.442 B 161,458

194,820




Tyler Technologies, inc,
Consolidated Balance Sheets
{In thousands, except par value and share ameunts)

ASSETS
Cutrent nssets;
_Cash and cash equwa]ents

Accounts receivable (less allowance fcu losses mul sales adjustments of $14 751 i 2022 snd
$12,086 in 2021)

" ‘Shiortferm investments, * © .
Prepaid expenses
“ Income fax receivable | 7 Y
Other curent assets
“*Total Grirrent assets -, -
Accounts lecewabla long~term o
Operating lease nght—nf-use assels .
Property ﬂndcqmpment net
Other assets
Saftware developmenl c0sts, net
- Goodwilt :
Other intangibles, nel
.~_Nnn—cnrrent 1nvealmcnts
Gther non-current assets

LI \BILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS‘ EQUITY
Cunent liabilitic
Au(.()l! HE pnyublc )

s Hovolving Tieof credit

Term loans, net

Canverhble sema notes due 2026, net
Ferred revenue, long-t

" Commen slock $0. 01 p'u valua lOG 000 UOD shares 'ulthouzed 48,147,969 shmcs
issued in 2022 and 2021

See accompatiying notes.

December 31, 2022

December3t, 2021

173857 8. 300,171
577,257 521,059
37,030 52,3007
50,859 55,513
L ALy
87239 8,151
o a2 564,331 -
8,271 13,937
130,989 ~39,720
172,735 _ 181, 193
18.185
. 24897308
1,002,164
718,508
49,960
0,687,417 4,733,161 .
104,813 119,988
194 158494

10,560

71‘8511

e

(zv 327)' i (25.667)
2,374,019,
468747 & 4.732,161




Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31

{In thousands)

) 2022 2021 2020
Cash flows o operating detivities. . L . Lo : o '
Net ucome _ 5 164,240 5 161458 3 194,320
Adjnstments to reconeile net incofte to cash provided by operating nctivities: : ’ B .
Deprecintion and amortization 159.072 133,624 81,657
Losscs from sale of investments, . . .7 . S el T - : 45 LT cr T -
Share-based compensation expense ) _ 102,985 o 1nd726 67,365
. Provision for Losses and sales adjustments - accounts receivable. + 6o = 5 L0 B RERTIN : A 1y 11 RN ¥ <) M R X1 ¥ 4
Amortization of operating lease 11ght-of~usc assels 12,969 10,216 5,782
) Dcfcm:d incomé la.'( benéfit AR INE ’ ' . o (87,197) . LRI (1936
Aot fecabvable G : P DT L T T T 0y TIOR3
Im:ome tax recewable S olado 10,258 (15,117)

Prepaid ékpenses and other current assets 155 L5 L T T e e el D T ot e (23;863) 5 T L KB304)
Accuums paynblc {17, 53'.’) _ (44, 947) (967)

i, Opérating lease lighilities e A : e : RN . (12,396) R e T L (6549)
Accrued [mbllmus o o {24,344) (24 822 2, 870
*Dieferred revemue 5 b Chr LT AT B : Lo R Y T 44,874 L RT3 sg‘;

Other long-term linbilities 9,932 {1,987) —

10l YiNet cash provided by operating activities 381,455:. 0 3TLI83 T T 355,08

Cnsh Flows from iavesting acHvil e
; Additions to propeity and ezt
- &% Purcliasi ke bhﬂ?mn j

(@259 a3 919) o ' (_-,r90)
{299y A Oy Y
131,445

{172,530} (2,090,935} (98,320}

Paymem on telm Touns

(360,000) ddsoony
v J‘Prucecds froin fefm luuu & :

Pmcceds from i issuimee ofconveluble semor notcs
: Paymem‘ of debt issuRnce costs
Purchase of treasury shares

(15,484

: Pwmem of contingent umstdérdtzol: : : T i - i R AT
Proceeds fiom exercise of stock oplmns net af wnhheld shﬂu:s for taxes upcn cqtuly awmd (890} 96,714 124,363

i Conmbuhons from employee stock puifcliase plan . : RERONEECS RN S S R | 14 S R N T R 10912
Naet msh (llbdd) pluwdcd by ﬁnancmb ﬂcnvlfles e o ) {344,239 1,424,730 114,172

\er (deuense) increase in cash zmd cash eqmvalents {135,314) _ (294 432) L 370,541

egmmng of petiod B L i b 4
Ca.ah an(l cash equW'\lcnts at end of period . 3

30900 i w3 682
173,857 § .109,171 $ 603,623

See aocompanying notes.
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Supplemental cash Flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes, net
Non-cnsh investing and finuncing activitics:
Non-cash additions to property and equipment
Issnance of shares for acquisitions
Pur.chasc'c_unsidcraiion for conversion of unvested resicted stock awards
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2022

2021

21,256
38,490

169

18,169

17.728
2212

233

1,372 .

60
3,263

189




Tyler Technologies, Inc.,

Consolidated Staternents of Shareholders” Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020
{Tn thousands)

Common Stock Additional Accumulated Other ) Treasury Stock Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Shargholders’
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Shares Amoynt Equity
Holance ot December 31, 2019 L _ 48,148 - § 481 5 - 730478 % 46y . 917,336 (8839) 5 (40.191) & " 1,617,058
Net income o = - - — 154,820 — = 194,820
. 'Essu'nnce:of shares. pursitant to stock cumpensaﬁdn'plan : ’ — — 90,636 — R 1,285 33,727 124,363
Employee taxes paid for withheld shares upon equity award
settlement ) - — - — — (34) (12.923) {12.923)
3 UBtock conipensation . : B — — 67,365 - — e 67,365
Issusnce of shares pursnant to Empluy ee stock pm clnse plan — — 7,853 — — 44 3,059 15,912
i Treagury, stock purchases i — — — R 5 - (15,434 S (15,484)
Balance at De;ember 11 "020 48,148 481 905,332 {46} 1,112,156 (7.609) (31.812) 1,986,141
(-2 et inconie: UL Gpn o DESTLIEIe e i i . R TN L BTN o T T TTG1,458
Exercise of stuck opnous and vesum, oflesructed stnck units — — 50,831 — — 832 96,714
“Employee taxes pﬂ.l(l fo WII.Ilhe]d shﬂrcs upon ¢ ity award o o : s S
- scttlement, o : YR TR - — : o - +{58) 27,030
Stock cnmpensatwn — — 104 726 - — - — 104,726
“Tssuanée of shares irstiatit to amp}ayee stock purchase pran” ©1 LS - 12389 —_ 35007 2 T 13,158
Treasury stock purchases — — — — — {33) (12971 (12,977)
U Purchase sonsider 'llmn,fm “cotiversion of unvested restidled L : FEIRURE : K i RN
"stock awards: . S e e - = 1,872 - — — s = 1,872
Balnncc at Decembe] 3l "071 48,148 481 1,075,650 (46) 1,273,614 (25 667) 2,324,032
) . Netincoing R : = = e = : (164,240 L SE - ‘1_6{1_-24@_‘
. ? ) Qtlier eonprehiensive loaa net u[ ai — ! ey
7k (3:218) = 26,335
Empluyee tarces pmd fur w:thheld shams upcm eqmty award
settle,ment — — — — (27,219)
S e o) 1029851 02,985
16, 365
17,943
AL Tiecember 31,2022 12007725 1§10 SBA) 5 4375 s s

Seg accompanying notes.




Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tables in thousands, except per share data)

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICLES
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated software systams and related services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad line of software solutions and services to address the information technology (“IT™)
needs primarily of cities, counties, states, schools, federal agencies, and other government entities. We provids subscription-based services such as sofiware as a service (“52a3"), transaction-based fees
primarily relnted to digital government services and online payment processing, and elestronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”™), which simplify the filing and management of court related
documents, In addition, we provide professional 1T services, including software and hardware instailation, data conversion, training, and for certain customers, product modifications. along with
continuing maintenance and support for customers using our systems. Additionally, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions,

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include cur parent company and 62 subsidiaries, which are wholly=owned. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consalidation. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enferprise duing a peried from transactions and other events and circumstances [fom non-Gwher sources
and includes all components of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income {less). During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we had approximately $798,000 of other comprehensive
loss, net of taxes, from our available-for-sale investment holdings, We did not have material items of other comprehensive income during the years ended Decernber 31, 2021, and 2020.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. We have elected to present amortization of software development, previously included in the cost
of revenues software licenses and rovalties line item, in a separate category line item on the consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented. We also have glected (o present sales
and marketing expense and general and administrative expense, previously disclosed as selling, general, ang administrative expense, as separate category line items on the consolidated statements of
income for all reporting pericds presented,

LASHAND CASH HQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess of that necessary for operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid, income-producing investments. [nvestments with original maturities of three months or less are

classified as cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash on deposit with several banks and meney market funds. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market
value.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Nature of Produets and Services

We earn revenues from subscription-based services, post-contract customer support {“PCS™ or “maintenance”), professional services, software licenses and royalties, appraisal services, and hardware
and other. Revenue 15 recognized upon fransfer of conirel of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products
or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

+  Tdentification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

= Jdentification of the performance obligations w the contract

«  Delermination of the transaction price

«  Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
»  Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

F-10




Qur software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses, installation, training, and consulting to software modification and custormization
to meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS, For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately when they are distinet. We evaluate whether separale
parformance obligations can be distinet or should be accounted for as one perfermance obligation. Arrangements that include professionel services, such as iraining or installation, are evaluated to
determine whether those services are highly interdependent or interrelated to the product’s functionality. The transaction price is allocated to the distinct performance obligations on a relative
standalone selling price (“SSP™) basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall peicing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts,
the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our conlracts. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from
customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

Subseription-Based Services:

Subscription-based services consist primarily of revenue derived from San$ arrangements, digital government services, payment processing, and e-filing. For S8aaS arrangements, we evaluate whether
the custamer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software
an the customer's hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third=party to host the software. We allocare contract value to each performance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for
treatment as a distinet element based on estimated SSP. We recognize SaaS services ratably over the term of the arrangement, which range from one to 18 years, but are typically for a pericd of three to
five years. For professional services associated with certuin SaaS arrangements, we have concluded that the services ars not distinet, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining
contractual peried onee we have provided the eusiomer access to the software, We record amounts that have been invoiced in necounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on
whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Transaction-based fees primarily relate to digital government services and online payment services, which are sometimes offered with the assistance of third-party vendors. In general, when we are the
prineipal in a transaction, we record the revenue and related costs on o gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue associated with the service against the gross revenue (amount billed to the
customer) and record the net amount as revenue,

E-filing transaction fiees primarily pertain to documents filed with the cousts by attorneys and other third-parties via our e-filing services and retrieval of filed documents via our access services, Far
each document filed with a court, the filer generally pays a transaction fee and a court filing fee 1o us and we remit a portion of the transaction fee and the filing fee to the court. We record as revenue
the transaction foe, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted to the courts is recorded as cost of revenues as we are acting as an agent in the arrangement. Court tiling fees collected cn behalf of
the eourts and remiited to the courts are recorded on a net basis an thus do not affect our consolidated statements of income,

For e-filing trunsaction fees and transaction-based revenues from digital government services and online payments, we have the right to charge the customer anz amount that directly coriespends with
the value to the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenues for these services over time based on the amount billable to the customer, In some cases, we are paid on a fixed
fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period. Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby
variable consideration exists, we include in our estimates, additional revenues for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated reliably and its
realization is probable,

Costs of performing services under subscription-based arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for certain direct and incremental contract origination and set-up costs associated with SaaS
arrangements. Such direct and incremental costs are capitalized and amortized ratably ever the period of benefit.

Software Arrangements:

Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our soltware armangements involve “off-the-shel P’ soltware, We recognize the revenue allocable lo “off-the-shel (" soltware licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of
the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not censidered distinct, We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor
changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpese upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or
interrelated to the product's functionality,




For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over
time by measuring progress-lo-completion, We measure progress-to-completion primarily using laber hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur
cosis on our contracts, These arrangements are often imptemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates, Amounts recognized in revenue are caleulated
using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

Sofiware license fees are billed in accordance with the coniract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the customer and the remainder of
the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue of revenues, depending en whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

We recagnize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty amangements. Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis and adjusted if
needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to recelve. We typically receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and amounts are billed on a quarterly basis in the quarter
immediately following the royalty reporting period, and adjustments have not been significant.

FProfessional Services

As noted above, some of our software grrangements include services considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated or require significant customization to meet the customer's desired
functionality, For these software arrangements, both the software licenses and related professional services revenue are not distinct and are recegnized over time using the progress-to-completion
method. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depiets the transfer of contrel fo the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. Contract fees
are lypically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms, We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenuss, depending on whether
the Tevenue recognition criteria have been met. When professional services are distinet, the fee allocable to the service element is recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed ona
time and material basis.

Post-Coniract Custoner Support

Our customers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our sollware licenses. PCS includes telephone suppart, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. PCS
is considered distinct when purchased with our software licenses, Qur PCS agreements are typically renewable annually. PCS is recognized over time on a siraighteline basis over the period the PCS is
provided. All significant costs and expenses associated with PCS are expensed a5 incurred.

Computer Hardware quipiment
Revenue allocable to computer hardware equipment is recognized at a peint in time when control of the equipment is transferred to the customer.
Appraisal Services:

For our property appraisal prajects, we recognize revenue using the progress-to-completion method since many of these projects are executed over one to three-year periods and consist of various
unique activities. Appraisal services require a significant level of integration and interdependency with various indivicual service compenents; therefore, the service components are not considered
distinet, Appraisal services are recognized over time by measuring progress-te-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depiets the transfer of control to the customer which oceurs as
we inour costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often executed over an extended peried and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are caloulated
using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates, Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent. Contract fees are typically billed on & milestene basis as detined within contract
terms. We record amourits that have been inveiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenme or revenues, depeading on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.
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Significant Judgments:

Our contracls with customers often inchude multiple performance obligations to a customer. When a software arrangement (license or subscription) includes both software licenses and professional
services, judgment is required to determine whether the soltware license is considered distinet and accounted for separately, or not distinet and accounted For together with the professional services and
recognized over time.

The transaction price is allocated (o the separaie performance obligaticns on a relative SSP busis. We determine the SSP based on our overal! prieing objectives, taking into consideration market
conditians and other faclors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts. We use a range of amotinls 1o
estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether thers is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services,
In instances where S3P is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification, or customization of the software, or where professional services otherwise cannot be considered distingt, we recognize revenus as
control is transferred to the customer over time using progress-to-completion methods. Depending on the contract, we measure progress-to-completion primarily using laber hours incurved, or value
added. The pragress-to~completion methad generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit marging over the life of a contract because we can provide reasonably dependable
estimates of contract billings and centract costs, These arrangements are ofien implemented over an extended time peried and cecasionally require us tu revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized
in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the
period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contraets are recerded in the period in which we first detenmine that a loss is apparent.

Refer to Note 18 - "Disaggregation of Revenue” for further information, {ncluding the economic factors that aftect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows of our various
revenue categories.

Contract Balances:

Acconis recetvable and allowanice for losses and sailes adjustinents

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing 1o customers, We record an unbilled receivable when revenue is recagnized priet to invoicing, or deferred revenue whent
inveieing oceurs prior to revenue recognition. For multi-year agreements, we gensrally inveice customers annually at the beginning of each annual coverage period. We record an unbilled receivable
related to revenue recognized for on~premises-licenses as we have an enconditional right te invoice and receive payment in the [uture related to those licenses.

In connection with our appraisa! services contracts and certain professional services coniracts, we may perform work prior to when the software and services are billable andfor payable pursuant to the
conttract. Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the remaining life of the contract through billings made in accerdance with contractual agreements, The
termination clauses it most of our contracts provide for the payment for the value of products delivered or services performed in the event of early termination. We have historically recorded such
unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) property appraisal servicss contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion methed of revenue
recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are performed in sue accounting period but the billing normally ocours subsequently and may span
another accounting period; (2} professional services contracts accounted or using progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion
in which the services are performed in one accounting period but the billing for the software element of the arrangement may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; (3) software
revenue for which we have recognized revenue at the point in time when the software is made available to the customer but the billing has not yet been submitted 1o the customer; (4) seme of our
contracts which provide for an amount to be withheld flom  progress billing (generally between 5% and 13% retention) until final and satisfactory project completion is achieved; and (5) in a limited
number of cascs, extended payment terms, which may be granted to customers with whom we generally have a long-term relationship and favorable collection history.

As of December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, total current and long-term accounts receivable, net of allowance for losses and sales adjustments, was $583.5 million and $335.0 million,
respectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $135.4 million and $140.3 million at Deccmber 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively. Included in unbilled receivables arc retentien
receivables of $3.6 million and $7.7 million at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, which become payable upen the completion of the contract or completion of our fleldworl
and formal hearings, Unbilled receivables expected to be collected within one year have been included with accounis receivable, current portion in the accompanying consclidated balance sheets.
Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expecied to be collected past one year have been included with accounts receivable, long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, aithough terms gensrally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days. In instances where the timing of revenue recoguition ditfers from
the timing of invoicing, we have determined our coniracts generally do not include a significant financing cempenent, The primary purpose of our inveicing terms is to provide customers with
simplified and predictable ways of purchasing eur produsts and services, not {o receive financing from our customers or o provide customers with tinaneing. Examples inchude invoicing at the
beginning of a subscription term with revenue recognized ratably over the contract peried, and multi-year on-premises term licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized uptronl.

We maintain allowances Far losses and salss adjusiments, which losses are recorded against revenue at the time the loss is incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic governmental entities, we
rarely incur a credit loss resulting from the inability of a client to make required payments, Events or changes in cireumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales
adjustiments may require revision, include, but are not limited to, managing our client’s expectatiens reparding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or ervors in new versions or
cnhancements of our seftware products. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of $14.8 millien and $12.1 miilion at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively. Because we
rarely experience credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded & material reserve for credit losses,

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for losses and sales adjustiments:
Years ended December 31,

2022 2021
12,086 - &

Balauce at b::g,uuung ol year tev
mesmns for lnsses and swies 'ldj'l.lSthlllS - accounts recei

. 9.255;

2,781
i : BT DE 1 T O Sl S (0 e ,
Ealance at end of year 3 14,761 § 12,086

Deferred Revermie

The majority of deferred revenue consists of deferred subscription-based! services revenue that has been billed based en contractual terms in the underlying arrangement, with the remaining balance
consisting of payments received in advance of revenus being eamed under mainienance, software licensing, soltware and appraisal services, and hardware installation. Refer to Note 19 » "Deferred
Revenue and Performance Obligations” for further information, including deferred revenue by segment and changes in deferred revenue during the period.

Deferred Compussions

Sales commissions earned by our sales foree are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then
amertized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be thiree to seven years. We utilized the “portfolio approach” practical
expedient, which allows entities to apply the guidance to & portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics because the effects on the financial statements of this approach would not differ materially
from applying the guidance to individual contracts, Using the “portfolio approach”, we determined the period of benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life-cycle
and other factors. Sales commissions for renewal contracts are generally not paid in connection with the renewal of a contract. In the small number of instances where a commission is paid on a
renewal, it is not commensurate with the commission paid on the initial sale and is recognized over the term of renewal, which is generally one year. Amortization expense related to deferred
commissiens is included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. Refer to Note 20 - “Deferred Commissions™ for further information.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include direct and incremental costs such as commissions associated with arrangements for which revenue recognition has been deferred. Such costs are
expensed at the time the related revenue s recognized,




USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles gencrally aceepted in the United States (“GAAP™) requires us to make estimates and assumnptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revemues and expenses during the reporting
pericd. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, determining the SSP of
performance obligations, variable consideration, and other obligations such as returns and refunds; loss contingencies; the estimated useful life of deferred commissions; the fair vatue amount and
estimated useful lives of intangible assets; the carrying amount of operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lesse liabilities; determining share-based compensation expense; the allowance for
lasses and sales adjustments; and detetmining the potential outcome of fulure tax consequences of events that have been recognized on our consolidated financial statements er fax returns, Actual
results could differ from estimates.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased software are recorded at original cost and increased by the cost of any significant improvements after purchase, We expense maintenance and repairs when incurred.
Depreciation and ameortization is caleulated using the siraight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life or the term of the lease in the case of leasehold improvements. For income
lax purposes, we use accelerated depreciation methods as allowed by tux laws.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
We expensed research and developiment expense of $103.2 million in 2022, $93.5 millior in 2021, and $88.4 million in 2020,

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are aceounted for under the assct and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between financial statement accounting and tax accounting, known as
“temporary differences”, We record the tax effect of these lemperary ditferences as “deferred tax assets” (generally items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in the future periods) and
“deferred tax liabilities” (generally items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not yet been recorded in the income statement), The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured nsing
enacted tax nules and laws that are expected 1o be in effect when the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tex assets if it
is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be "realized".

W e ot recognize a tax benefit for uncertain tax positions vnless management’s assessment concludes that it is “more likely than not” that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits. If
the recognition threshold is met, we recognize a tax benefit based upon the largest amount of the tax benelit that is more likely than not probable, determined by cumulative probability, of being
realized upoen settlement with the taxing authority. We recognize interest and penaities, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefiis in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of inceme.

Internod Revenue Code (“IRC") Section 174

For the tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”) eliminates the option to currently deduct research and development expenses and requires
taxpayets to capitalize and amortize them over five years for research activities performed in the United States and 15 years for research activities performed outside the United States pursnant to [RC
Section 174, Although Congress is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortizatien requirement, it is not certain that this provision will be repealed or otherwise
modified. If the requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase our U.S. federal and state cash tax payments and reduce cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units, and performance share units to key empleyees, directors and nen-employee consultants. Stock
options generally vest afler three ta six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five
years of continuous service from the date of grant. Each performance share unit represents the right to receive ane sharc of our common steck based on eur achievement of cerinin finencial
performance targets during applicable performance periods, which generally cliff vest in one or three years. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to
ASC 718, Stack Compensetion, See Note 12, “Share-Based Compensation,” for further information.




BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The determination of fair
value requires the use of signiticant estimates and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available information.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination, management estimates the tair valug of assets acquired and iiabilities nssumed based on quoted market prices, the
carrying value of the aequired assets and widely accepted valuation technigues, ineluding discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions made in performing these valvations
include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumpticns believed to be consistent with those used by principal market
participants.

Due to the specinlized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating our asswnptions as well as appropriately measuring the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. We adjjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain new information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the closing date, If actual results are materially ditferent than the assumptions we used to determine tair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumerl threugh a
business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible agsats, it is possible that adjustments to the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact
on our financial position and results of operations. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” for further information,

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwil!

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or mere frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with the qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than not that o reporting unit's fair value is less than its canrying value before applving the quantitative assessment described below. When testing goodwill for
impairment quantitatively, we first compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its canying amount. It the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized, The fair values calenlated in cur impairment tests are determined using discounted cash flow models involving several asswnptions (Level 3 inputs). The
assumptions that ars used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be
reasanable but that are unpredictable and [nherently wncertain. We evaluate the reasenableness of the Ffait value calculatiens of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all of our
reporting units to our total market capitalization,

During the fousth quakter, as part of our annual impairment tesi as of October 1, we performed qualitative wssessments for the reporting units containing the recently acquired data and insights, digital
government and payments solutions, and development platform solutions, and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. Approximately $1.7 billion, or 70%, of total goodwill
as of December 31, 2022, relates to these reperting units, which as a resuit of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant excess fair values over carrying values. We performed qualitative
assessments for the remaining reporting units in which we determined that it not more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative
{mpairment test. Qur annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge. During 2022, we have recorded no impairment to goodwill as no triggering events or changs in
circumstances indicating a potential impairment has oceurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of eur réporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we
believe to be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. Changes in market conditions er other factors outside of our control could cause ug to change key
assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects, Similatly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative to its histerical or projected future aperating
results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reparting units, and a consequent future impairment charge.

There have been ne impairments to goodwill in any of the periods presented. See Nute 4, "Goodwill and Other Tnjangibie Assets " for additional informatian.




(ther Intangible Assets

We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangible assets other than goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. Customer base and
acquired software each comprise approximately half of our purchased intangible assets other than goodwill. We review our customer trmaver each year for indications of impairment. Our customer
turnover has historically been very low. If indications of impairment are determinedl 1o exist, we measure the recoverability of assets by a comperison of the carrying amownt of the asset to the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. There have been no impairments of intangible assets in any of the perieds presented.

TMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We periodicaily evaluate whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and squipment or other long-lived assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. If
such circumstances are determined to exist. we measure the recoverability of assets to be held and used by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or appropriate grouping of assets and the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets, If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated tuture cash flews, an impainment charge is recognize for
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the asssts. There was no impairment of leng-lived assets in any of the periods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize software development costs upen the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for general release to custotners for software sold to third parties
and for application development cosis of soltware developed for internal use. Software development vosts primarily consist of persenne costs. During the twelve months period ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively, we capitalized approximately $27.6 million and $21.7 million of software development costs. We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for
general release to customers and internal use software i3 ready for its intended use. Amortization expense {s determined on a product-by-product basis af a rate nat less than staight-line basis over the
software’s remaining estimated economic lite of, generally, three to five years.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERATION

Contingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the aceuisition date and included in the determination of the acquisition date purchase price, Subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are recognized in eamings in the period that the change oceurs. We have no contingent vonsideration outstanding as of December 31,
2022,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable from trade customers, and investments
in marketable securities. Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of operating aceount balances and money market funds, which are maintained at several major domestic financial institutions
and the balances often exceed insured amounts, As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173.9 million. We pertorm periodic evaluations of the credit standing of these financial
instituticns.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the size and geographical diversity of our customer base. As a result, we do not believe we have any significant
concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2022,

We maintain allewances for losses and sales adjusiments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss is incuired. Since most of our customers are domestic governmental entilies,
we rarely incur a loss resulting from the inability of' a customer to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales
adjustments may require revision include, but are not limited to, tailure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions
or enhancements of our software products. Flistorically, our credit losses have not been significant.

LEASES

We determine if an arrangement is & lease at inception, Operating leases are included in aperating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, and operating lease liabilities, current and long~term, on our
consolidated balance sheets. We currently do not have any finance lease arrangements.
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Operating lease ROU assets and aperating tease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lense term at commencement date. As most of our
leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date of the lease in determining the present value of future payments.
The operating 'ease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lsase incentives and initial direct costs ineurred. Cur Jease terms may include oplions 1o extend or terminate the
lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lense term. Leases with an initial term of
12 menths or Iess are not recorded on the balance sheel; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease lerm, We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease
components, which are generally accounted for as a single lease compenent, .

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agresments indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon the intellectual property rights of a third~party. These apreements typically provide
that in such event we will either madify or replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or procure for the customer the right te use the software. We have not recorded a liability associated
with these indenmifications, as we are not aware of any pending or threatened infringement actions that are possible losses. We believe the estimated fair value of these inteliectual property
indemnification ¢lavses is minimal.

We have also agreed to indemnify certain officers and our board members if they are named or threatened to be named as a party 1o any proceeding by reason of the fact that they acted in such capacity.
We maintain directors’ and officers” liability insurance coverage to protect against any such losses, We have not recorded a liability associated with these indemnifications. Because of our insurance
coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal,

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In October 202 L, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - decounting for Contract Assets and Contract Livbilities from Confracts with Customers (ASC 805) ("ASU 2021-08”). ASU 202108 requires an
acquirer in a business combination to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606.
Under this "Topic 606 approach,” the acquirer applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This {3 » deparure from the current requirement (o measure contract assets and contract
linbilities ot fair value. ASU 2021-08 is offective for all public business entities in annual and interim periods starting after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. An entity that early
adopts should apply the amendments (1} reirospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of
aarly application and (2) prospectively to all business combinations that occur on or after the date of initial application, We early adopted as of Janwary 1, 2022, The adoption of ASU 2021-08 did not
result in an adjustment to the fair value of the deferred revenue balances assumed in our 2022 acquisitions. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” for further discussion,

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONCUNCEMENTS

There were no new not yet adepted accounting pronouncements currently issued that would affect the Company or have a material impact on its consolidated ffnancial position ar results of operations
in future periods.

2y ACQUISITIONS
2022

On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC (Rapid), a provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilities.
The totel purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51,2 million paid in cash, §18.2 million of commen stock, and $500,000 related to
warking capital holdbacks, subject te certain post-closing adjustments.

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of Rapid's assets and liabilities. In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $2.9 million and
assumed linbilities of approximately $635,000. We recerded goodwill of approximately $40.0 million, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. and other identifiable intangible assets
of approxituately $27.6 million, The goodwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to gencrate inereased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable
market and client base. The $27.6 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of
approximately 10 years.

On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Quatred, LLC (Quatred), a systems integrator and bercode technoiogy solutions provider. ‘The total cash price was approximately $637,000,
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On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. {US eDirect), a feading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor recreation management. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $6 4 million, was appreximalely $116.5 million. consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million relaled to indemuity holdbacks.

We have performed a valuntion analysis of the fair market value of US eDirect's assets and liabilities. The Following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price as of the
acquisition date:

Cash : o I TR T 6361
Accounts receivabie 1,730
Ollir current assets o Ll T DR DSk
Other noncwrent assefs 698
Goodwill'and identifiable ininigibleassets = -7 a0 ST e 195,54
Accounls payable (L,881)
Acoriied expeses L 1T R T sty
Other noncurrent liabil] ) )]
Deferred reveditie, ; R T s e (688)
Deferred tax liabilities, net o o (8,326)
Toial Gonsideration” %, Lo Gt S 122930

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $9.4 miltion and assumed liabilities of approximately $3.7 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately $91.4 million, none
of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, end other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $34.1 million. The goodwwill arising [rom this acquisition is primarily attributed to our
ability to generate increased revenues, earnings, and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base, The identifiable intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships,
acquired software, and rade name and will be amartized over a weightsd average period of approximately 13 years. We recorded net deferred tax linbilities of $8.3 million related to the tax effect of
aur estimated fair value allocations. Since the acquisition date, we recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to decreases in other current assets, other noncurrent assets,

identiflable intangible assets, accrued expenses, and deferred revenue, and increases in accounts receivable, accounts payable, and deferred tax liabilities, resulting in a net increase o goodwill of
approximately $16.3 million,

As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for US eDirect and Quatred are complete, while ihe purchase price allocation for Repid is not final; therefore, certain prelimmary valuation
estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisition date for intangible assets, receivables, and related deferred taxes are subject to change as valvations are finalized. Our balance sheet as of
December 31, 2022, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on their estimated fair value at the date of the acquisition. The fair value of the assets and liabilities
acquired are based on valuations vsing Level 3 unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Rapid and US eDirect are operated as a part of the digilal government and payments solutions business unft (also known as the NIC division), therefore the following unaudited pro forma consolidated
operating results information has been prepared as if the acquisitions of Rapid and US eDirect had oceurred on January 1, 2021, and NIC had occurred on January 1, 2020, after giving effect to certain
adjustments, including ameortization of intangibles, transaction costs, and tax effects.

Years ended December 31,
2022 2021 2030
5 EBET LIS SRR 57717

Rewaiuet
et income

147028 5 994
Basic earfiings per . S : SRR e BiSd 0 8 R -3.86 R 460
Diluted eatnings per share § 347 8 373 % 443

The pro forma information above does net include acquisitions that are not considered material to our results of operations, The pro forma information does not purport to represent what our results of
operations actually would have been had such transaction occurred on the date specified or (o project our results of operations for any future period.




The actual operating resulls of Rapid, US eDirect, and NIC from their respective dates of acquisition are included with the operating results of the Platform Technologies segment. The operating results
of Quatred are included in the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since the date of acquisition. The impact of the 2022 nequisitions on our operating results, assets, and liabilities is
not material. [n the twelve menths ended December 31, 2022, we incurred fees of approximately $2.0 million for financial advisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation, aud other various
services necessary to complete acquisitions, These costs were expensed in 2022 and are inciuded in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equily interest of Ultimate Information Systems, [nc. (dba Arx). Arx is 2 cloud-based platform which creates accessible technology to enable a modern-day
police Foroe (hat s ully transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was approximalely $12.8 million.

On September 1, 2621, we acquired VendEngine, Inc., a cloud-based software provider focused on financial technciogy for the corrections market. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7
million. was approsimately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.6 million paid in cash, and approximately $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

In connection with this fransaction, we soquired total tangible assets of $5.8 million and assumed linbilities of approximately $3.0 millien. We recorded goodwill of approximately $54.3 million, none
of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately S37.9 miltion. The $37.9 million of intangible assets are attributable te customer
relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years, We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $9.6 million related to the
tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months snded December 31, we recorded adjustments to the preliminary epening balance sheet attributed to a decrease fo accounts

receivable, accounts payable, deferred income taxes, and an adjustment to the accrual for indenmity holdbacks and increases in identifiable intangible assets and accrued expenses resulting in a net
decrease to goodwill of approximately $4.4 million.

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc., a leading digital government solutions and payment company that primarily serves federal and state government agencies, The total purchase price, net of

oash acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 miflion of purchase consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock
awards.

We have performed the valuation analysis of the Fair market value of NIC's assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:

331,783
149,515

" OLLCIOTEL
Tdeniifiable ititangible dsset

il pﬁyaj)fé
Accrued axpenses
Dthér ngneurrent liabili

. B . : -2 ({ons96)
Total consideration $ 2,320,492

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of §515.3 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $228.0 millien. We recorded goodwill of approximately 31.4 billion,
none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $777.0 million. The $777.0 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer
relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 17 years. We recorded net deferred tax liabilites of $190.6 milijon related Lo
the tax effect of our estimated Fair value allocations. Tn the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we recorded adjustinents to the preliminary epening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to
accounts receivable and increases in identifiable intangible assets, deferred revenue and related deferred laxes resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately $17.2 million,

NIC delivers user=friendly digital services that make it easier and more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with government=providing valuable conveniences like applying for
unemployment insurance, submitiing business tilings, renewing licenses, uccessing information and making secure payments without visiting a government offiee. In addition, NIC has extensive
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expertise and scale in the government payments arena which will accelerate our strategic payments initiatives. Therefore, the goodwill of approximately §1.4 billion arising from this acquisition is
primarily atiributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired all the equity inlerest of Glass Are, Inc. (dba ReadySub), & cloud-based platform thai assists school districts with ahsence tracking, [illing substitule teacher
assigniments, and automating essential payrol! processes. The total cash price was approximately $6.2 million, net of cash acquired.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired substantially all assets of DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), a provider of a SaaS solution that allows For secure ¢lectronic claims submission te the federal Department of
Veterans Affairs and reperting capabilities, in addition to scheduling, calendaring, and payments. The total cash purchase price was approximately $5.8 million.

The operating results of Arx. DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since thetr date of acquisition, The impact of the Arx,
DataSpee, ReadySub, and VendEngine acquisitions, individuaily and in the aggregate, on our operating results, assets and liabilities is not material. The operating results of NIC are included in the
Platform Technologies Segment, Revenues from NIC included in Tyler's results of operations totaled approximately $368.9 million and net income was approximately $37.2 million from the date of
acquisition through December 31, 2021, In 2021, we incurred fees of approximaiely $23.5 million for financial advisory, legal, accoumting, due diligence, valuation and other various services necessary
to complate these acquisitions, The Company also incurred $1.5 million of expense related to a separation agreemont with NIC's former Chief Executive Officer. These costs were expensed in 2021
and are included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for 2021 acquisitions are
complete.

{3 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET
Property and equipment, net consists of the [ellowing at December 31:
Useful

Lives
{years)

Transportation éiiipment -

322,575
(121583

181,193

‘Accinulaied depredintion and amattization 75

Property and equipment, net 172,786

Depreciation expense was $29.5 million in 2022, $29.4 million in 2021, and 525,53 million in 2029,
We paid $4.5 million and §12.8 million for real estate and the expansion of existing facilities in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Software development costs, net consists ol the fellowing at December 31

U§t:ful
Lives
{years) 2022 2021
“Stbate develophioi egts T+ T T T L T S T TS T T L0004 g e 5T
Accumulated amortization (11,715) {3,785)
. Bware developmeént costs. 48,1897 T§ TR ARD

Amortization expense for software development costs is recorded to cost of revenues and general and administrative expense. Amortization expense for software development costs recorded to cost of
revenues was $6.5 million in 2022, $2.3 million in 2021, and no expense in 2020. Amortization expense for software development costs recorded to general and adminisiative expense was $1.4
million in 2022, no expense in 2021, and $1.2 millien in 2020,




Estimated annual amortization expense related to sofiware development costs:

2023 ' ' : s 11,033
2024 _ 12,440
2035 . IR ’ ’ N R 1236
2026 8,247
2027 T T YR ) - LT 3em
Thereafter ) 1,304
o e o 3 AR, 189

) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes {n the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2022 are as follows:

Enterprise Soflware [’l"lt‘fuun Techneloyies Total
Balant as of 12/3 {72020 : TE 62T $ e i 76300, §. - 0 - 838,428
Guudwlll acquned 1e1 led ta the plllchase of NIC e L, 446 868 1,446,868
~Goadwill scquired relaled To'thic purchaseof VendEngine. . : Gl R AR e : AT Il TR e L SA5E
Goodwill acquired related Lo the puwlnsc uf olhel acqmsumns 19,922 — 19,922
Balahée 5 of;b2/31j2023 . SR g e B TR R R UL B36S03 - o LS2EI69T T L3596
Goodwill acquired related to the pLuchase uf US errect — 81441 91,441
. Gaodwill dequiredirelatad to fhe purchase of Rapid 7 Dol : R RS S e L A0S e 0,008
Purchase price adjustments related to the purchase of’ VendEngme o (204) — {204}
‘Purchase price adjtisiments refated 1o tlie purchase of attier dequisitioiis: e e B e LL608) T T L L1 608)
Balance as of 12/31/2022 § 834 693 $ 1,654,615 § 2,439,308

Qther intangible assets and related accumalated antortization consists of the following at December 31:

2022 2021

990, 545 $ o 949,844

e 1,497,012 o J_l3f|034
Accuenulated amortization, EEEE IR e Ol PR S T N s
Total other intangibles, net & 1,002,164 § 1,052,493

Amorlizalion expense for acquited software is recorded to cost of revenues. Amortization expense for customer related intangibles, trade names and leases acquired is recorded to amortization of other
intangibles. Total amortization expense for other intangibles was $113.9 million in 2022, $90.8 million in 2021, and $33.9 million in 2020.

F-22




The amortization petiods of vther intangible assets is summarized in the following tabie:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Weiglted Weiglted
Gross Averape Gross Averape
Carrying Amortization Acenmulated Carrying Amortization Accomulated
Amount Period Amartization Amount Period Amaortization
Non-amortizable intangibles: - . L S L - : L o S e RS
Goodwill b 2,489,308 — % — 2,359,674 — % —
Amortizable intangibles: S L e o : I o PE IR ERE
Customer related intangibles % ) 990,545 2Wyears § 200,501 % 949 844 2l years § 157,077
Asqired softwaie SRR SR 436,137 CSyears o042 .0 T 433800 LT vears R 1 WL
Trade names 45,293 3 years 21,059 45,353 10 years 13,064
- Leasesacquired . 0 . DU T UMUK : 1 9 years g6 o T s 03T L byeas S04
Listimarted annual amortization sxpense related to other ntangibles:
RS Sl s
§9,192
..... 88,423
20,722
Thereaftar ) ] 539,917
. B . 53 — o
{5} ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued linbilities consist of (ic [oilowing at December 31,
2022 2021
Adoried wages, by Eamimiissions T7AIAT g o D BR696.
Other accried linbilities 58,196 65.728
: o i 310418 158424,

16) DEBT
The following table summarizes our total ewstanding borrowings related to the 2021 Credit Agresment and Converiible Senior Notes:

Rate Matarity Date December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

L+ 1.50% )

" Apuil 2026 — s -

LTI, S AP 2028 L 290,000
L+1.25% April 2024 105,000
g tible SEiit AR N Marchi 3026 - " 600,000
Total borrowings

Léssf eimmortized delit distount and debt:
Total borrewings, fet

(30,000

" (30.000)
DSTI89TS  d

1311376
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2021 Credis Agreesent

[n connection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC on April 21, 2021, we, as borrower, entered into a new $1.4 billion Credit Agreement {the “2021 Credit Agreement”) with the various
lenders party therato and Wells Farge Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and [ssuing Lender, The 2021 Credit Agreement provides for (1) a senior unsecured
revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500 million, including sub-facilities for standby letters of eredit and swingline loans {the “Revelving Credit Facility™), (2) an
amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million (the “Term Loan A-17), and (3) a non-amortizing three-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $300 million (the “Term Loan
A2 and, together (the “Term Loans™), The 2021 Credit Agreement matures on April 20, 2026, and the loans may be prepaid at any time, without premium or penalty, subject o certain minimum
amounts and payment of any LIBOR breakage costs. [n addition to the requited amortization payments on the Term Loan A-1 of 5% annually, certain mandatory quarterly prepayments of the Term
Loans and the Revolving Credit Facility will be required {i) upon the issuance or incurrence of additional debt not otherwise permitted under the 2021 Credit Agreement and (i) upon the occurrence of
certain asset sales and insurance and condemnation recoveries, subject to certain thresholds, baskets, and reinvestment provisions as provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement.

Barrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annuwim rate of either { 1) the Administrative Agent’s prime comumercial lending
rate {subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% 10 0.75% or (2 the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approvai by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus
a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, o,
subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a mesgin of 0.875% to 1.5%, The margin in each case is based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio, as determined pursuant to
the 2021 Credit Agreement. The 2021 Credit Agreement has oustomary benchmark replacement languege with respect te the replacement of LIBOR once LIBOR becomes unavailable, [n addition to
paying interest on the outstanding principal of loans under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is required to pay a commitment fee on the average tlaily unused portion of the Revolving Credit
Facility, currently 0.25% per annum, ranging from 0,15% to 0.3% based upen the Company’s total net leverage ratio,

LIBOR, the London Inter-Bank Offersd Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected 1o transition 1o a new standard rate, the Secured Cvemight Financing Rate
(“SOFR™, which will incorporate certain overnight repo market data collected from multiple data sets. In January 2023, we amenced® our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rale
with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact on sur eperations.

The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $ 1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 million and debt isswance costs of $4.9 million and 56.4 million of commitment
fees paid related fo the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan tacility. On the Closing Date, the Company paid approximately $2.3 billion in cash for the purchase of NIC. The Term Loans of
$900 million and a portion of the proceeds of the Revelving Credit Facility, in the amount of $250 million, together with cash available to the Company of $609 million and the net proceeds of its
Convertible Senior Notes of $594 million, were used to complete the acquisition and pay fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition and the 2021 Credit Agreement. The remaining portion of
the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital requirements, acquisitions, and capita! expendiiures of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The 2021 Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain finencial ratios and other financial cenditiens and prohibits us from malking certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and
limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31. 2022, we were in compliance with those covenants.

The carrying amount is the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans less the debt discount and debt issnance costs that are amortized to interest expenss using the effective interest
method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of mcome.

1 The foregoing is a summary of the amended terms and conditions of the 2021 Credit Agreement and not a complete deseription of the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated January 27,2023, Accordingly, the
foregoing is qualificd in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement attached to this Current Report on Form 8-K as Exhibit 4.2, which is incorporated by reference,
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Convertible Sentor Notes due 2026

On March 9, 2021, we issued 1.25% Convertible Scnior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0 miltion (“the Convertible Senior Notes™ or “the Notes”). The Convertible Senior
Notes were issued pursuant to, and are governed by, an indenture (the “Indenture™), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. ‘The net proceeds from the issuance of
the Comnvertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million.

The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) eque! in tight of payment with our future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of payment to cur future
indebledness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; (ifi) effectively subotdinated to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the cellateral securing thal indelstedness; and (iv)
structorally subordinated to ali fiture indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, and (to the extent we are not a holder thercof) preferred equity, if any, of our subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest ata rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annuvally in atrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2021. The
Convertible Senior Notes mature an March 13, 2026, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed, ar converted,

Before September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes have the right to convert their Convertible Senior Notes only upon the oceurrence of certain events. Under the terms of the
Indenture, the Convertible Senior Notes are convertible into common stock of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (referred to as “our common stock™ herein) at the following times or circumstances:

«  during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2021, if the last reported sale price per share of our comimon stock exceeds 130% of the conversion
price [or each of at lsast 20 trading days (whether ar not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding
calendar quarter;

« during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consscutive trading day petiod (such five consecutive trading day period, the “Measurement Period”) if the trading
price per $1,000 principal amownt of Convertible Senior Notes, as determined tollowing a request by their holder in accerdance with the procedures in the Indenture, for each trading day
of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price per share of cur commen stock on such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day;

+  upon the oceurrence of certain cotporate events or distributions ot our common stock, including but nat limited to a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in the Indenture);
«  upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or
v, on or afier September 15, 2025, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, March 15, 2026,

With certain exceptions, upon a change of control or other fundamental change (both as defined in the Indenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes), the helders of the Couvertible Senior Notes
may require us to repurchase all or part of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amzount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

As of December 31, 2022, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to convert have been met.

From and including September 15, 2023, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at any time at their election until the cloge of businass on the second
scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date. We will settle any conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes gither entirely in cash or in a combination of cash and shares of our
comumon stock, at our election. Eiowever, upon conversion of any Convertible Senfor Notes, the conversion vaiue, which will be determinest over an “Observation Period” (as defined in the Indenture)
consisting of 30 trading days, will be paid in cash up to at least the principal amount of the Notes being converted.

The initial conversion rate is 2.0266 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convettible Senior Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $493.44 per share
of cammen steck, The conversicn rate and couversion price will be subject to adjustment upon the eceurrence ef certain events. T addition, if certain corporate evenis that constitiie a “Male-Whaole
Fundamental Change™ (as defined in he Indenture) oceur, then the conversion rate wilk, in certain circumstances, be Increased for a specified period of time.

The Convertible Senior Notes ave redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option al any time, and from time to time, on or after March 15, 2024 and on or before the 30th scheduled trading day
immediately before the maturity date, at a cash redemption price
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equal to the principal ameunt of the Notes to be redecmed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, up to, but excluding, the redemption date, but only if the last reported sale price per share of our
common stock exceeds 130% of the conversicn price of the Notes on (i) each of at least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 3¢ consecutive trading days ending on, and including,
the trading day immediately before the date we send the related redemption natice; and (ii) the trading day immediately before the date we send such notice. In addition, calling any Note for
redemption constitutes a Make-Whole Fundamental Chanye with respeet to that Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Nete will be increased in certain
circumstances if it is converted after it is called for redemption.

Effective Inerest

The welghted average inferest rates for the borrowings under Lhe 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Seaior Notes due 2026 were 5.82% and 0.25%, as of December 31, 2022, respectively. During
the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the effective interest rates for our borrowings were 3.79% and 0.54% for the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes, respectively, The
following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes and is {ncluded in interest expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income:

Years Ended December 31,

Contrichual interest expensé » Revolving Credit Bacility- =+ 71 10 b T T T (26T B e T L2 F e =
al interest expense = Term: Loans {18,583) {9,341) —_
bl interést expenss - Canvertible §enior Motes” 11 .0 " TH LI I T s T L T B B0 Py T
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs ) (7,029) {3,297}
erestexpense and amortizal B ARSI ( 11 ) FENH (1,013)
(28,379 § {23,298) & {L013)

As of December 31, 2022, we had one outstanding standalone letter of credit totaling $1.5 million, The letier of credit, which guarantees our performance under a client contract, renews automatically
annually unless canceled in writing, and expires in the third quarter of 2026. For the twelve months encled December 31, 2022, we repaid $360 million of the Term Loans under the 2021 Credit
Agreement.

As of December 31, 2022, the required annual maturities related to the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes duc 2026 were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Annual Maturities
2023 B : i 5730000
135,000

Total required maturities 3 995,000

(7} FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The tollowing table presents our financial instruments:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
HLTRBST S i 360,174
— 98,653

‘Cashay v Equivalents
Held-ta-maturity invesiments

Auifablefor-sale investmants S SR i
10,000 10,000
(338,305 0§ P TR 4178




Our available-for-sale securities were historically classified as held-to-maturity. Management determined that our investment portfolio would be transferred from held-to-maturity to available-for-sale,
in order to have the flexibility to buy and sell investments and maximize cash liquidity for potential acquisitions or for debt repayments. Accordingly, our investment portfolic is now classified as
available-tor-sale as of December 31, 2032, Qur available-for-sale investments primarily consist of investment grade corporate bonds, munisipal bonds, and asset-backsd securities with maturity dates
through 2027, These investments are presented at fair vaiue and are included in short-term investments and non-current investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, Unrealized gains
or losses associated with the investments are included in accurnutated other comprehensive loss, net of tax in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and statements of comprehensive income.
For our available-Tor-sale investments, we do not have the intent to sell, nor is it more likely than not that we would be required to sell before recovery of their cest basis.

As of December 31, 2022, we have an accrued interest receivable balance of approximately $200,000 which is included in accounts receivable, net. We do not measure an allowance for credit losses
for acerued interest receivables. We record any losses within the matutity period ov at the time of sale of the investment and any write-offs o accrued interest receivables are recorded as 2 reduction to
interest income in the period of the Joss. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we have recorded no cradit losses for acerued interest receivables, Inferest insome and amortization of
discounts and premiums are included in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of income,

The following table presents the components of our available-for-sale investments:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
0 e e BEET0 T B e T
16 —
S Ay e

55538 % —

Kniorized sost 115
Unrealized gains
Unrealized losses "

Estimated fuir value

As of December 31, 2022, we have $37.0 million of available-for-sale debt securities with confractual maturities of one vear or less and $18.5 million with contractual matucities great than one vear. As
of December 31, 2022, 24 available-for-sale debt securities with a Fair value of $25.8 million have been in a loss pesition for one year or less and 28 securities with a fair valve of $23.1 million have
been in a loss position for greater than ong year

The Following table presents the activity on our available-for-sale or held-to-maturity investments:
Years Encled December 31,

2021 2020
i SRR TAR

Progeeds Troin‘sales i malurities:: . )

Realized lesses on sales, net of tax

Our equity investments consist of an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC., a whelly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partners V L.P. BFTR, LLC, a privately held Australian company specializing in
digitizing the spoken word in conrt and legal proceedings. The investment in conumen steck is accounted for under the equity method beeavse we do not have the abilify to exercise significant
influetice over the investee; and s the securities do not have readily determinable fair values, our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-downs.
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{8) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following tables present the changes in the balances of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax by component:

Unrealized Loss On Avnilable-

Accurulaied Gther

for-Sales Securities Cther Camprehcnswe Loss

Balance:as of December 31, 2020 co - .o {46y 8 5 - {46)
Other comprehensive income before reclnssmc‘umus - -
Afngunts reclassified to net income, L ey o -
Other comprehensive income (lcss) _ — —
Balance as of Decensber 31,2021 : S : R T (401§ o e R L (46)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (350) — (850)
Reclussification adjustinent of unrealized fossds on.securities transtered from heldmo~maturity << RO REE V1) B Sy T e B T
Reclnss:ﬁcalwn adjustment for uet luss of sale OE s}\{'\l!'l_b_le for sale secmlrles mclucled in net income 79 — 79
‘Oflier-comprehengive tags 10 UL T Ll . {798) ° T | s Rt i {798)
Bﬂla.ncc as of December 31, 2022 $ [Bdd) 8 — 3 {844)

(9 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that woutd be received Lo sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or
maost advantageous market for that asset or linbility. Guidance on fair value measuremtents and diselosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of inputs used in measuring fair value defined
as follows:

«  Level I-—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or Habilities.

+  Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, and
- inputs that are not directly observubie, but are corroboratad by obsarvable market data,

+  Level 3—Inputs that are uncbservable and are supporied by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management judgment.
The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the least reliable level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. In determining fair value,
we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible, We also cansider the counterparty and our own non-

performance risk in our assessment of fair value,

The Eollowing table presents fair values of our financial and debt instruments categorized by their fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2022

Level | Tevel 2 Level 3 Total
TSR LTS

Ai:a'_ﬁgbg"e_-fogsa;;fn;y:e's@éﬁts'
Eqully mvustmt,nts

10,080

Revolving Cre(ht I‘{\cdlty
i Teln ‘Loan, A-l :

'Icrm Loan A-2
Conveitihle Senior Notes-due 2025

Assets that are Measwred ar Fair Talue on a Recurring Besis

284502
104,603
360810

L 288, 502
104,603
5609107

Cash and cash equivalenls, acceunts receivables, accounts payables, short-term cbligutions and eertain other assets at cost approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.
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As of December 31, 2022, we have 3535.5 million in investment grade corporate bends, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securities with maturity dates through 2027. The [air vafues of these
securities are considered Level 2 as they are based on inputs from quoted prices in markets that are not active or other observable market data,

Aswels that ave Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

As of December 31, 2022, we have an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC, The investment in common stock is accounted under the equity method because we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over the investee and the securities do not have readily determinable fair values. Our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-dewns. Periodically, our equity methad
investiments are assessed for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value of equity methed investments if there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant
adverse efTeet on the fuir value of the investments. No events or changes in circumstunces have oceurred during the period that require reassessment. There has been no impairment of our equity
method investment for the periods presented. This investment is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

We assess goodwill for impairment annually an October L. In addition, we review goodwill, property and equipment, and other intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, During the fourth quarter of 2022, we completed our annual assessment of goodwill which did not result in an impairment charge, Further, we
identified ne indicators of impairment to leng-lived and other assets and therefore, no impairment was recorded as of and for the period ended December 31, 2022.

Financial instriments measured of fair value only for disclosure purposes
The fair value of our borrowing under our 2021 Credit Agreerhent would approximate book value as of December 31, 2022, because our interest rates reset approximately every 30 days or less.

The carrying amount of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest
method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income,

The fair value of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 is determined based on quoted market prices for a similar liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2 input. See Notz 6,
“Debt,” for further discussion,

The carrying amount of the Convertible Senior Notes is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are emortized [0 interest expense using the effective interest method aver the
term of the Convertille Senior Notes, Inferest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The follcwing table psgsents the fair value and carrving value, net, of the 2071 Credit Agresment and our Convertible Notes due 2026):

Fait Value at December 31, Carrying Value at December 31,

2022 2021 2022 2021

80,515

0,3 5803151
167,997 167,996
36,662 3 592,765
8 953,815 % 1,485,174 S 937389 § 1,341,276

Term Loan A-2
Eanyertibls Nofes, die 20
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(10) INCOME TAX

Income tax provision (benelit} on income from operations consists of the following:

Yeurs Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Cimreit: : : e - . : T -
Tedera} $ 84570 § 7591 8 (10,538}
CStare L T AR L B ase7s L3203 00 D T () 30d)
_____ L N R foss — s (e
Deferréd S TP S P S R 8T8 C3RT T T (7,936
3 23353 § 2477} § {19.778)

Reconciliation of the U.S, statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax expense rate for operations follows:

Years Ended December 31,

. o o 2022 2021 2020
Faderal incemé tax expense at statutory rate TR S T T I R T g et 0 397308 8 G 33386 58 00 36,759
Smlemcome tax, net of fedemlmcome tax heneﬁt i ) o _ . 9197 5594 6,677
el opérating loss carryback T BT LR SRR i i R 1 ) IR B |- L4345
Hxcess tax benefits of shme-hnse(l compensuuun o _ ) C (175 (L?,ETS) - {60,190)
Tk dredits LA S T T b T SR e S L COERAR T 990, L i (386
\]on-deducnhle busmess expenses L _ 5,425 e 7 542 N 4,199
UnGorfafn tax positions” , 751 11 B T S RN I I L msm I sy R Al
Other, net o o ) ) o 345 ) 709 89

B AT : : s : T ) S Us et 233583 8 COETT R U078
In 2022, we completed a multi-year research and development tax credit study, which resulted in a $31,3 million research tax credit benefit.
The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:

2022 2021

039"
19,556
i b0

[ ened revene

[ali)

al deferred income t'\‘( assets

Tmal defen ed income tax assets, net of v'l]umlon al]cwance

Defeu ed incoms I'n lmbﬂmes

Pmpurtvaucl eqm]nnent ) S ' ) o N ) ‘ g'i;,zz'u) (1“,271}
e S : L : o i e B 503) EL 8 54T
To!'ll defcu‘ed income tax lmbl.hlies . (277,540} (287,641)

;o (148,891) 87

de rred mcome tax linbil

As of December 31, 2022, the capitalization and amortization requirements of research and experimental expenditures pursuant to the TCIA changes to Internal Revenue Code Section 174 resulted in a
deferred tax asset of $76.7 million.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.9 million, after-tax stute net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1.6 million, and tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $4.1 million. The federal net operating foss carryforward will begin to expire in 2037, if not utilized, and a portion of the state net operating logs and tax credit
carryforwards begin expiring in 2033, il not utilized.

The acquired carryiorwards are subject to an annual limitation but are expected to be realized. We believe it is more likely than not that all other deferved tex assets will be realized. However, the
amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable conld be adjusted in the future if estimates of reversing taxables temporary differences are revised.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31

2022 2021
Balance at begiuning of period 2 1 - S e R R T €388 olion o 1929
Additions for tax positions of prior period 5,522 4,508
Redctions for tax positions of priof period -+ " - o LT R R R I IR ST Lenuaoy S TR T
Additions for tax posnmus of curreni pe1 iod 5,804 212
Sctleiicity - SFEL L e e T L e
Expiration of statutes of lmut:muns o ) o o {1.160) (2,004)
Balamce at end of period £+ I : e T S T it S L TAG31 R e i a 4635

As of December 31, 2022, $1.9 million of the unrecognized tax benefits are reflected as a decrease in deferred income taxes and $12.7 million are included in other long-term liabilities in our
consolidated balance sheets. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal income tax benafit of siate taxes, if recognized, that would affect the effective tax rate is $13.9 million as of
December 31, 2022, and $4.3 million and $1.9 million as of December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively. It is reasanably possible that svents will ocour during the next 12 months that would cause the
total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease. However, we do not expect such increases or decreases to be material to the financial condition or results of operations.

We are subjoot to ULS, federal income tax, as well as income tax of roultiple state, local and foreign juisdictions. We are routinely subject to income tax examinations by these taxing jurisdictions, but
we do not have a history of, ner do we expect any material adjustments as a result of these examinations. With few exceptions, major U.S. federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer
subject to examination For years before 2018, As of February 22, 2023, no significant adjustments have been proposed by any taxing jurisciction.

W recogifize interest and penaiiies reluled 1o uncertain tax positions as a componei of income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income. Accrued interest and penalty amounts weie not
significant at December 31, 2022,
(i SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
The fellowing table details activity in our common slock:
Yenrs Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Shares Armount Shares Shares Amounl
T T — T — (A

HENEE

26329
R UL B o
(27 219)

118169

As of February 22, 2023, we had autherization from our board of directors Lo repurchase up 1o 2.3 million additional shares of our common steck.
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(12} SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-Based Compensation Plan

In May 2018, stockholders approved the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan {“the 2018 Plan™) which amended and restated the existing Tyler Technologies, Inc. 201¢ Stock Option
Plan {"the 2010 Plan™}. Upon stockhelder approval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to the shares guthorized tor grant under the 2018 Plan.
Additionally, any awards previously granted under the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised ov ave forfeited are added to the shares authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan.

During fiscal year 2022, we granted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units. Stock options generally vest afier three to six
years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can purchase shares of our common stock at the market price
on the date we granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over thres to five years of continuous service from the date of grant. Each performance share unit represents the
right fo receive ane share of our commaon stoek based on our achievement of certain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods. We aceount for share-based compensation
utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation,

As of December 31, 2022, there were 1,3 million shares available for future grants under the 2018 Plan from the 22.9 million shares previously approved by the shareholders.

Determining Fair Value of Stocl Compensation

Valuation and Amertization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Seholes optien valuation model, For restricted stock unit and performance stock unit
awards, we estimate fair value as market value on the date of grant. We amortize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods, which are generally the vesting

periads.

Expected Life. The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be culstanding. The expected life represents the weighted-average period the stock options are
expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, remaining confractual life and the employees” expected exercise based on historical patterns.

Expected Volatility, Using the Black-Scholes option valuation macdel, we estimate the valatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate, We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option valuation model on the impiied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an
equivalentiemaining term equal to the expected lite of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock in more than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Expected Forfeitures. We use historicat data to estimate pre-vesting oplion forfeitures. We recerd share-based compensation only for those awards that are expected to vest.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for options grante:

Yenars Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Expectcd forfeiture rate C ' S —% —%




e

Share-Pased Award Activity,

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit and performance stock unit activity during the periods presented (shares in thousands}:

Unvcs.fad at bécémi}er 31,2021

600 % 33343
Granted 240 37416
Coirversion of Unvested Restricted Stock Awards. .~ /& ..0m ol A e b S
Vested (246) - 3ls10
Forfeired : _K @) - 139238
Unvested at December 31, 2022 368§ 376.07
Cptions granted, exercised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:
Weighted
Average
Weighied Remaining
Number of Average Exercise Cottractual Lile Apprepate
L _ Shares Price {Years) Tnirinsic Value
Outstandiy at December 31, 2024 1620 20605 : T R,
Granted 20 349.05
CEereiséd, U i TR T e e e D IBEY LT LR e
Forfeited (13) 292,50 e
Outstanding dt Dedéinbér 31,2022 TR 23R e e T g T 5 048
Exercisuble at December 31, 2022 1,249 % 195,54 3 $ 167,620

Weighted Average Grant Date

Number of Shares

Fair Value per Share

approximately 445,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $293.84 ag of December 31, 2021,

Qther information pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2022 2021 2020
VR 108.9908 R KR : 0869
43,160 % 215,062 282,354
Share~Baged Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which {5 recorded in the conselidated statements of income:
Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
‘Bubscriptions. taihlenance and professiondl sérvides 1" 1 (2T ARG LG 23705 % 18,128
Sales and marketing expense 8,800 ) 3,834 7,504

Geiidral and administative expense :

W had novestad eptions to purchase approximaiely 267,000 shareg with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $346.14 as of Derember 31, 2022, and unvested options io purchase

T AR e PR T i3

Total share-based compensation expense 102,983 104,726 67,365
‘Total tax benefit (27,599) (63,156) (66.241)
Ne#decrense i met inoome: 21 TEARG R s b A 270 B e

As of December 31, 2022, we had $175.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options and restricted stock units, net of expected forfeitures, which is expected ta be
amortized over a weighted average amortization period of 2.7 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP®) participants may contribute up to 13% of their annua! compensation to purchase common shares of Tyler. The purchase price of the shares is equal
to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the fast day of each quarterly offering period. As of December 31, 2022, there were 576,000 shares available for futire issuances under the ESPP from the
2.0 million shares previously approved by the stockholders.

)] EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table details the reconciliation of busic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Numerator for basic.and ditatéd earings pev shares -~ . i SR : T S DT e k : s
Net incomc 3 164,240 § 161458 3 194,820
Denammmur e : SIS : i RN R T T . -
Weighled-average basic ;ul_nm_m_l s!m_lcs_ oulslaudm;,
Assxmed'convelswn of ditutive secirities:-
Smck ElW'll‘dE‘-

s __40,:_543_'__ 40,035

855 ' 32 14el

Denominator for :lll\ltcd cammgs per slmre Ad]uslcd wclghtcd—avcm[.e share o 42,389 42,244 41,526

Eumn;,spercammonsheue Lk . ) :-_ T S R R el
Basic $ 395 3§ 398 8 4.87
“Diluted - - R TR T R TR TR PR Y ¥ It R S (D

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase cotmmen stock of 372,000 shares in 2022, 117,000 shares in 2021, and 132,000 shares in 2020, were not included in the computation of diluted
eagnings per share because their inclvsion would have had an antidilutive erfect.

%

We have uscd the if-converted metliod for caleulating any potential dilutive effect of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-converted method, the
Notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period and the resulting common shares are included in the denominator of the diluted earnings per share ealculation for the entire period
being presented and interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the Convertible Senior Notes is not added back to the numerator, enly in the periods in which such effect is dilutive. The
approximately 1.2 million remaining resulting commen shares related to the Notes are not included in the dilutive weighted-average common shares outstanding caleulation for the twelve months

ended December 31, 2022, as their effect would be antidilutive given none of the conversion features have been triggered. See Note 6, “Debt,” for discussicn on the conversion features related to the
Convertible Senior Notes.

(14) LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as lransportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating leass agresments with original maturities between one
to 12 years, Some of these Leases include options to extend for up to six years. We have no finance leases and no related party lease agreements as of December 31, 2022, Right-of-use lease assets and
Jease liabilities for our operating leases are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. During 2022, we incurred lease restructuring costs, resulting in an additional $1.7 million of operating lease

costs,

The components of operating lease expense were as follows

Lense Costs

Years ended December 31,
TR T 5 T RRag e
6,524

Operariug lc-\sé cost . . ) ’ . o ’ ’ S TETE

1,760
510,224
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Supplemental information related to leasss is as follows:

Other Information Years ended December 31,

2022 2021

Cash flows!
Cﬂsh paid amounts mcluded n tlle megpsurement of lease l|'1lu||t1f:5 o ) o )
Operating cash outflows from operating leases. . R ST B L 3 ... i3562 0§ . 11432

"Rjgllf-uf-usaussc'lsubtéiueéin:eﬁqha._ngéfuiléés@_oblig:}tibné(ﬁﬁn-cash):.. R LT e B I I T
B Operming_lenses ) L o L8 25.171 s 20,140

Leusa term and dlscounr rate,
Weighted uvemﬁeremammgleaselerm {eats) 7 F T LT R R R L et e
Weighted average discount rate 1.57%

1.81%

As of December 31, 2022, maturities of lease labilities were as follows:

Year eu(lm;, Decemhex 31 Amount
073 - —_— - = -
b N T e L

F llemm“ten
Total Jeite payments
- . Less. Interest

Bréssentvituie. of operating lease liabilits

Rental Income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plane, Texas; Troy, Michigan, Latham, New York; and Moraine, Ohio. We lease space in some of these buildings to
third-party tenants. The property we lease to others under operating leases consists primarily of specific fhcilities where onc tenant obtains substantially all of the economic benefit from the asset and
has the right to direct the use of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire between 2023 and 2027, and some have options to extend the lease for up to 10 years, We determine if an arrangement is a
lease at inception. None of ous leases allow the lessee to purchase the leased asset.

Rental income from third~party tenants was $1.7 million in 2022, $1.2 million in 2021, and $1.1 million in 2020, Rental income is included in hardware and other reveriue on the consolidated
statements of income. Future minimum operating rental income based on contractual agreements is as follows:

Year cndm& De;ember 31, Amount

As of December 31, 2022, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases thal had not yet commenced,
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(15) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plas For the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current compensation te the
plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 3% of an employee’s compensation to the plan. We made coniributions to the plan and charged operating results $17.5
million in 2022, $15.6 million in 2021, and $12.7 million in 2020,

(16} COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

During the first quarter 2022, the Company received a notice of termination for convenience for professional services under a contractual arrangement with a state client. Upon receipt of the
termination notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of approximately $15 million in connection with the termination
for convenience, As of December 31, the total exposure in our financial stafements included the remaining balance of net billed accounts reccivable for licenses and services rendered under the contract
of approsimately $12 million.

The client was unresponsive to company owireach for several months. On August 23, 2022, the Company filed a lawsuit to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable contractual
arrangement, The clisnt has not filed responsive pleadings and no other signiticant activity has occurred in the lawsuit. Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance
with the terms of our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenience, at this time the maiter remains unresolved. We are unable to estimate the
probability of a favorable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, if any, related to this matter. We can provide no assurances that we will not incur
additional costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contract.

Purchase Commitments

We have contractual obligations for third-party technology used in ¢ur solutions and for other services we purchase as part of our normal eperations. In certain cases, these arrangements require a
minimum anaual purchase commitment by us. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining aggregate minimun purchase commitment under these arrangements was approximately $264 million through
2028, Fuinre minimum payments related to purchase conumitments based an confractual agreements is as follows:

Amount

(17 SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information management selutions and services for the public sector,
We provide our software systems and related professional services and appraisal services through seven business units. which focus on the following products:

+  financial management, education ancl planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

+  financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

»  courts and justice and public safcty software solutions;

»  (lata and insights solutions;

+  appraisal and tax software sofutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
v development platform solutions including case management and business provess management; and

»  digital government and payments solutions.




In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segmens Reporting, we report our results in two repertable segments. The Enterprise Software ("ES") reportable segment provides public sector entities with software
systems and services to meet their information technology and avtomation needs fer mission-critical “beck-cffice” functions such as: financial management and education; planning. regulatory and
mainfenancs: courts and justics; public safety; data and insights; approisal and tex software solutions; land and vital records management sofiware selutions, and property appraisal services. The
Platform Technolopies ("PT") reportable sepment provides public sector entities with software solutions to perform transaction processing, streamline data processing, and improve operations and
worlcflows such as digital government and payments solutions and development platform solutions.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We define segment operating income for ovr business units as income
before non-cash amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Segment operating ingome includes intercompany transactions. The majority of
intercompany transactions relate to confracts involving mere than onc unit and are valued based on the contractual arrangement. Corpornte segment operating loss primarily consists of compensation
costs for the executive management team, certain shared services staff, and share-based compensation expense for the entire company, Cerporate ssgiment operating income also includes revenues and
expenses related to a company-wide user conference. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note |, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies™.

As of Tanuary 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software selutions, and property appraisal service business unit, which was previously reported in
the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved to the ES reportable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was previously reported in the NIC reportable
segment, and development platform solutions moved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way in which management mokes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the
growth and profitability of the Company. As a result of the changes in our reportable segments, the former A&T and NIC reporfable segments are no longer considered separate scgments. Prior periods
amounts for the ES and PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change.

Segment assets primarily consist of net accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assels and net property and equipment, and software devefopment costs. Corporate assets primarily
consist of cash and investments, prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, deferred income taxes and net property and equipment mainly related to imallocated information and
technology assets,

The ES segment capital expenditures included $3.6 million in 2022 and $12.8 million in 2021 for the expansion of existing buildings and purchases of buildings. The PT segment had $863.000 capital
expenditures in 2022 and had no capital expenditures in 2021 for the expansion of existing buildings.

Enterprise
Soltware Platform Technelogies Corperate Totals

For the year ended December 31, 2022
B ORARRY . I

1,012,304

.526.323 §
A LAY 468,455:

243,117
59,206
34,508

121,636)
(15,814 B
19,074

712 29
3,088430 % 4,687417

Seguient assets
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Foi the year ended Deeember 31, 2021
Revenues -
Subseriptions

Maintenance, .

Professivnal services

Software licenses and royaltiss

Appraisal services

Hacdwars apd giber: -
Intercompany L

Total reveey T
Depreciation and amortization expense
Sebmeul operating inceme - L
Software development c*{pcudmucs
Capltai expendltures e 0y
Segment assets

Far the year ended Decembet 31 2020
Revenucs Lk
Subseri lpnons
Maingendnes S
Professional services
Software hcenses and royaltleq
ApplmSﬂl services
dwane Gtk dhér’
Imcrcompsmy
Total revenues B
Depracmtlon and nmort!zatlon expense
Bgment Gperating incame
Soltwars (levclupmcni expeudllures
Capltal ‘Sxpenditute
Segment assets

Reconciliation of reportable segment operating incoms 10 the Cempany's conselidated totals:

Enterprise

561,324

14246

Vears Ended December 31,

1983,530 §

Saftware Platform Technologics Corporale Totals
$ 425,078 § 356,357 — 784,433
' 439,589 ' 34,698 — 474287
165,396 43,995 — 209,391
. 66816 . 636 — 74,452 -
AL — — 27,788
18,876 31 3,027 21,934
22,033 — (22,033) —
81065576 8 . 443,717 (19,006), 1:592,287
54,011 55,339 26,074 135,624
401,382 92,582 - (222,779). 371,185
3,504 12,332 5,837 21,603
S 19,213 - o S5 R (W) [V 33,919
$ 601,390 § 350,919 3,770,852 4,732,161
Enterprise
Sottware Platform Teclwiolagies Corporate “Totals
$ 339,842 § 10,806 — 350,648
S 427813 T Eem0g T = 467513
163023 21,387
67,579 : - ;
21127 — 21,127
717,755 1L BRVA S
19,131 19, 131)
1,058,660
52,715
355,670 0

Interes! exponse
Cifier income, net

Income before income laxes

AR

(52,192)

(31,962)
S {21665
(1,013}
A P

3 187,593

158, 981

175,042




(18) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that reflect how ecenomic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows.

Timing of Revenwe Recognition

Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows:

Producis and services Products and services
For the year ended December 31, 2022 transfesred at a point in time transferred over time Total
Revenues. .. . e . RN . Lol O . . R P e
Subscriptions 3 — 8 1,012,304 § 1,012,304
 Maitwétiaiee T ’ T e A L o : S AgRASE T R dggAss
Profesaionel services — o 243,117 243,117
Softwnte licenses and royalties 757 T DA L s L e T T T T T T 50,302 U e e 50 406
Appraisal services — 34,508 34,508
. Hardware and oHier *.- C el e Bl L i LD T g g
Total $ 82,716 § 1,767,488 § 1,850,204
Products and services Products and services
For the year ended December 3 1, 2021 transterred at 4 point in Hme transferred over fime Total
Reventies; %+ 7 e LT LU LTI e T I R ST
Subscriptions 3 — 784435 8 . T8d435
. Matmenance SR STl R I T ATRY 474287

Protessional services _ o
| - SofineiEiedand royallies - 1

F iirdwaré dud othet
Total

1,507,506 § 1,592,287
Products and services Droducts and services
For the year ended December 31, 2020 transferred at a point in time transferred over time Totaf
ey ‘ :

__ Subseriptions '
“Mainetance

Prolessional services B
Softwilte liensed and rovaltics.
Appraisal services
 Hardware and:dther .

Total $ 19831 % 1,036,832 § 1,116,663

F-39




Rectrring Revenwes

The majority of our revenus is comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider te be recurring revenues. Subscriptions revenue primarily consists of revenues derived
from aur SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees, which relate to digital government services, e-filing transactions, and payment processing. Total subscriptions revenue derived from
transaction-based fees included in total recurring revenues was $600.8 million, $454.8 million, and $91.0 miilion, respectively, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively. The contract terms for subscription arrangements range from one to 10 years but are typieally contracted for initial periods of three to five years, Virtually all of our on-premises software
clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenues. That mainienance and support is generally provided under annual, or in some
cases, multi-year contracts. We consider all other revenue categories to be nen-recurring revenues,

Recurring revenues and non-recusting revenves recognized during the period are as follews:

Enterprisg

Faor the year ended December 31, 2022 Software Platform Technolegizs Corporate Totals
Recurting tevenues T T LR e LTS T 970,466, 5 - ©.1510,293 - $ S = &L L 480759
Non-recurring revenues o ) 286,720 5,822 369,445
Tntergompany; - 5 S P SR SRR e DU 21636 S . @LGI6Y o Fil
Total revenunes ] 1,278,822 § 587,196 § (15,814} % 1,850,204

Enterprise
For the year ended December 31, 2021 o ) Software Platform Technologies Corporate Totals
Recrting revenucs, . ¢ e LR SO DRI LSS T T BGAS6T B L L BM0SS S e B 1,258,722
MNon-recluring revenues 278,876 51,662 3,027 333,565
nfgrcompany T e e SARCEE R IR . R LR - & S [22,033) 0 e i
Total reveunes 3 1,163,576 § 445,717 8 (19,006} § 11,592,287

Enterprise

Software  Playfoura Techaologies LCorporats

P S T L S

N‘:.Jr.i-rccurnf.llg Tev 271,883 . _ )
Intercompany _ : : : _ T i T 913 S
Total revenues 8 1,058,668 § 77114 $ {19,128 § 1,116,663

{19) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total deferred revenue, including long-terny, by segment is as follows:

December 31, 2022

Butetprise Soflwate © R KT 479,045
Platform Technologie 3,681 29,703
Corpotae = Y R e SRR W1 1]
Totals 570,575 % 510,567

Changes in tetal deferred revenue, including long-term, were as follows:

lanée ot beginning of vedr

T310,567
Delerral of revenue 1,267,937
Reigiion ab stesied revenig -+ 71 A0 039)
Balance at end of year 370,575




Trumsarction Price Alfocated to He Remaining Performeance Ohligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocatedl to the remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized (“backlog”), which includes deferred
revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. Backiog as of December 31, 2022 was $1.89 billion, of which we expect to recognize approximately 47% as
revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafler,

{20) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions eatned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining & coniract with a customer, Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then
amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefil that we have determined o be generally three to seven years. Deferred commissions were $43 8 million and
$38. 1 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Amortization expense was $15.4 million, $13.4 million, and $11.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and
2020, respectively. There were no indicators of impairment in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented. Deferred commissions have been included with prepaid expenses for the current
portion and non-current other assets For the long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated belance sheets. Amortization expense related {o deferred commissions is included in sales and
marleting expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

(21} SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no material events or transactions that oceurred subsequent to December 31, 2022,

F-4]



Exhibit 23

Consgent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the follewing Registration Statements:

(1} Registration Statement (Form 5-8 No. 333.225011) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Option Plan,
(2) Registration Statement {Form S-8 No. 333-182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technelogies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

of our reports dated February 22, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Tyler Technologies, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Tyler
Technologies, Ine., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Tyler Technologies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

[, H. Lynn Moore, Jr., certify that:

L

[ have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;

Based on 1y knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue siatement of o material fact or omit to state 2 material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, net misleading with respect to the period covered by this repost;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial intormation included in this report, fairly present in all material respacts the [inancial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report,

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are respensible for establishing and maintaining disclosure cantrols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢-15(¢)) and
Internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(0) and 15¢-15(8)} for Tyler and have:

a. Designed such disclesure contrals and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure thal maierial information relating
to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within these entities, particularly during the perfod in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over fipancial reporting to be designed under our supervision, fo provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exteral purpeses in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

[ Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation: and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal contrel over [inancial reporting that sccurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (The registrant’s fourth
sy @ mquaster in tha case of an anpunl repori that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materielly alfect, the registrant’s internal ¢ontiol over financial repailng, and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial veporting which are reasonably likely to advarsely atfect the
registrant's ability to record, process, suminarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting,
Date: February 22, 2023 By: s/ 1, Lynn Moore, Jt.
H. Lynn Moore, I,
President and Chiel Exceutive Oilicer




Exhibit31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

[, Brian K. Miller, certify thai:

1. I have reviewed lhis annual repoit on Form 10-K of Tyler Technelogies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of & matsrial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the stajements made, in light of the circumstances
undler which such statements were macle, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
1. Based on my knowicdge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repert, fuirly present in all matetial respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and T are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(£)) for Tyler and have:
4. Designed such disclosure contrals and procedures or caused such disolosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within these entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such intemal control over financial reperting, or caused such [nternal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonabls assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls end
procedures, as of the end of the peried covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this repott any change in the registrant’s internal contral over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s mest recent fiscal quarter (The registrant’s fourth
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially nffected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The regigtfant'sother certilymg officer and [ have disclosed, hased on our most reoca: ~valpatiue of internal comrol over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and th2 wudit committee of
the'registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over finaneial reperting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and repert financial infocmation; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.
Date: February 22, 2023 By, fsf Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President und Chief Financial Cfficer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

H. Lynn Moore, Jr., President and Chief Executive Officer of Tyler Technologies, Inc., {the “Company™) and Brian K. Miller, Executive Vice Presiclent and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
each certify pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtley Act of 2002, 18 U5 € Section 1350, that

L. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
2, The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.
Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
By: {s/ Brian K. Miller
Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chisf Financial Otficer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Inc. and will be retained by Tyler Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.



REQUISITION

RQIT23000024 24/JAN/2023

VENDOR § REQUISITIONER:
TYLER TECHNCLOGIES, INC T DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECH
12 GOOSE IN 240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD
6TH FLOOR
TOLLAND CT 06084-0000 MINEQLA NY 11501
& . BARNETT /MARY MAHONEY
TEL: (800)273-8605 TEL: {516)571-3159
FAX: (860)872-952¢6 FAX: {516)571-3918
ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY uU/M UNIT COST TOTAL
0ol 520-45 1.00 LOT 875,450.0000 875,450,00
COMPUTER SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE/SUPPORT
2023 IAS MATNTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2023-3/31/2024 %471,637.50
2023 ADAPT MATNTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2023-3/31/2024 $5403,812.50
cozoossos=ss=
ADAPT MATNTENANCE: £$875,450.00

TAX BILLING & COLLECTION

DELINQUENT TAX

APPEALS MANAGEMENT

EDMS INTERFACE (IDOC)

INCLUDES: UPGRADES, NEW ENHANCEMENT RELEASES, HOT BUG FIXES/PATCHES
MON-FRI 8:00 AM - 5:00 PM TOLL FREE TELEPHONE SUPPORT,
USER GROUP

BILL TO: I.T. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD 6TH FL
MINEOLA, NY, 11501
EMAIL: ITACCOUNTINGENASSAUCOUNTYNY.GOV

T T T T N T T T T I T A S R A N AP IR AR

ESTINATED TOTAL: 875,450,00



PCHL9100 ADVANCED PURCHASING/INVENTORY 01/23/2023 3:40 PM
LINK TO: ELECTRONIC NOTE PAD PAGE 91 OF 01

REQ DOC INQUIRY 2149

SOLE SOURCE VENDOR;SOLE SOURCE LETTER SUPPLIED; QUOTE: 070-108096

VENDOR EMALL: PO@TYLERTECH.COM ___ __ . ' . .0 . .. ... ... ..

A) IAS/ADAPT (ASSESSMENT SYSTEM) SOFTWARE LICENSES & SUPPORT éMAINTENANCE)
USED BY 4 COUNTY AGENCIES. TERM: 1/1/2023 - 3/31/2024., THIS IS A ONE-
TIME 15-MONTH RENEWAL TO MOVE THE TERM DATE.

E $g75,450.00
N
D} NO. VENDOR IS THE SOLE-SOURCE PROPRIETARY OWNER/SUPPLIER OF THIS SOFTWARE.
E) THIS IS A NECESSARY ITEM TO MAINTAIN CURRENT TECHNOLOGY. THIS IS A
MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT FOR MODULES RELATED TO TAX BILLING & COLLECTIONS,
. RELINQUENT TAX, APPEALS MANAGEMENT AND EDMS INTERFACE.
A
Gi N/A
REFER TO POIT22000279/RQ1T22000001
F1-HELP  F4-AUDIT  F5-TOP F6 COPY F7-PR PAGE F8-NX PAGE

FO-LINK F10-SAVE F11-INS PAGE F12-DEL PAGE  ENTER-INQUIRE  CL-EXIT
INQUIRY COMPLETE



Remittance:

{'-" . T EFa Tylar Technologles, Inc.
x S THR | {FEIN 75-2303920)

s g it P00, BOX 203556
technologles po.¢ 7x 7320.3556

Questions:

Invoice

Tyler Technologles - Appraisal & Tax
Phone:  1-800-772-2280 Press 2, then 4

Email:  ar@tylertech.com

Bill To:  NASSAU COUNTY IT DEPT.
MS. MARY MAHONEY
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD
MINEQLA, NY 11501

Invoice No Date Page
070-108098 01/10/2023 10f1
WD

Ship Ta:  NASSAU COUNTY IT DEPT.
MS. MARY MAHONEY
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD
MINECLA, NY 11501

Cust Na.-BillTo-ShipTo Ord No 0 Number Currency Terms Due Date
48769 - 12181 - 12181 5562 uso NET30 02/09/2023
Date Description Units Rate Extended Price
Contract No.: Nassau County IT Dept,
laaWorld Maintenance & Support 9 471,837.50 471,837 .50
Maintanance; Sart: 01/Jan/2023, End: 31/Mar/2024
ADAPT Malntenance & Support 1 403,812.50 403,812.50
Maintenance: Start; 014)an/2023, End: 31/Mar2024
Wk bt
ATTENTION Subtotal | 875,450.00 |
Order your chgcks and forms from
Tyler Business Forms at 877-743-2090 or Sales Tax | 0.00 |
tylerhuginessforms.com {o guarantes ;
100% compliance with your software. l Invoice Total | 875,450.00 |




o tyler

technologies

{One Tyler Way
faraing, Ohio 45438

P: 800.800.2581
Fi937.278.3711

wwvwe v ierivohu onm

September 1, 2021

Ms, Nancy Stanton

Nassau County Commissioner

Information Technology Department

240 Old Country Road, 6™ Floor
-Minecola, NY 11501

Dear Ms. Stanton:

Please accept this letter as confirmation that Tyler Technologies, Inc. is the sole provider of the
iasWorld® software (“iasWorld software™). Additionally, Tyler is the only party authorized to
host, support, update or modify iasWorld software.

The iasWorld software products currently in use by Nassau County, NY provides for a single
source of data to perform its business functions. The ability to use a single source of data (i) reduces
the possible need for duplicate data entry, (ii) provides a seamless transition of data from the
valuation office function to the billing and collection office function, and (iii) gives the tax office
function immediate access to changes in valuations. In addition, Tyler Technologies staff are the
foremost users of the Tyler software and have the abilities and access to access the solution in
advanced ways that no other software service provider can.

Tyler is the sole developer and implementer of its proprietary iasWorld® software.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call (800-800-2581), or email me at
kim.frisbv(@tylertech.com

Sincerely,

\WW% J %ﬂﬂ@

Vice President Support Services

KLF:smm:krs



BRUCE BLAKEMAN
COUNTY EXECUTIVE

Nancy Stanton
COMMISSIONER

DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

TO: Robert Cleary, Chief Compliance Officer
Nassau County Dept. of Shared Services

Subject: Confirming REQ RQIT23000024 Justification
Robert,

RQIT23000024 is for the annual TAS/ADAPT maintenance renewal that began on January 1,
2023. This maintenance covers the IAS/ADAPT software currently being used by Nassau
County provides for a single source of data to perform its business functions. The ability to use a
single source of data reduces the possible need for duplicate data entry, provides a seamless
{ransition of data from the valuation office function to the billing and collection office function,
and gives the tax office function immediate access to changes in valuations. We are doing a one-
time 15-month renewal to move the term dates to 4/1/20xx — 3/31/20xx. This year’s costs are
$471,637.50 for TAS and $403,812.50 for ADAPT for a total cost of §875,450.00.

We are aware that this must go to the Legislature as it is over $100k and is not on the NYS OGS
or Federal GSA Contracts. The vendor is the sole source owner/supplier of the software and its
maintenance. Tyler Technologies staff are the foremost users of the Tyler software and have the
abilities and access to access the solution in advanced ways that no other software service
provider can. | have attached the sole source letter.

This requisition is a confirming requisition due to the original term start date beginning on
January 1, 2023, before 2023 requisitions could even be entered into ADPICS. We are initiating
this one-time 15-month renewal to get the term dates changed to avoid this being late going
forward.

Please advise if you need any further information from I.T. to receive Legislative approval so
that the P.QO. can be created.

Thank vou,
Susan

Susan Barnett, Clerk I(P-T)

N.C. Dept of I.T.
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD - MINEOLA, NEW YORK 11501 (516) 571-4311 Fax: (516) 571-3918
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE {MM/DDIYYYY}
121212022

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW, THIS CERTIFICATE GF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does nof confer rights to the certificate holder in leu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER
MARSH USA, INC.

96 HIGH STREET

GORTACT Finn Davis

(MG, No, exy; (617) 909-7803 {AiS, Nol;

BOSTON, WA 02110 EMALL " Finn.Davis@marsh.com
INSURER($) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
CN102881976-TTI-GAWX-+22-23 INSURER A : Hartford Fire Insurancs Co 19582
INSUREDTerr Techrologies, Inc. INSURER B : Trumbull Insurance Company 27120
5101 Tennyscn Parkway INSURER G : QBE Spacialty Insurance Company 11615
Plano, TX 75024 INSURER D : Sentinel Insurarice Company 11060
INSURER E : Hartford Casually Insurance Company 29424
INSURER F :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMRER: NYC-011256015-05 REVISION NUMBER: 0

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE FOLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TC THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERICD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DCCUMENT WITH RESFECT TQ WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN 1S SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSICNS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH FOLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

ADDLISUBR
|ETSRR TYPE OF iNSURANCE INSD | wvD POLICY NUMBER (nﬁnonfégfvgrﬁ'ﬁf) ﬁﬂ%&%}'ﬁ’% LIMITS
A | X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 10 UEN DLO437 040172022 | 04/01/2023 EACH OCCURRENCE 5 1,000,000
; DAMAGE TO RENTED
SLAIMS-MADE | X | 0CCUR PREMISES (£a occurrence) | § 300,000
MED EXP {Any one person) ) 10,000
PERSCNAL & ADV INJURY | § 1,000,600
GEM'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $ 2,000,600
X | poLicy I:l e l:l Loc PRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGG | $ 2,000,000
|
| OTHER: $
O 3
B AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY T0UEN DI98g7 0410172022 [ 04/07/2023 Eahggi;riqd%ﬁt) INGLE LIMIT 5 1,000,000
X ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) | $
D oy SoRERULED BODILY INJURY {Fer accident)| $
" HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAVAGE 5
. AUTCS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per aacident)
! 3
i ;
E | X | UMBRELLALIAB X | occur 10 XHU DLOA02 04101/2022 04/01/2023 EACH OCCURRENCE 3 25,000,000
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $ 25,000,000
pep | % | revENTION 510,000 3
[ |WORKERS COMPENSATION TOWBAKSAGK UaOT2022 0417023 ¥ | PER | OTFF
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY vIN STATUTE ER
ANYPROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE E.L. EACH AGGIDENT % 1,000,000
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? NIA
(Mandatory in NH) E.L. DISEASE -EA EMPLOYEE| $ 1,000,000
if yas, describe under 1,000,000
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATICNS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | § MUY,
C | Profassional Liability 130001996 124772021 |0BHT/2023 Limit 5,000,000
Cybar Protection

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS f VEHICLES {ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

County of Nassau Is Additional Insured as respects general liability where requlred by writlen contract.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

County of Nagsau
240 Old Counly Rd
Mingola, NY 11501

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREQF, NOTICE WiLlL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS,

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Pllarnets TUSAF Vere,

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

©1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. Alfl rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are reglstered marks of ACORD




